
 

Document Number: 2170482 V1 

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN 
THE COUNCIL CHAMBER AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM 
CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, 
ON MONDAY, MAY 2, 2022 AT 6:00 PM 

 
 

“Live” Broadcast via City Website www.cnv.org/LiveStreaming 
Complete Agenda Package available at www.cnv.org/CouncilMeetings 

 
The City of North Vancouver acknowledges that this Council meeting is held on the 

traditional territories of the Squamish and Tsleil‐Waututh Nations. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, May 2, 2022 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, April 25, 2022 
 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 

Neighbourhood House Week – May 1 to 7, 2022 

Mental Health Week – May 2 to 8, 2022 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *3, *4 and *5 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered separately 
or in one motion. 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2020, No. 8748” (Satendra 

Mann / M1F1 Modern Home Developments Ltd., 905 Ridgeway Avenue, CD-723) 
 
*4. “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919” 
 
REPORTS 
 
*5. Appointment of North Shore Designate to E-Comm Board – 2022-2023 Term and 

Proxyholder for E-Comm Board Annual General Meeting 
 
6. 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
7. 2021 Bylaw Services Overview 
 
8. CleanBC Better Homes Municipal Rebate Contribution 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – May 2, 2022 Page 2 
 

 

REPORTS – Continued 
 
9. Termination of Land Use Contract and Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th 

Street (Polygon Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745) 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
10. “Land Use Contract Termination Bylaw, 2022, No. 8925” (Polygon Development 

237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, 818-858 West 15th Street) 
 
REPORT 
 
11. Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project 

Ltd. / RH Architects, CD-753) 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD  
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – May 2, 2022 Page 3 
 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, May 2, 2022 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, April 25, 2022 
 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 

Neighbourhood House Week – May 1 to 7, 2022 

Mental Health Week – May 2 to 8, 2022 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
The Public Input Period is addressed in sections 12.20 to 12.28 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, 
No. 8500.”  The time allotted for each speaker addressing Council during the Public Input Period is 
2 minutes, with the number of speakers set at 5 persons.  Speakers’ comments will be audio 
recorded, as well as live-streamed on the City’s website, and will form part of the public record. 
 
Speakers during the Public Input Period are permitted to join the meeting electronically via Webex 
or in person in the Council Chamber.  
 
There are 2 ways to sign up to speak during the Public Input Period. 

1) Speakers who choose to participate electronically must pre-register by 12:00 noon on the day 
of the Council meeting by completing the online form at cnv.org/PublicInputPeriod, or by 
phoning 604-990-4230 to provide contact information.  Pre-registrants will receive instructions 
via email or phone on the afternoon of the Council meeting, including a request to connect to 
the meeting 15-30 minutes before the meeting start time. 

2) Speakers who choose to participate in person must sign the speaker list located outside the 
Council Chamber between 5:30 and 5:55 pm on the day of the Council meeting. 

 
If a speaker has written material to accompany their comments, the material must be sent to the 
Corporate Officer at clerks@cnv.org no later than 12:00 noon on the day of the Council Meeting. 
 
The Public Input Period offers an opportunity to express comments only; Council is there to listen 
only and questions will not be responded to.  Speakers must comply with the General Rules of 
Conduct set out in section 5.1 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” and may not speak 
with respect to items listed in section 12.25(2). 
 
Speakers are not to address matters that refer to items from a concluded Public Hearing or Public 
Meeting.  When a Public Hearing or Public Meeting is scheduled on the same evening’s agenda, 
speakers are asked to only provide input when that matter comes forward for discussion on the 
agenda in order for the comments to be considered as part of the particular Public Hearing or Public 
Meeting.  Otherwise the input cannot be considered or form part of the official record. 
 
Please address the Mayor as “Your Worship” or “Mayor, followed by his/her surname”.   
Councillors should be addressed as “Councillor, followed by their surname”.  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – May 2, 2022 Page 4 
 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *3, *4 and *5 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered separately 
or in one motion. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2020, No. 8748” (Satendra 

Mann / M1F1 Modern Home Developments Ltd., 905 Ridgeway Avenue, CD-723) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2020, No. 8748” 
(Satendra Mann / M1F1 Modern Home Developments Ltd., 905 Ridgeway 
Avenue, CD-723) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and 
affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
*4. “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919” be adopted, signed by the Mayor and 
Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
REPORT 
 
*5. Appointment of North Shore Designate to E-Comm Board – 2022-2023 Term and 

Proxyholder for E-Comm Board Annual General Meeting  
 – File: 01-0230-20-0016/2022 
 

Report: Corporate Officer, April 20, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Corporate Officer, dated April 20, 2022, entitled 
“Appointment of North Shore Designate to E-Comm Board – 2022-2023 Term 
and Proxyholder for E-Comm Board Annual General Meeting”: 

 
THAT Richard Walton be nominated to serve as the North Shore designate to the 
E-Comm Board of Directors for the 2022-2023 term, such Board to be elected by 
the E-Comm Board of Directors; 

 
AND THAT Richard Walton be designated as proxyholder for the purpose of 
voting on behalf of City of North Vancouver Council at the E-Comm Annual 
General Meeting. 

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – May 2, 2022 Page 5 
 

 

REPORTS 
 
6. 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements – File: 05-1680-04-0001/2021 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, April 20, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated April 20, 2022, 
entitled “2021 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements”: 
 
THAT, in accordance with Section 167 of the Community Charter, Council accept 
the City of North Vancouver Consolidated Financial Statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2021. 

 
7. 2021 Bylaw Services Overview – File: 01-0550-30-0001/2022 
 

Report: Manager, Bylaw Services, April 27, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Bylaw Services, dated April 27, 2022, 
entitled “2021 Bylaw Services Overview”: 
 
THAT the report of the Manager, Bylaw Services, dated April 27, 2022, entitled 
“2021 Bylaw Services Overview”, be received for information. 

 
8. CleanBC Better Homes Municipal Rebate Contribution  
 – File: 11-5280-14-0001/2022 
 

Report: Planner 2, Environmental Sustainability, April 27, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, Environmental Sustainability, dated 
April 27, 2022, entitled “CleanBC Better Homes Municipal Rebate Contribution”: 
 
THAT the City renew its commitment for another term to continue providing 
municipal top-up rebates through the CleanBC Better Homes Rebate program; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the Municipal 
Contribution Agreement with the Province of BC and BC Hydro. 

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – May 2, 2022 Page 6 
 

 

REPORTS – Continued 
 
9. Termination of Land Use Contract and Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th 

Street (Polygon Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745) 
 – File: 08-3400-20-0046/1 
 

Report: Planner 2, April 20, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated April 20, 2022, entitled 
“Termination of Land Use Contract and Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th 
Street (Polygon Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)”: 
 
THAT “Land Use Contract Termination Bylaw, 2022, No. 8925” (Polygon 
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, 818-858 West 15th Street) be 
considered;  
 
THAT the application submitted by Polygon Development 237 Ltd. / Shift 
Architecture, to rezone the property at 818-858 West 15th Street from Service 
Commercial (CS-1) Zone to Comprehensive Development (CD-745) Zone, be 
considered and no Public Hearing be held, in accordance with the Local 
Government Act; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” be secured through agreements at the applicant’s expense 
and to the satisfaction of staff; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to this motion. 
 
Item 10 refers. 

 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
10. “Land Use Contract Termination Bylaw, 2022, No. 8925” (Polygon Development 

237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, 818-858 West 15th Street) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Land Use Contract Termination Bylaw, 2022, No. 8925” (Polygon 
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, 818-858 West 15th Street) be given 
first, second and third readings. 

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – May 2, 2022 Page 7 
 

 

REPORT 
 
11. Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project 

Ltd. / RH Architects, CD-753) – File: 08-3400-20-0052/1 
 

Report: Planner 2, April 27, 2022  
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated April 27, 2022, entitled 
“Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project 
Ltd. / RH Architects, CD-753)”: 
 
THAT the application submitted by East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. / RH 
Architects, to rezone the property at 119-125 East 2nd Street from Lower 
Lonsdale Mixed Use 4 (LL-4) Zone to Comprehensive Development (CD-753) 
Zone, be considered and no Public Hearing be held, in accordance with the 
Local Government Act; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” be secured through agreements at the applicant’s expense 
and to the satisfaction of staff; 

 
THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to permit solar shades, which are permanently affixed to the 
proposed building as an encroachment over City property; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign any other 
necessary documentation to give effect to this motion. 

 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
The Public Clarification Period is limited to 10 minutes in total and is an opportunity for 
the public to ask a question regarding process or clarification on an item on the Regular 
Council Agenda. The Public Clarification Period concludes after 10 minutes and the 
Regular Council Meeting reconvenes. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
ADJOURN 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 

Document Number: 2170910 

 MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE 
COUNCIL CHAMBER AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM CITY HALL, 
141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, ON MONDAY, APRIL 
25, 2022 

 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

 
 
STAFF MEMBERS 
 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor T. Hu* 
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor T. Valente 
 
*participated electronically 
 
 
ABSENT 
 
Councillor A. Girard 
 

L. McCarthy, CAO 
K. Graham, Corporate Officer 
C. Baird, Deputy Corporate Officer 
J. Peters, Assistant City Clerk 
B. Pearce, Deputy CAO / Director, Strategic and 

Corporate Services 
H. Granger, City Solicitor 
L. Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 
L. Garber, Deputy Director, Finance 
M. Epp, Director, Planning and Development 
A. Devlin, Manager, Transportation Planning 
M. Menzel, Planner 
E. Chow, Planner 
K. Magnusson, Acting Director, Engineering, Parks and 

Environment 
J. Hall, Manager, Public Realm Infrastructure 
M. Bot, Project Manager, Public Realm Infrastructure 
G. Schalk, Public Safety Director and Fire Chief 
D. Owens, Deputy Fire Chief, Prevention & Public Safety 
P. Duffy, Manager, Bylaw Services 

 
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm. 
 
Mayor Buchanan presented accolades and thanks to organizers and staff regarding the 
success of the Rogers Hometown Hockey event in the City of North Vancouver over the 
weekend. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, April 25, 2022 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Back 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, April 11, 2022 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 2 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 25, 2022 

PROCLAMATIONS 
 
Mayor Buchanan declared the following proclamations: 
 

Day of Mourning – April 28, 2022 

Youth Week – May 1 to 7, 2022 – read by Councillor McIlroy 

Child Care Month – May 2022 – read by Councillor Hu 

MS Awareness Month – May 2022 – read by Councillor Valente 

 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
Nil. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT the recommendation listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8924” 

(2022 Capital Plan Funding) 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8924” (2022 Capital Plan Funding) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate 
Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 
 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – 364 East 14th Street 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT the meeting recess to the Public Hearing regarding “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 
6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8904” (Karl Wein / Bradbury Architecture, 364 
East 14th Street, CD-750) and “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905” (Karl 
Wein / Bradbury Architecture, 364 East 14th Street). 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed to the Public Hearing at 6:07 pm and reconvened at 7:37 pm. 
 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 3 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 25, 2022 

BYLAWS – THIRD READING 
 
4. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8904” (Karl Wein / 

Bradbury Architecture, 364 East 14th Street, CD-750) 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8904” (Karl Wein 
/ Bradbury Architecture, 364 East 14th Street, CD-750) be considered for discussion. 
 

Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8904” (Karl Wein 
/ Bradbury Architecture, 364 East 14th Street, CD-750) be given third reading. 
 

DEFEATED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8904” (Karl Wein 
/ Bradbury Architecture, 364 East 14th Street, CD-750) be abandoned. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
5. “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905” (Karl Wein / Bradbury Architecture, 364 

East 14th Street) 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905” (Karl Wein / Bradbury 
Architecture, 364 East 14th Street) be considered for discussion. 
 

Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 
THAT “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905” (Karl Wein / Bradbury 
Architecture, 364 East 14th Street) be given third reading. 

 
DEFEATED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Back 

 
THAT “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8905” (Karl Wein / Bradbury 
Architecture, 364 East 14th Street) be abandoned. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
PRESENTATION 
 

Fire Department 2021 Annual Report – Public Safety Director and Fire Chief 
 

The Public Safety Director and Fire Chief provided a PowerPoint presentation regarding the 
“Fire Department 2021 Annual Report” and he and the Deputy Fire Chief, Prevention & Public 
Safety, responded to questions of Council. 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 4 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 25, 2022 

PRESENTATION 
 

Upper Levels Greenway – Corridor Options and Public Engagement Launch 
– Project Manager, Public Realm Infrastructure 

 
The Project Manager, Public Realm Infrastructure provided a PowerPoint presentation 
regarding the “Upper Levels Greenway – Corridor Options and Public Engagement Launch” 
and responded to questions of Council. 
 
REPORTS 
 
6. Upper Levels Greenway – Public Engagement Launch for Corridor Options 

– File: 16-8350-20-0039/1 
 

Report: Project Manager, Public Realm Infrastructure, April 13, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Project Manager, Public Realm Infrastructure, dated 
April 13, 2022, entitled “Upper Levels Greenway – Public Engagement Launch for 
Corridor Options”:  
 
THAT the draft project vision for the Upper Levels Greenway, reflecting the key 
priorities of the community, be endorsed; 
 
AND THAT staff be directed to initiate the next public engagement phase. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
7. 2022 Tax Rates Bylaw – File: 05-1970-05-0005/2022 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, April 13, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated April 13, 2022, entitled 
“2022 Tax Rates Bylaw”: 
 
THAT “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919” be considered. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
8. “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919” 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 

THAT “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919” be given first and second reading. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 5 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 25, 2022 

BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS – Continued  
 
8. “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919” – Continued 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Hu 
 

THAT “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919” be given third reading. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
REPORT 
 
9. Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 115 East Keith Road (Victoria Park (Denna Homes) Gp 

Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc.) – File: 08-3400-20-0058/1 
 

Report: Planner 2, April 13, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated April 13, 2022, entitled “Zoning 
Bylaw Amendment for 115 East Keith Road (Victoria Park (Denna Homes) Gp Ltd. / 
Integra Architecture Inc.)”: 
 
THAT second reading of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, 
No. 8877” (Victoria Park (Denna Homes) Gp Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc., 115 East 
Keith Road, CD-741) be rescinded; 
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8877” Victoria 
Park (Denna Homes) Gp Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc., 115 East Keith Road, CD-
741) be amended in Part B(6)(a), as follows: 
 

• (6) Off-Street Parking and Short-Term and Secure Bicycle Parking  
shall be provided in conformity with the requirements of Division IV, 
Parts 9, and 10A, except that: 

 
(a) A maximum of 39% small car parking spaces may be provided; 

 
THAT Part B(6)(b) be deleted; 
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8877” (Victoria 
Park (Denna Homes) Gp Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc., 115 East Keith Road, CD-
741), be given second reading, as amended, and referred to a Public Hearing; 

 
THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8923” (Victoria Park (Denna Homes) Gp 
Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc., 115 East Keith Road, CD-741, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be considered and referred to the same Public Hearing; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 

Continued… 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 6 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 25, 2022 

REPORT – Continued  
 
9. Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 115 East Keith Road (Victoria Park (Denna Homes) Gp 

Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc.) – File: 08-3400-20-0058/1 – Continued  
 
THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” be secured through agreements at the applicant’s expense and 
to the satisfaction of staff; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to this motion. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
BYLAW – RESCIND SECOND READING 
 
10. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8877” (Victoria Park 

(Denna Homes) Gp Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc., 115 East Keith Road, CD-741) 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT second reading of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, 
No. 8877” (Victoria Park (Denna Homes) Gp Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc., 115 East 
Keith Road, CD-741) be rescinded. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
BYLAW – AMEND SECOND READING AND SECOND READING, AS AMENDED 
 
11. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8877” (Victoria Park 

(Denna Homes) Gp Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc., 115 East Keith Road, CD-741) 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8877” (Victoria 
Park (Denna Homes) Gp Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc., 115 East Keith Road, CD-
741) be amended and given second reading, as amended. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
BYLAW – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
12. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8923” (Victoria Park (Denna Homes) Gp Ltd. / 

Integra Architecture Inc., 115 East Keith Road, CD-741, Rental Housing 
Commitments) 

 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8923” (Victoria Park (Denna Homes) GP 
Ltd. / Integra Architecture Inc., 115 East Keith Road, CD-741, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be given first and second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 7 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 25, 2022 

REPORT 
 
13. Rezoning Application: 114-132 West 15th Street (Polygon Development 338 Ltd. / IBI 

Group Architects, CD-752) and Text Amendment: Centennial Theatre, 2300 Lonsdale 
Avenue, 116 East 23rd Street and Norseman Park (Harry Jerome Neighbourhood 
Lands, CD-165) – File: 08-3400-20-0060/1 

 
Report: Planner 2, April 13, 2022 

 
Moved by Councillor Hu, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated April 13, 2022, entitled “Rezoning 
Application: 114-132 West 15th Street (Polygon Development 338 Ltd. / IBI Group 
Architects, CD-752) and Text Amendment: Centennial Theatre, 2300 Lonsdale Avenue, 
116 East 23rd Street and Norseman Park (Harry Jerome Neighbourhood Lands, CD-
165)”: 
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8921” (Polygon 
Development 338 Ltd. / IBI Group Architects, 114-132 West 15th Street, CD-752), and 
Text Amendment to Centennial Theatre, 2300 Lonsdale Avenue, 116 East 23rd Street, 
and Norseman Park (Harry Jerome Neighbourhood Lands, CD-165) be considered and 
referred to a Public Hearing;  
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” be secured through agreements at the applicant’s expense and 
to the satisfaction of staff; 

 
THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to permit solar shades, which are permanently affixed to the proposed 
building as an encroachment over City property; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign any other 
necessary documentation to give effect to this motion. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
BYLAW – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
14. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8921” (Polygon 

Development 338 Ltd. / IBI Group Architects, 114-132 West 15th Street, CD-752), and 
Text Amendment to Centennial Theatre, 2300 Lonsdale Avenue, 116 East 23rd Street, 
and Norseman Park (Harry Jerome Neighbourhood Lands, CD-165) 

 
Moved by Councillor Hu, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8921” (Polygon 
Development 338 Ltd. / IBI Group Architects, 114-132 West 15th Street, CD-752), and 
Text Amendment to Centennial Theatre, 2300 Lonsdale Avenue, 116 East 23rd Street, 
and Norseman Park (Harry Jerome Neighbourhood Lands, CD-165) be given first and 
second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 8 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 25, 2022 

REPORT 
 
15. Streamlining of Development Variance Permit Requests – File: 01-0125-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Director, Planning and Development, April 13, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Planning and Development, dated April 13, 
2022, entitled “Streamlining Development Variance Permit Requests”: 
 
THAT staff be directed to bring forward a bylaw to amend the Development 
Procedures Bylaw, with proposed provisions to delegate authority for issuance of 
Development Variance Permits for minor variances. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
Nil. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
Nil. 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
Nil. 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
Nil. 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, pursuant to the 
Community Charter, Section 90(1)(e) [land matter]. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed at 9:19 and reconvened at 9:36 pm. 
 
  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 9 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of April 25, 2022 

REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
16. Land Matter – File: 13-6410-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Deputy Director, Planning and Development, and CEO, Lonsdale Energy 
Corp., April 13, 2022 

 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Deputy Director, Planning and Development, and the 
CEO, Lonsdale Energy Corp., dated April 13, 2022, regarding a land matter:  

 
 THAT the action taken by the Committee of the Whole (Closed session) be ratified; 
 

AND THAT the wording of the recommendation and the report of the Deputy Director, 
Planning and Development, and the CEO, Lonsdale Energy Corp., dated April 13, 
2022, remain in the Closed session. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Back 
 
 THAT the meeting adjourn. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:37 pm. 
 
 
“Certified Correct by the Corporate Officer” 
____________________________________ 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Office of the Mayor 
  

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BRITISH COLUMBIA 
 

cÜÉvÄtÅtà|ÉÇ 
 

 

NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSE WEEK 
 

j{xÜxtá  since the first BC Neighbourhood House opened in 1938, people have 

been provided with safe, inviting places where people with diverse 

backgrounds are welcomed and included; 

j{xÜxtá  a Neighbourhood House helps to create vibrant neighbourhoods by 

providing innovative programs that engage people to live healthy, full 

lives, become more socially aware and participate in their 

communities; and 

j{xÜxtá  Neighbourhood House Week celebrates the existence of 

Neighbourhood Houses in communities across the Lower Mainland 

and reaffirms the City of North Vancouver’s commitment to support 

these needed resources in our community; 

aÉã g{xÜxyÉÜx  I, Linda Buchanan, Mayor of the City of North Vancouver, do hereby 

proclaim May 1 to 7, 2022 as Neighbourhood House Week in the City 

of North Vancouver, the traditional territories of the Squamish and 

Tsleil‐Waututh Nations. 

 
 

So proclaimed on Monday, May 2, 2022 

 

__________________________________ 

Mayor Linda Buchanan 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Office of the Mayor 
  

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BRITISH COLUMBIA 
 

cÜÉvÄtÅtà|ÉÇ 
 

 

MENTAL HEALTH WEEK 
 

j{xÜxtá 
this year marks the 71st annual Canadian Mental Health Association 
Mental Health Week, which has become an important awareness event 
in Canada, helping to end the discrimination, stigma and shame 
surrounding mental illness; 

j{xÜxtá 
we can all benefit from promoting and acknowledging the role that 
good mental health plays in living a full and meaningful life; and 

j{xÜxtá 
Mental Health Week is a celebration of mental health and an 
opportunity to raise awareness that difficult feelings are normal and 
inform the public that resources are available for persons who may 
need support; 

aÉã g{xÜxyÉÜx I, Linda Buchanan, Mayor of the City of North Vancouver, do hereby 
proclaim May 2 to 8, 2022 as Mental Health Week in the City of 
North Vancouver, the traditional territories of the Squamish and 
Tsleil-Waututh Nations. 

 
 

So proclaimed on Monday, May 2, 2022 

 

__________________________________ 
Mayor Linda Buchanan 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2020, No. 8748 Document: 1889894-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8748 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2020, No. 8748” (Satendra Mann / M1F1 Modern Home 
Developments Ltd., 905 Ridgeway Avenue, CD-723). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-723 (Comprehensive Development 723 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 13 96 550 1197 from RT-1 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-722 
Comprehensive Development 722 Zone”: 

 
“CD-723 Comprehensive Development 723 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-722 Comprehensive 

Development 722 Zone”: 
 

“CD-723 Comprehensive Development 723 Zone” 
 

In the CD-723 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the RT-2 Zone, except as provided in the CD-723 Zone. 
 
For the purposes of this Bylaw, the CD-723 Zone shall be divided into ‘Lots’ as 
described on Schedule 143. 

 
(1) On Lot A, two Residential Principal Buildings may be permitted, and limited to 

one Dwelling Unit each; 
 

(2) On Lot B, the allowable siting for a single One-Unit and Two-Unit Residential 
Principal Building shall be in accordance with the RT-2 Zone.  On Lot A the 
allowable siting for two Residential Principal Buildings and the Accessory 
Building shall be in accordance to Schedule 143; 

 
(3) On Lot A, Section 514(5)(g) shall be varied to permit the linear distance of the 

Accessory Building to be no more than 6.6 metres (21.75 feet); 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2020, No. 8748 Document: 1889894-v1 

(4) On Lot B, a variance to Section 509(6)(a) that will permit an Accessory Coach 
House on a Lot not less than 9.06 metres (29.75 feet) in width; 

 
 

READ a first time on the 15th day of June, 2020. 

READ a second time on the 15th day of June, 
2020. 

READ a third time on the 13th day of July, 2020. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2020, No. 8748 Document: 1889894-v1 

CD-723    

Amending Bylaw No. 8748 
SCHEDULE 143 Page 1 of 1 

 
 

TITLE: SITE DEFINITION 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919 Document: 2166563-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8919 
 

A bylaw for imposing property value taxes on land and improvements 
in the City of North Vancouver for the year 2022. 

WHEREAS it is provided under Section 197(1) of the Community Charter being, that the Council 
must, each year after adoption of the financial plan but before the 15th day of May, subject to the 
provisions and restrictions of the Community Charter contained, pass a bylaw to impose property 
value taxes on all land and improvements according to the assessed value thereof, for the 
purpose enumerated and set forth in Section 197(1) of the Community Charter; 

WHEREAS the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver deems it necessary 
and expedient to pass a bylaw for imposing a property value tax on all taxable land and 
improvements, according to the assessed value thereof, on the last Revised Assessment roll for 
The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, the rates thereinafter imposed and levied for 
purpose hereinafter stated; 

WHEREAS for General and Debt purposes, according to the last Revised Assessment Roll of the 
City, the amount of the assessed value of the taxable land and taxable improvements is 
$30,291,273,363; 

AND WHEREAS for the Regional Hospital purposes, according to the last Revised Assessment 
roll of the City, the amount of the assessed value of the taxable land and taxable improvements 
is $30,313,368,963; 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 

1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Tax Rates Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8919”. 

2. The following rates are hereby imposed and levied for the year 2022: 

A. For all lawful general purposes of the municipality on the assessed value of land and 
improvements taxable for general municipal purposes, rates appearing on Schedule 
“A” attached hereto and forming a part hereof. 

B. For the storm drainage purposes on the assessed value of land and improvements 
taxable for general municipal purposes, rates appearing on Schedule “B” attached 
hereto and forming a part hereof. 

C. For the eco levy purposes on the assessed value of land and improvements taxable 
for general municipal purposes, rates appearing on Schedule “C” attached hereto and 
forming a part hereof. 

D. For the City’s appropriate share of the monies required for the operating fund of the 
Metro Vancouver Regional District for the year 2022, on the assessed value of land 
and improvements taxable for Regional Hospital District purposes, rates appearing on 
Schedule “D” attached hereto and forming a part hereof. 



The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919 Document: 2166563-v1 

3. The minimum amount of taxation upon a parcel of real property shall be One Hundred 
Dollars ($100.00) for property owners 65 years of age and over and Three Hundred and 
Fifty Dollars ($350.00) for property owners under 65 years of age. 

 
 

READ a first time on the 25th day of April, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 25th day of April, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the 25th day of April, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

 
  



The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919 Document: 2166563-v1 

SCHEDULE “A” 
 

2022 Tax Rates ($’s of tax per $1,000 taxable value) 
 
 

 
Property Class     Municipal General 
 
 
1. Residential       1.59647 
 
2. Utilities     37.94062 
 
4. Major Industry    26.08418 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap) 26.08418 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap 21.34160 
 for new investment) 
 
5. Light Industry      5.10874 
 
6. Business       5.10874 
 
8. Recreation/Non Profit     1.78447 
 
  



The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919 Document: 2166563-v1 

SCHEDULE “B” 
 

2022 Tax Rates ($’s of tax per $1,000 taxable value) 
 
 

 
Property Class Storm Drainage 
 
 
1. Residential     0.05764 
 
2. Utilities     1.36974 
 
4. Major Industry    0.94170 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap) 0.94170 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap        0.77048 

for new investment) 
 
5. Light Industrial     0.18444 
 
6. Business     0.18444 
 
8. Recreation/Non Profit   0.06442 
 
 
  



The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919 Document: 2166563-v1 

SCHEDULE “C” 
 

2022 Tax Rates ($’s of tax per $1,000 taxable value) 
 
 

 
Property Class     Eco Levy 
 
 
1. Residential     0.02902 
 
2. Utilities     0.68964 
 
4. Major Industry    0.47413 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap) 0.47413 
 
4. Major Industry (With Provincial Cap 0.38792 
 for new investment) 
 
5. Light Industry     0.09286 
 
6. Business     0.09286 
 
8. Recreation/Non Profit   0.03244 
 
 
  



The Corporation of the City North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8919 Document: 2166563-v1 

SCHEDULE “D” 
 

2022 Tax Rates ($’s of tax per $1,000 taxable value) 
 
 

 
Property Class                            Metro Vancouver Regional District 
 
 
       
 
1. Residential     0.05297 
 
2. Utilities     0.18639 
 
4. Major Industry    0.18009 
 
5. Light Industry     0.18009 
 
6. Business     0.12977 
 
8. Recreation/Non Profit   0.05297 
 
 



IM
Department
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
CITY CLERK’S DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Karla Graham, Corporate Officer

Subject: APPOINTMENT OF NORTH SHORE DESIGNATE TO E-COMM BOARD
- 2022-2023 TERM AND PROXYHOLDER FOR ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING

Date: April 20, 2022 File No: 01-0230-20-0016/2022

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION

PURSUANT to the report of the Corporate Officer, dated March 29, 2022, entitled 
“Appointment of North Shore Designate to E-Comm Board - 2022-2023 Term 
and Proxyholder for E-Comm Board Annual General Meeting:

THAT Richard Walton be nominated to serve as the North Shore designate to the 
E-Comm Board of Directors for the 2022-2023 term, such Board to be elected by 
the E-Comm Board of Directors;

AND THAT Richard Walton be designated as proxyholder for the purpose of 
voting on behalf of City of North Vancouver Council at the E-Comm Annual 
General Meeting.

ATTACHMENTS

1. Correspondence from Krystal Boros, Acting Corporate Secretary, E-Comm, 
March 25, 2022

2. Email from Richard Walton, April 5, 2022

Document Number: 2163768



REPORT: Appointment of North Shore Designate to E-Comm Board - 2022-2023 Term and Proxyholder for 
E-Comm Board Annual General Meeting
Date: April 20, 2022

DISCUSSION

On June 7, 2021, Richard Walton was nominated by Council to serve as the North 
Shore designate to the E-Comm Board of Directors for the 2021-2022 term. The Board 
is appointed annually and is elected by the E-Comm shareholders at their Annual 
General Meeting. Mr. Walton’s past Board and municipal experience would continue to 
be of benefit to the North Shore communities.

Staff also recommend that Richard Walton be designated as proxyholder for the City, 
for the purpose of voting the City of North Vancouver shares in the upcoming Annual 
General Meeting, scheduled for June 23, 2022.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

KarlaGraham, MMC 
Corporate Officer

Page 2 of 2



3301 East Pender Street, Vancouver, BC V5K 5J3 Canada 
- 1604.215,5000 - f 604.215.5001 - ecommOU.caE Comm 9-1-1

Helping to Save Lives and Protect Property

VIA EMAIL-lbuchanan@cnv.org

March 25, 2022

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Council
City of North Vancouver
141 West 14th Street
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9

Dear Mayor Buchanan and Council,

RE: E-Comm Board of Directors Designate — 2022-2023 Term

The Annual General Meeting (the "Meeting") of the Shareholders (Members) of E-Comm Emergency 
Communications for British Columbia Inc. ("E-Comm") will be held on Thursday, June 23, 2022 and, at that 
time, the Board of Directors (the "Board") will be elected by the Members for the 2022-2023 term.

Nominee for the coming term to be selected

The Members' Agreement among E-Comm's shareholders sets out how the Board of Directors is to be 
elected. For your reference, we attach a copy of section 4.2 of the Members' Agreement, headed 
"Designation and Election of Directors" which contains the applicable provisions.

Your organization falls into the group which is described at subsection 4.2.1.5. Pursuant to Section 4.2.1.5 of 
the E-Comm Members' Agreement, your Designated Group of Members is entitled to nominate one mutually 
agreed upon individual for election to the Board of Directors of E-Comm. At present, your grouping is 
comprised of these municipalities:

Class A Class B
City of North Vancouver - 3
District of North Vancouver 1 -
District of West Vancouver 2 1
Village of Lions Bay 1 1

The current representative of your group on the E-Comm Board is Richard Walton.

Because your municipality is among a Designated Group of Members who must mutually agree upon your 
nominee, we respectfully request that you confer with the other members of your grouping to confirm 
your selection for the coming term and provide the name of such individual not later than Friday, May 13, 
2022. This will help to ensure a smooth nomination process.

Who is eligible?

The Board of E-Comm is committed to good governance and seeks directors who possess the experience, 
skills, and attributes to effectively serve the interests of all shareholders and our other stakeholders. An 
effective director will have competencies in many, or most, of the following areas: knowledge of the fields of 
emergency communications, police, fire, ambulance or public-safety, knowledge of the role of a board, 
analytical skills including financial acumen, leadership skills, good communication skills, sound judgment, high 
integrity and the ability to influence others. Further, the Board of Directors believes that its composition 
should reflect the rich diversity of the communities that E-Comm serves.

911 - Dispatch - Radio - Technology

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 1�



Mayor Linda Buchanan and Council
City of North Vancouver
March 25, 2022 Page 2

Commitment
The E-Comm Board of Directors meets five times per year and provides oversight of the business and affairs 
of E-Comm. Meetings are held during regular working hours, typically commencing in the morning and 
running until mid or early afternoon at E-Comm's Vancouver centre. Two additional Board sessions are also 
held annually for strategic planning and board education. There are three standing committees of the board 
(Finance, Governance and Public Affairs, and Human Resources and Compensation), each meeting five times 
per year. Participation on committees is voluntary, but recommended.

Although shareholders are required to elect directors every year, we hope that nominees are willing to serve 
for not less than two years, in part because a learning curve, before a director might feel fully engaged and 
contributing, is acknowledged. We encourage directors to serve additional terms. There are no term limits 
in place, although we strive to balance the value of experienced Directors with that of newcomers.

Next steps

We kindly request that the City of North Vancouver, following discussion within your Designated Grouping, 
advise E-Comm (to the attention of the writer) with written confirmation by Friday, May 13, 2022, of the 
name and contact information of your nominee to the E-Comm Board for the 2022-2023 term. The 
question and answer document enclosed in this package includes a sample motion confirming your 
nomination, if required.

Kindly note that an orientation session for new E-Comm Board Directors will be held on Wednesday, July 6, 
2022 between 9am - 3pm; we ask that you please communicate this date with your nominee as soon as 
possible so that they may hold the time in their calendar. This session is only required should your 
Designated Grouping choose to nominate someone other than current director, Richard Walton.

Please note that nominating a director is a separate process from designating a representative to vote your 
share at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) in June. As such, I will be contacting you again in mid-May with 
the Notice of AGM and will request that you designate one individual to attend the Annual General Meeting 
of the Shareholders for the purposes of voting the City of North Vancouver shares. If you prefer, you can 
designate your nominee to vote your share.

Yours truly,

Krystal Boros
Acting Corporate Secretary

c | 604.218.6941
e | krystal.boros@ecomm911.ca

cc Richard Walton, E-Comm Board Director
Karla Graham, City of North Vancouver, Corporate Officer



Subject: Richard Walton : ongoing willingness to serve as North Shore's E-Comm Board 
appointee

From: Richard Walton
Sent: April-05-22 11:52 AM
Subject: Richard Walton : ongoing willingness to serve as North Shore's E-Comm Board appointee

Mayor Buchanan,

I am willing to serve another year (June 2022-June 2023) as the North Shore's appointee to the Board of E- 
comm if the four Mayors and Councils wish me to.

E-Comm is in the middle of a very challenging time as a result of governance complexities, increasing call 
volumes and upcoming technological changes. It is also in the middle of a generational turnover in its senior 
management team, and experiences ongoing staffing staffing challenges flowing from both the covid response 
and the competitive employment market I serve on both the Finance and Governance committees and have 
frequent opportunities to bring a broader regional district and local government perspective, as well as 
financial, to the discussions and planning.

I consider it a privilege to represent the North Shore on the E-Comm Board, and I am now a permanent resident 
of North Van City, residing at 206 27st E in the Upper Lonsdale area.

Please contact me at any time if you have any questions or concerns relating to E-Comm or my representation 
on its Board.

Best wishes,

Richard Walton

1

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 2�



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Department
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer

Subject: 2021 AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Date: April 20,2022 File No: 05-1680-04-0001/2021

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION:

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated April 20, 2022, 
entitled “2020 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements”:

THAT in accordance with Section 167 of the Community Charter, Council accept 
the City of North Vancouver Consolidated Financial Statements for the year 
ended December 31,2021.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended December 31,2021 - DRAFT (CityDoc#2l7H02).

PURPOSE:

Under the provisions of the Community Charter, the City’s annual financial statements 
must be presented to and accepted by Council. The attached statements have been 
audited by the City’s appointed auditors, BDO Canada LLP (“BDO”). In accordance with 
the latest recommendations of the Accounting Standards Board, signatures by the 
auditors on the audit report and by the Chief Financial Officer on the statements will be 
added after acceptance of the statements by Council.

Document Number: 2154893



REPORT: 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
Date: April 20, 2022

BACKGROUND:

Included in the City’s audited consolidated financial statements reflect:

• All the funds of the City of North Vancouver (including water, sewer and solid waste 
utilities, as well as cemetery operations)

• The accounts of the North Vancouver City Library
• The City’s ownership of Lonsdale Energy Corporation
• The City’s 50% share of the North Vancouver Museum & Archives Commission
• The City’s 33.9% share of the North Vancouver Recreation & Culture Commission

The Cemetery Trust, which is administered by the City, is not included in the consolidated 
statements, as these funds are only managed by the City on behalf of other beneficiaries.

DISCUSSION:

BDO has recently completed the audit of the City’s financial statements. Its conclusion 
is as follows:

“The accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2021, and its 
consolidated results of operations, its changes in consolidated net financial assets, its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. ”

Results of the City’s consolidated operations for 2020 and 2021 are as follows:

Revenue
Expenses
Annual Surplus
Accumulated Surplus beginning of year
Accumulated Surplus end of year

2020 2021

$159.1 $143.7
118.1 126.9

41.0 16.8
575.3 616.3

$616.3 $633.1 
* in millions

The City had an annual surplus in 2021 of $16.8 million, which adds to the City’s 
accumulated surplus (i.e. total equity). It is important to note that the surplus is a 
consolidated surplus, the majority of which is not available to be reallocated to future 
initiatives. At a high level, the surplus can be broken down as follows:

Page 2 of 5



REPORT: 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
Date: April 20, 2022

General Operating 1 $6.4M
Capital & Statutory Reserves2 $2.8M
Utilities and Cemetery3 $7.6M

Annual Surplus $16.8M

1 Primary drivers for the surplus include revenue in excess of budget of $4M (primarily License & Permits of $2.2M 
and Grants & Other Contributions of $0.8M) and expenses less than budget of $2.4M (primarily Wages & Benefits of 
$1.1 M and Conferences, Education & Travel of $0.4M). The majority of the surplus has been allocated to the 
General Capital Reserve ($2.6M - of which $2M was included in the revised HJCRC financial strategy); Permit 
Revenue Reserve ($2M to support related future work demands), Police Reserve ($0.5M to smooth the impact of the 
RCMP member contract), and Weather Reserve ($0.5M to rebuild following the more severe than normal 2021-2 
winter snowfall and street clearing expenses).
2 Use of Capital and Statutory Reserves is contemplated in the Capital Plan. Revenues funding the Capital Plan 
(property taxes, grants, interest) is recognized in the consolidated financial statements as it is earned, however, as 
capital expenditures are capitalized, their expense is only recognized through an annual depreciation expense. This 
timing difference results in an expected surplus for 2021.
3 Utilities and Cemetery are self-funded through related user fees. Surpluses are kept within the individual 
utility/cemetery funds to support future expenses and works.

Assessment of Financial Condition:

Assessing the financial health of a regional or local government includes consideration of 
several financial and non-financial elements. The primary financial elements assessed 
by credit rating agencies when analyzing the financial health of a municipality are debt 
burden and liquidity.

• Debt Burden refers to amount of debt relative to the size of an organization.
• Liquidity refers to the adequacy of assets readily convertible to cash compared to 

key expenses.

Standard & Poors is a leading credit rating agency covering regional and local 
governments in Canada. The financial ratios that it uses to evaluate debt burden and 
liquidity and how they would apply to the City’s historical financial results are shown 
below.

Debt Burden 

1. Tax Supported Debt / Consolidated Operating Revenue

This metric compares the amount of an organization’s debt to the organization’s size, as 
indicated by revenues.

000s unless otherwise indicated 2019 2020 2021
Tax Supported Debt (A) $0 $0 $0
Consolidated Operating Revenue (B) $118,529 $122,147 $128,919

Ratio (A/B) 0% 0% 0%

Page 3 of 5



REPORT: 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
Date: April 20, 2022

The City had no tax supported debt from 2019 to 2021, as LEG was supporting repayment 
of the City’s only loan with the Municipal Finance Authority. S&P’s top performers in this 
category have ratios less than 30%, so the City would achieve S&P’s top rating.

2. Interest Payment / Adjusted Operating Revenue

This metric metrics compares the amount of an organization’s interests costs (which are 
correlated with debt levels) to the organization’s size, as indicated by general revenues 
(primarily taxes, fees, rents, and from sale of services).

000s unless otherwise indicated 2019 2020 2021
Interest Payment (A) $6 $6 $6
Adjusted Operating Revenue (B) $80,338 $86,853 $88,874

Ratio (A/B) 0% 0% 0%

S&P’s top performers in this category have ratios less than 5%, so the City would achieve 
S&P’s top rating in this category.

Liquidity

S&P’s top performers in this category have ratios greater than 1.2:1, so the City again 
achieves S&P’s top rating in this category.

3. Unencumbered Liquid Assets / Annual Debt Service Costs

000s unless otherwise indicated 2019 2020 2021
Unencumbered Liquid Assets (A) $10,722 $13,270 $14,002
Annual Debt Service Costs (B) $211 $219 $228

Ratio (A/B) 50:1 60:1 61:1

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

Addressed throughout the report. Overall, the City’s financial position is strong.

INTERDEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS:

This report and draft statements summarize the financial position of the whole 
organization, including its related entities. The City’s favourable financial position 
reflects City departments’ and related entities' cooperation and participation in sound 
financial management.

Page 4 of 5



REPORT: 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
Date: April 20, 2022

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCR OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS:

The financial results for 2021 reflect the City’s Corporate Business Plan Outcome of being 
“A Fiscally Responsible Organization”. These results also reflect Community Charter 
requirements to manage within a balanced budget framework.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:
Larry Sawrenko
Chief Financial Officer

Page 5 of 5



The Corporation of the City of
North Vancouver
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021

dra
ft

dra
fte Corporation of the City ofon of the City on of the City on of the City 

North Vancouveruveruveruver
Consolidated Financial Statementsnancial Statementsnancial Statementsnancial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2021ded December 31, 202ded December 31, 202ded December 31, 202



 

 

Statement of Management Responsibility 
 

 
 

The Council of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver (“City”) has delegated the responsibility 
for the integrity and objectivity of the financial information contained in the consolidated financial 
statements to the management of the City. The consolidated financial statements which, in part, are 
based on informed judgments and estimates, have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards, which have been applied on a basis consistent with that of 
the preceding year. 

To assist in carrying out their responsibility, management maintains an accounting system and internal 
controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with 
authorization, and that financial records are reliable for preparation of financial statements. 

The Mayor and Council oversee management's responsibilities for the financial reporting and internal 
control systems. Council annually reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements. 

The City’s independent auditors, BDO Canada LLP, are engaged to express an opinion as to whether the 
City's consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of 
the City as at December 31, 2021, and the results of operations, changes in net financial assets and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

The consolidated financial statements have, in management's opinion, been properly prepared within 
reasonable limits of materiality and in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 

 

 

Chief Financial Officer  

Larry Sawrenko 

[DATE OF COUNCIL APPROVAL] 

 

 

 

 

 

dra
ft

dra
ft

ity”) tytyty has delegated the as delegated theas delegated theas delegated the
contained in the consolidatecontained in the consolidacontained in the consolidacontained in the consolida

d financial statements which, in pfinancial statements whicfinancial statements whicfinancial statements whic
repared by management in accordancepared by management in acpared by management in acpared by management in ac

e been applied on a basis consistent with than applied on a basis consistent n applied on a basis consistent n applied on a basis consistent 

nagement maintains an accounting system and internal ns an accounting system and intens an accounting system and intens an accounting system and inte
transactions are executed and recoecuted and rececuted and rececuted and rec rded in accordance with rdance with rdance with rdance with 

e reliable for preparation of financial statements.tion of financial stion of financial stion of financial s

agement's responsibilities for the financial reporting and internal bilities for the financial reportbilities for the financial reportbilities for the financial report
eviews and approves the consolidated financial statements.ves the consolidated financial statemves the consolidated financial statemves the consolidated financial statem

ors, BDO Canada LLP, are engaged to express an opinion as to whetLP, are engaged to express an opinion as to whLP, are engaged to express an opinion as to whLP, are engaged to express an opinion as to wh
al statements present fairly in all material respects the financial pnt fairly in all material respects the financial nt fairly in all material respects the financial nt fairly in all material respects the financial 

31, 2021, and the results of operations, changes in net financial assults of operations, changes in net ults of operations, changes in net ults of operations, changes in net 
n ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing swith Canadian generally accepted audwith Canadian generally accepted audwith Canadian generally accepted aud

d financial statements haveents havents havents hav , in management's opinion, been propn management's opinion, been pron management's opinion, been pron management's opinion, been pro
mits of materiality and in accordance with Canadian public sector and in accordance with Canadian public sectond in accordance with Canadian public sectond in accordance with Canadian public secto

Chief Financial Ocial Ocial Ocial Offffficer ficer ficer ficer 

Larry Sawrenkowrenkowrenkowrenko

DATE OF COUNCIL APPROVAL]OF COUOF COUOF COU



Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Mayor and Council of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
and its controlled entities (the “City”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at December 31, 2021 and the consolidated statement of operations, the consolidated statement of
changes in net financial assets and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2021, and its consolidated
results of operations, its changes in consolidated net financial assets, its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the City in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Unaudited Information

We have not audited, reviewed, or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the
Schedule A of the City's consolidated financial statements.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

dra
ft

dra
ft

ver

poration of the City of North poration of the City of Norporation of the City of Norporation of the City of Nor
onsolidated statement of financial onsolidated statement of fonsolidated statement of fonsolidated statement of f

of operations, the consolidated statemeoperations, the consolidatedoperations, the consolidatedoperations, the consolidated
atement of cash flows for the year then endeent of cash flows for the year tent of cash flows for the year tent of cash flows for the year t

s, including a summary of significant accountinging a summary of significant acing a summary of significant acing a summary of significant ac

ed financial statements present fairly, in all materialements present fairly, in all materialements present fairly, in all materialements present fairly, in all material
n of the City as at December 31, 2021, and its consolidatedecember 31, 2021, and its consolidatedecember 31, 2021, and its consolidatedecember 31, 2021, and its consolidated

lidated net financial assets, its consolidated cash flows for theets, its consolidated cash flows for theets, its consolidated cash flows for theets, its consolidated cash flows for the
nadian public sector accounting standards.accounting standards.accounting standards.accounting standards.

ccordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standardsCanadian generally accepted auditing standCanadian generally accepted auditing standCanadian generally accepted auditing stand
tandards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for ter described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities forer described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities forer described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for

ncial Statements section of our report. We are independent of ction of our report. We are independent of ction of our report. We are independent of ction of our report. We are independent of 
thical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidaat are relevant to our audit of theat are relevant to our audit of theat are relevant to our audit of the

a, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accfilled our other ethical responsibilities in acc
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient a audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient  audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient  audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

for our opinion.

nformation

e not audited, reviewed, or otherwise attempted to verify the accnot audited, reviewed, or otherwise attempted to verify the accnot audited, reviewed, or otherwise attempted to verify the accnot audited, reviewed, or otherwise attempted to verify the acc
dule A of the City's consolidated financial statements.A of the City's consolidated financial statements.A of the City's consolidated financial statements.A of the City's consolidated financial statements.

esponsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governaes of Management and Those Charged with Goveres of Management and Those Charged with Goveres of Management and Those Charged with Gover
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair prt is responsible for the preparation t is responsible for the preparation t is responsible for the preparation 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accouts in accordance with Canadian public sectorts in accordance with Canadian public sectorts in accordance with Canadian public sector
as management determines is necessary to enable the pgement determines is necessary to enable the gement determines is necessary to enable the gement determines is necessary to enable the 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due free from material misstatement, whether de free from material misstatement, whether de free from material misstatement, whether d

n preparing the consolidated financial statementsaring the consolidated financial staaring the consolidated financial staaring the consolidated financial sta
lity to continue as a going concern, disclosinto continue as a going concern, discloto continue as a going concern, discloto continue as a going concern, disclo

the going concern basis of accounting ue going concern basis of accounting e going concern basis of accounting e going concern basis of accounting 
operations, or has no realistic alteoperations, or has no realistic aloperations, or has no realistic aloperations, or has no realistic al

ed with governance are resed with governance are reed with governance are reed with governance are re

nsibilities for the nsibilities for the nsibilities for the nsibilities for the 

o obtain re
m ma



As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the City to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the City to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the City audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS
Vancouver, British Columbia

[DATE OF APPROVAL]dra
ft

dra
ft

sis fo
er than fo

ions, misrepres, m, m, m

udit in order to design audit udit in order to design aududit in order to design aududit in order to design aud
e purpose of expressing an opinioe purpose of expressing ane purpose of expressing ane purpose of expressing an

ies used and the reasonableness of accountined and the reasonableness of aed and the reasonableness of aed and the reasonableness of a
gement.

ment’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,going concern basis of accounting agoing concern basis of accounting agoing concern basis of accounting a
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events oruncertainty exists related to events oruncertainty exists related to events oruncertainty exists related to events or

ubt on the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If wety to continue as a going concern. If wety to continue as a going concern. If wety to continue as a going concern. If we
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s reportttention in our auditor’s reportttention in our auditor’s reportttention in our auditor’s report

e consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures areancial statements or, if suchancial statements or, if suchancial statements or, if such
ion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up tons are based on the audit evidence ons are based on the audit evidence ons are based on the audit evidence 

port. However, future events or conditions may cause the City to ceture events or conditions may cause the Cture events or conditions may cause the Cture events or conditions may cause the C
cern.

presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial sre and content of the consolidated financial re and content of the consolidated financial re and content of the consolidated financial 
losures, and whether the consolidated financial statements rr the consolidated financial star the consolidated financial star the consolidated financial sta

actions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.n a manner that achieves fair presentation.n a manner that achieves fair presentation.n a manner that achieves fair presentation.

ient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial informatioaudit evidence regarding the financial informatiaudit evidence regarding the financial informatiaudit evidence regarding the financial informati
ctivities within the City to express an opinion on the consolidatedCity to express an opinion on the consolidCity to express an opinion on the consolidCity to express an opinion on the consolid

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Citesponsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the esponsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the esponsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
nsible for our audit opinion.nsible for our audit opinion.nsible for our audit opinion.nsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, ate with those charged with governance regardinate with those charged with governance regardinate with those charged with governance regardin
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, incg of the audit and significantg of the audit and significantg of the audit and significant
internal control that we identify during our audit.ol that we identify during our auditol that we identify during our auditol that we identify during our audit

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTSERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTAN
Vancouver, British Columbiaver, Bver, Bver, B

E OF APPROVAL]F APPROF APPROF APPRO



2021 2020

FINANCIAL ASSETS
     Cash 74,571$                    116,691$                  
     Temporary investments (note 3(a)) 103,526 55,589
     Portfolio investments (note 3(b)) 83,466 102,501
     Investment in Lonsdale Energy Corp. (note 4) 4,613 3,947
     Due from other governments 3,962 3,872
     Accounts receivable 11,471 11,053
     Loan to Lonsdale Energy Corp. (note 5) 27,043 26,518
     Interest receivable 8,720 12,418

317,372 332,589

LIABILITIES
     Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 22,680 39,355
     Deferred revenue 34,258 32,132
     Deferred lease revenue (note 13) 49,930 51,925
     Deferred development cost charges 22,072 21,963
     Debt (note 6) 237 465
     Employee future benefits (note 7) 8,386 8,229
     Advances and other liabilities 10,077 10,351

147,640 164,420

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 169,732 168,169

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
     Tangible capital assets (note 8) 461,087 445,625
     Inventories 746 703
     Prepaid expenses 1,544 1,828

463,377 448,156

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (note 9) 633,109$                  616,325$                  

Commitments and contingencies (note 10)

Chief Financial Officer
Larry Sawrenko

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statementsddddddddra
ft

dra
ftftftaftaftaaaftdradradradradrdrdddddd

74,57174,57174,571      111$                  $                  $                  
103,526103,52103,52103,52 55,589

83,466838383 102,501111
4,6134,64,64,6 3,9473,3,3,
3,9623,9623,9623,962 3,8723,8723,8723,872

11,47111,47111,47111,471 11,05311,05311,05311,053
27,04327,04327,04327,043 26,518,518,518,518

8,7208,7208,7208,720 12,418888

22,68022,68022,68022,680 39,355393939
34,25834,25834,25834,258 32,13232,1332,1332,13
49,93049,93049,93049,930 51,515151

rges 22,07222,07222,07222,072
237

s (note 7) 8,386
iabilities 10,077

147,640000

IAL ASSETSASSETSASSETSASSETS 169,732169,732169,732169,732

TSTSTS
ote 8)ote 8)ote 8)

     Inventories
     Prepaid expensesnsesnsesnses

ED SURED SURED SUR

d contingencies (note 10)d contingencies (note 10)d contingencies (note 10)
notes to the consolidated fnotes to the consolidated fnotes to the consolidated f

aftaftafaftaftaarararararararararara
tt

rararr
ttttftaftaftaftaftaftaftad



2021            
Budget 2021 2020

(notes 2(i) and 14)

REVENUE
Property value tax (Note 10 (a)) 68,974$               69,056$               65,928$               
Parcel taxes 3,746 3,814 3,571
Licences and permits 4,203 6,441 4,949
Fines and fees 4,748 4,678 4,799
Rent 2,544 3,368 1,874
Interest, dividends and penalties 2,148 5,589 6,059
Sale of services 30,331 29,672 26,331
Rebate and recoveries 85 185 638
Grants and other 7,591 12,729 19,430
Developer contributions and other transfers 314 8,200 25,063
Loss on disposition of assets - (714) (823)
Lonsdale Energy Corp. income (note 4) - 666 1,238

124,684 143,684 159,057

EXPENSES
General government 21,625 23,211 22,078
Transportation and transit 7,194 8,866 8,317
Health, social services and housing 2,749 2,724 2,764
Development services 7,127 7,494 5,406
Protective services 28,781 28,139 27,229
Parks, recreation and culture 33,051 30,665 28,084
Water utilities 10,795 10,871 9,719
Sewer utilities 11,090 11,767 10,538
Solid waste 3,535 3,163 3,951

Total expenses (note 12) 125,947 126,900 118,086

Annual surplus (1,263) 16,784 40,971

Accumulated surplus beginning of year 616,325 616,325 575,354

Accumulated surplus end of year 615,062$             633,109$             616,325$             

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Consolidated Statement of Operations 
Year ended December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statementsddra
ftraf
tftftaafafafafaftaftaftaftaftaftafafaftaftaftaftaafafafafaftaftaftaftaftaftafafafafafafrafrafdradraaadrdrdddd

565656$      $      $      $    $    $    
,814,814,814

6,4416,4416,441
4,674,674,67 4,74,74,7
333 1,8741,8741,874
5,55,55,5 6,0596,0596,059

29,67229,67229,672 ,331,331,331
185185185 888

,729,729,729
314314314 000

---

143,684143,68143,68143,68

21,62521,62521,625 23,21123,21123,21123,211
7,1947,1947,194 8,866888

s ans ans an 2,7492,7492,749 2,7222
icesicesices 7,1277,1277,127

28,78128,78128,781
ultureultureulture 515151

(note 12)(note 12)(note 12)

plus beginnplus beginnplus beginn

end of yearend of yearend of year

tttafaafaafafafafafafafafafafafafrrrrrrrr
ttttaffaffafaf



2021
Budget 2021 2020

(notes 2(i) and 14)

     Annual surplus (1,263)$ 16,784$ 40,971$

     Acquisition of tangible capital assets (69,827) (32,751) (34,303)
     Non-cash developer contributed assets - (737) (14,499)
     Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets - 213 34
     Depreciation of tangible capital assets 16,800 17,099 16,413
     Loss on disposition of tangible capital assets - 714 823

(53,027) (15,462) (31,532)

     Acquisition of inventories (1,182) (1,156)
     Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (1,591) (1,807)
     Use of inventories - 1,140 1,083
     Use of prepaid expenses - 1,874 1,725

- 241 (155)

     Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (54,290) 1,563 9,284

     Net financial assets, beginning of year 168,169 168,169 158,885

     Net financial assets, end of year 113,879$ 169,732$ 168,169$

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
Year ended December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

dra
ftftftftfftftaafafaafrarafafrarararaadradra

16,78416,784$$ $

7)) (32,751)) (34,303)
- (737)737) (14,499)
- 213213 34

16,800 17,09917,099 16,41316,413
- 714 823823

(53,027) (15,462)(15,4 (31,532)31,532)

(1,182)(1,182) (1,156)
- (1,591),591) (1,807)
-- 1,1400 1,083
-- 1,874 1,725
- 241 (155)

(54,290) 1,5631, 9,9

168,16969 168,169168,169

113,879113,879$$ 169,732169,732$

g notes to the consolidated financial s

fftfftafafafafraarara
taa tftftafafa



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver

2021 2020

Cash provided by (used for):

Operating Transactions
     Annual surplus 16,784$ 40,971$

     Items not involving cash:
          Depreciation expense 17,099 16,413
          Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 714 823
          Non-cash developer contributed assets (737) (14,499)
          Lonsdale Energy Corp. income (666) (1,238)
     Changes in non-cash operating items:
          (Increase) decrease in due from other governments (90) 689
          Increase in accounts receivable (418) (2,688)
          Increase in loan to Lonsdale Energy Corp. (525) (895)
          Decrease in interest receivable 3,698 727
         (Decrease) increase  in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (16,675) 14,467
          Increase in deferred revenue 2,126 1,914
          (Decrease) increase in deferred lease revenue (1,995) 51,925
          Increase (decrease) in deferred development cost charges 109 (1,360)
          Increase in accrued employee future benefits 157 79
          Decrease in advances and other liabilities (274) (96)
          Increase in inventories (43) (72)
          Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 284 (83)

19,548 107,077
Capital Transactions
          Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (32,751) (34,303)
          Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 213 34

(32,538) (34,269)
Investing Transactions
          Increase in temporary investments (47,937) (2,595)
          Decrease in portfolio investments 19,035 36,768

(28,902) 34,173

Financing Transactions
          Repayment of long-term debt (228) (219)

(Decrease) increase in cash (42,120) 106,762

Cash, beginning of year 116,691 9,929

Cash, end of year 74,571$ 116,691$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

dra
ftftftftftft

ddd
16 40$

17,09917,099 16,4136,413
714714 82323

(737)(737) (14,499)
(666)(666) (1,238)

(90) 689
(418) (2,688)(2,6
(525)( (895)(895)

3,6983,698 727727
yable and accrued liabilitieses (16,675)(16,675) 14,4674,467

2,1262,126 1,9144
ed lease revenue (1,995)95) 51,9

ferred development cost chargest charg 1099
mployee future benefits 157

ces and other liabilities (274)4)
entoriesnt (43)(43)

ncrease) in prepaid expensescrease) in prepaid expenses 284284

1919
l Transactions

    Cash used to acquire tangible capital assetsngible capita
          Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assetsale of tangible capital as

vesting Transactionssactions
in temp
in portfo

ss
rm debtm debt

rar
tt



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

1. OPERATIONS

The City of North Vancouver (the “City”) was incorporated in 1907 and operates under the provisions of the Community Charter 
and the Local Government Act of British Columbia. The City’s principal activity is the provision of local government services to 
residents of the incorporated area. These include administrative, protective, transportation, environmental, recreational, water
and sanitary services.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”). The significant accounting policies are summarized 
below:

(a) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all the funds of the City, the accounts of the North Vancouver City 
Library, which is controlled by the City, the City’s 33.94% proportionate share of the operations of the North Vancouver 
Recreation Commission, and the City’s 50% proportionate share of the operations of the North Vancouver Museum and Archives 
Commission. The City’s investment in Lonsdale Energy Corporation (“LEC”), a wholly owned government business enterprise,
is accounted for using the modified equity method.

The City has an agreement with the District of North Vancouver in the operation and management of the North Vancouver 
Recreation Commission, and the City includes its proportionate share in the City’s consolidated financial statements. The current 
agreement specifies that the operating costs shall be paid 33.94% (2020 – 33.94%) by the City and 66.06% (2020 – 66.06%)
by the District of North Vancouver.  Each municipality is responsible for its own facilities and pays 100% of all capital costs 
relating to improvement, expansion and replacement of buildings or facility equipment.

The City also has an agreement with the District of North Vancouver in the operation and management of the North Vancouver 
Museum and Archives Commission, and the City includes its proportionate share in the City’s consolidated financial statements. 
The current agreement specifies that the operating costs shall be paid 50% (2020 – 50%) by the City and 50% (2020 – 50%) by 
the District of North Vancouver. Each municipality is responsible for its own facilities and pays 100% of all capital costs relating 
to improvement, expansion and replacement of buildings or facility equipment. 

(b) Basis of Accounting

Revenue is recorded on an accrual basis and recognized when earned.  Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and 
measurable as a result of the receipt of goods and services.dra

ft
dra

ft
er the provisions oe proe proe pro

the provision of local gothe provision of local gthe provision of local gthe provision of local g
transportation, environmental, retransportation, environmentaltransportation, environmentaltransportation, environmental

n prepared in accordance with Canadian rdance withrdance withrdance with public sector accounting lic sector accountinglic sector accountinglic sector accounting
g Board (“PSAB”). The significant accounthe significant acche significant acche significant acc ing policies are summarized  are summarized  are summarized  are summarized 

nclude the accounts of all the funds of the Cityof all the funds of the Cityof all the funds of the Cityof all the funds of the City,,,, the accounts of the North Vathe accounts of the North the accounts of the North the accounts of the North 
e City, the City’s 33.94444% proportionate share of the % proportionate share of the % proportionate share of the % proportionate share of the operations of the f the f the f the N

e City’s 50% proportionate share of thee sharee sharee share operations of the North erations of the North erations of the North erations of the North Vancouver MuVVV
estment in Lonsdale Energy Corpnergy Corpnergy Corpnergy Corporationororor (“LEC”), a wholly ownedLEC”), a wholly ownedLEC”), a wholly ownedLEC”), a wholly owned governmegoverngoverngovern

e modified equity method.ethod.ethod.ethod.

agreementggg with the District of North Vancouver in the District of North Vancouver in the District of North Vancouver in the District of North Vancouver in the operation and manand mand mand m
mmission, and mmissionmmissionmmission the City includes its proportionate share in the City’s consoliday includes its proportionate share in the City’s consolidy includes its proportionate share in the City’s consolidy includes its proportionate share in the City’s consolid

 specifies that the operaifies that thifies that thifies that th ting costs shall be g costs shallg costs shallg costs shall paid 33.94% (2020202020202020 –––– 33333333.94.94.94.94%)%)%)%) bbbb
District of North Vancouver.  orth Vancouorth Vancouorth Vancou Each municipality is responsible for its own h municipality is responsible for its ownh municipality is responsible for its ownh municipality is responsible for its own

ting to improvement, expansion and ret, expansiont, expansiont, expansion placement of buildings or facility equcement of bcement of bcement of b

The City also has an agreements an agreements an agreements an agreement with the District of North Vancouverwith the District of North Vancowith the District of North Vancowith the District of North Vanco in t
Museum and Archives Commission, and the City includes its proportiArchives Commission, and the City includes its propoArchives Commission, and the City includes its propoArchives Commission, and the City includes its propo

he current agreement specifies that the operatagreement specifies that the operatagreement specifies that the operatagreement specifies that the operating costs shall be ing costs shall being costs shall being costs shall be
District of North Vancouverf Northf Northf North . Each municipality is responsinicipality isnicipality isnicipality is

vement, expansion and replacement of buildings oent, expansion and replacement of buildingent, expansion and replacement of buildingent, expansion and replacement of building

ccountingcountingcountingcounting

on an accrual basis an an accrual basis an an accrual basis an an accrual basis a
the receipt of gi ti ti t



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (con’t)

(c) Revenue Recognition 

Taxes are recognized as revenue in the year that the taxes are authorized, the taxable event occurs and they are considered 
collectible. Through the British Columbia Assessments appeal process, taxes may be adjusted by way of supplementary roll 
adjustments. The effects of these adjustments on taxes are recognized at the time they are awarded.  Levies imposed for 
Regional District services and other taxing authorities are not included. Lease revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease.

Charges for sewer, water and solid waste usage are recorded as user fees. Connection fees revenues are recognized when the 
connection has been established.

Sale of service and other revenue are recognized on an accrual basis.

(d) Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of prepaid property taxes, prepaid business licenses, and fees paid in advance for services yet to be
provided.

(e) Deferred Lease Revenue

Deferred lease revenue consists of funds collected in advance of rental periods for Long-Term Prepaid Leases, which will be 
recognized as revenue, on a straight line basis, over the term of the lease. 

(f) Deferred Development Cost Charges

Deferred development cost charges collected to pay for future capital projects are deferred upon receipt and recognized as 
revenue when the capital costs for which they were collected are incurred.

(g) Temporary Investments

Temporary investments include bank issued notes and bonds and provincial bonds and debentures maturing in the subsequent 
year and are valued at the lower of cost or market value.

(h)  Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments include bank issued notes and bonds and provincial bonds and debentures maturing after the subsequent 
year end. Securities are recorded at their cost and written down to reflect losses in value that are other than temporary.

(i) Budget Figures

The budget figures are based on the ten year financial plan adopted on April 12th, 2021.

dra
ft

dra
ft

e e e e taxable event occurstaxable event occurstaxable event occurstaxable event occurs and thand and and 
axes may be adjusted by way of suppxes may be adjusted by wayxes may be adjusted by wayxes may be adjusted by way

ed at the time they are awardedat the time they are awardedat the time they are awardedat the time they are awarded.  Levies im. . . 
uded. Lease revenue is recognized on a straightLease revenue is recognized on a sLease revenue is recognized on a sLease revenue is recognized on a s -lin

rded as user fees. Connection fees revenues are recognized when the onnection fees revenues are recognized when the onnection fees revenues are recognized when the onnection fees revenues are recognized when the 

ed on an accrual basis.sis.sis.sis.

paid property taxes, prepaid business licenses, paid business licenses, paid business licenses, paid business licenses, and fees paid in advance forand fees paid in advance foand fees paid in advance foand fees paid in advance fo

evenue

revenue consists evenuevenuevenu of funds collected in advance of rental periods for Longfunds collected in advance of rental periods for Longfunds collected in advance of rental periods for Longfunds collected in advance of rental periods for Long T
as revenuerevenuerevenuerevenue, on a straight line basis,, on a straight line basis,, on a straight line basis,, on a straight line basis, over the term of the lease. over the term of the lease. over the term of the lease. over the term of the lease. 

eferred Development Cost Chargesment Costment Costment Cost

Deferred development pment pment pment cost charges collected to cost charges colcost charges colcost charges col pay for future capital pay for futuray for futuray for futur
revenue when the capital costs for which they were collected are incurthe capital costs for which they were collected are inthe capital costs for which they were collected are inthe capital costs for which they were collected are in

Temporary Investmentsary Invary Invary Inv

investments include bank issued notes and bvestments include bank issued notes andvestments include bank issued notes andvestments include bank issued notes and
alulululued at the lower of cost or market vaed at the lower of cost or markeed at the lower of cost or markeed at the lower of cost or marke

mentsmentsmentsments

 bank issu
d a



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (con’t)

(j)  Government Transfers

Unrestricted government transfers are recognized as revenue in the year that the transfer is authorized by the issuing 
government and any eligibility criteria have been met.  Restricted government transfers, in the way of grants or other transfers, 
are recognized as revenue in the year in which any stipulations that create liabilities are met.

(k)  Employee Future Benefits

The City and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan.  As this plan is a multi-employer plan, contributions 
are expensed as incurred.

Sick leave and post-employment benefits also accrue to the City’s employees.  The liabilities related to these benefits are 
actuarially determined based on services and best estimates of retirement ages and expected future salary and wage increases.
The liabilities under these benefits plans are accrued based on projected benefits as the employees render services necessary 
to earn the future benefits.

(l)  Long-term Debt

Long-term debt is recorded in the consolidated financial statements net of sinking fund payments and adjustments.

(m) Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision of services.  They may 
have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of business.

(i) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, 
construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost less residual value of the tangible capital assets, 
excluding land, is amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Land improvements Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 10 – 100 years
Parks Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 10 – 75 years
Buildings Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 10 – 100 years
Machinery & equipment Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 3 – 25 years
Vehicles Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 6 – 25 years
Infrastructure Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 7 – 100 years
Library materials Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 2 – 5 years
Work in progress Not depreciated until put into use

dra
ft

r that the transfer is authorizer that the transfer is authorir that the transfer is authorir that the transfer is authori
ment transfers, in the way of grants or otent transfers, in the way of grent transfers, in the way of grent transfers, in the way of gr

eate liabilities liabilitie liabilitie liabilitie are metttt....

nicipal Pension Plan.  As this plan is a multiAs this plan is a mAs this plan is a mAs this plan is a m -employer plan, lan, lan, lan, contributions contributions contributions contributions 

so accrue to the City’s employees.  The liabilities relay’s employees.  The liabilities relay’s employees.  The liabilities relay’s employees.  The liabilities related to these benefittedtedted
nd best estimates of retirement ages and expected future salary and wage inf retirement ages and expected future salary anf retirement ages and expected future salary anf retirement ages and expected future salary an

s are accrued based on projected benefits as the employees rend on projected benefits as the employees rend on projected benefits as the employees rend on projected benefits as the employees render serviceder servder servder serv

orded in the consolidated financial statements net of ated financial statements net of ated financial statements net of ated financial statements net of sinking fund paymentspaympaympaym

ncialcialcialcial AssetsAsAsAs

ancial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held fos are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held s are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held s are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held 
e useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not intended for sading beyond the current year and ding beyond the current year and ding beyond the current year and 

(i) Tangible Capital Assetsgible Capital Assetsgible Capital Assetsgible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which ingible capital assets are recorded at cost, which gible capital assets are recorded at cost, which gible capital assets are recorded at cost, which 
construction, development or betterment of the assstruction, development or betterment ostruction, development or betterment ostruction, development or betterment o
excluding land, is amortized on a straight line basuding land, is amortized on a straight line buding land, is amortized on a straight line buding land, is amortized on a straight line b

d improvementsd improvemd improvemd improvem StraighStraStraStra
StrStStSt

quipmentttt



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

(m) Non-Financial Assets (cont’d)

(ii)  Contributions of Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets received as contributions or transfers from developers are recorded at their estimated fair value 
at the date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue.

(iii)  Works of Art and Historic Assets

The City and the Museum and Archives Commission manages and controls various works of art and non-operational 
historic assets including buildings, artifacts, paintings and sculptures located at City sites and public display areas.

Works of art and historic assets are not recorded as assets in these consolidated financial statements.

(iv)  Natural Resources

Horticultural assets such as treed areas, grassy areas and gardens are not recognized as assets in the consolidated 
financial statements.

(v)  Interest Capitalization

The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tangible capital asset.

(vi) Leased Tangible Capital Assets

Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as 
leased tangible capital assets.  All other leases are accounted for as operating leases and the payments are charged 
to expenses as incurred.

(vii)  Inventories

Inventories held for consumption are recorded at the lower of weighted average cost and replacement cost.

(n) Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Areas requiring 
significant estimation are post-employment benefits, compensated absences and termination benefits and estimated useful life 
of tangible capital assets. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

(o) Segment Disclosure

A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for which it is appropriate to separately 
report financial information related to expenses. See note 12.

dra
ft

dra
ft

velopers are recorded at their velopers are recorded at their velopers are recorded at their velopers are recorded at their es

on manages and controls various works of art and nonontrols various works of art and nonontrols various works of art and nonontrols various works of art and non----operational operationaoperationaoperationa
ntings and sculptures located at City sites and public display areas. located at City sites and public display areas. located at City sites and public display areas. located at City sites and public display areas.

ecorded as assets in these consolidated financial statements. financial s financial s financial s

as treed areas, grassy areas and gardens are not recognized as assets in tareas and gardens are not recognized as assets in areas and gardens are not recognized as assets in areas and gardens are not recognized as assets in 

pitalization

does not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tangdoes not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tandoes not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tandoes not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tan

i) Leased Tangible Capital Assetsased Tangible Capital Assetsased Tangible Capital Assetsased Tangible Capital Assets

Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and ansfer substantially all of the beneansfer substantially all of the beneansfer substantially all of the bene risks incidenta
leased tangible capital assets.  All other leases are accounted for gible capital assets.  All other leases aregible capital assets.  All other leases aregible capital assets.  All other leases are
to expenses as incurred.enses as incurred.enses as incurred.enses as incurred.

(vii)  In In In Inventoriesvenvenven

Inventories held for consumptintories ntories ntories on are recorded at are recordedare recordedare recorded

consolidated financiaconsolidated financiaconsolidated financiaconsolidated financia
the consolida

emplo



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (con’t)

(p) Contaminated Sites

A liability for contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive use or an unexpected event has occurred and the 
following criteria are met:

i) An environmental standard exists;
ii) Contamination exceeds the environmental standard;
iii) The City is directly responsible or accepts responsibility;
iv) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and
v) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made

The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including operation, maintenance and 
monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy for a contaminated site.

dra
ft

dra
ft

use use use use or an unexpected event hasor an unexpected event hor an unexpected event hor an unexpected event h

sibility;
l be given up; and

e made

mate of the cost of post-remediation inclnclnclncluding operation, maintenance anuding operation, maintenance auding operation, maintenance auding operation, maintenance a
ediation strategy for a contaminated site.a contaminatea contaminatea contaminate



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

3.  INVESTMENTS

(a) Temporary Investments

The fair value of temporary investments at December 31, 2021 was $106,252,156 (2020 - $60,316,506). Financial instruments 
included in temporary investments range in maturity date from January 7, 2022 to December 30, 2022, and range in yield from 
0.50% to 5.35%. Included in temporary investments is $50,351,077 in High Interest Savings Accounts.

(b) Portfolio Investments

The fair value of portfolio investments at December 31, 2021 was $91,472,860 (2020 - $116,309,955). These investments range 
in maturity from January 31, 2023 to May 15, 2031, and range in yield from 1.30% to 7.52%.

4. INVESTMENT IN LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION (“LEC”)

The City owns all the issued and outstanding shares of LEC, which was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 
(British Columbia) on July 7, 2003. LEC operates a district energy system providing hydronic energy to residential, institutional
and commercial buildings in the City of North Vancouver.

Summarized financial information relating to LEC is as follows:
2021 2020

Cash and accounts receivable $           2,956 $           3,316
Plant and equipment            37,381            36,179
Other assets                 711                 653
Total assets $          41,048 $         40,148

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $           2,173 $           1,878
Deferred contributions              7,322              7,340
Debt            26,940            26,983
Total Liabilities $         36,435 $         36,201

Shareholder’s equity $           4,613 $           3,947

Total revenue $           8,277 $           7,282
Total expenses              7,611              6,044
Net income $              666 $           1,238

                                                                                                   

dra
ft

dra
ft

,156,156,156,156 (2020(20(20(20 ---- $60,316,506$60,316,506$60,316,506$60,316,506)))).... FFFFina
2020202022222 to to to to December December December December 30303030,,,, 2022022022022222, and range, a, a, a

High Interest Savings Accountsh Interest Savings Accountsh Interest Savings Accountsh Interest Savings Accounts....

021 was $91,472,860 (2020(2020(2020(2020 ---- $$$$116,309,955116,30116,30116,30 ). These investments range nvestments range nvestments range nvestments range 
nd range in yield from 1.30000%%%% to ttt 7.52.52.52.52%.%.%.%.

CORPORATION (“LEC”)LEC”)LEC”)LEC”)

standing shares of LEC, which was incorporated under the EC, which was incorporatedEC, which was incorporatedEC, which was incorporated Business CorpBusiness CBusiness CBusiness C
LEC operates a district energy system providing hydronic ct energy system providing hydronct energy system providing hydronct energy system providing hydron energy to residenresideresidereside

City of North Vancouver....

ormation relating to LEC is as follows:LEC is as follows:LEC is as follows:LEC is as follows:
2021 2020222rarraracounts receivableounts reounts reounts re $           2,956 $           3,316$           3,316$           3,316$           3,316

d equipmentpmentpmentpment                  37,381                                       36,17936,17936,17936,179
assets                                   711                 65666

tal assets $          41,048$          4$          4$          4 $         40dradraradrdrrAccounts payable and accrued liabilitiesable and accrued liabilitiesable and accrued liabilitiesable and accrued liabilities $           2,173      2,173      2,173      2,173 $  
Deferred contributionsntributionntributionntribution              7,3227,3227,3227,322
Debt            26,940404040

al Liabilitiestiestiesties $         36,43$    $    $    ddddr’s equitys equitys equitys equity $      $$$dddd



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

4. INVESTMENT IN LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION (“LEC”) (con’t)

Included in the City’s consolidated statement of financial position is “Investment in Lonsdale Energy Corp.” in the amount of 
$4,613,000 (2020 - $3,947,000) and a loan receivable in the amount of $27,043,000 (note 5) (2020 – 26,518,000). Also, included 
in accounts receivable in the City’s consolidated statement of financial position are receivables from LEC in the amount of 
$668,000 (2020 - $524,000).

5. LOAN TO LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION (“LEC”)

The loan receivable balance of $27,043,000 (2020 - $26,518,000) consists of the following interest bearing promissory notes:

On August 1, 2018, the City converted amounts due from LEC whereby LEC issued a 5 year promissory note to the City in the 
amount of $33,661,966. The loan matures on August 1, 2023 and bears interest at 2.65% per annum. On July 15, 2019 and 
November 17, 2021, the City’s Council authorized LEC to borrow an additional $1,681,000 and $290,000 respectively. These 
Promissory notes carry the same terms. The promissory notes to the City have been partially drawn upon with a balance owing 
at December 31, 2021 of $27,043,000 (2020 - $26,518,000).

All loans are due with a 12 month notice period and bear interest at 2.65% (2020 – 2.65%). Interest revenue of $709,000 (2020
- $693,000) and Dividend revenue of $33,000 (2020 - $34,000) has been included in the consolidated statement of operations.

At the maturity date of the loan to LEC, the City may, at its discretion, extend the terms of the loan in whole or in part or LEC 
may repay the loan in whole or in part using either internal or external financing.

6. DEBT

The City has financed the expansion of LEC by assuming debt on behalf of LEC through the Municipal Finance Authority in 
accordance with the Community Charter. Debt principal is reported net of repayments and actuarial adjustments. The City 
carries no other long-term debt. The total debt issued, including future principal re-payments and actuarial adjustments on the 
net outstanding debt outstanding as at December 31, 2021 was $237,098 (2020 - $465,077).

Interest expense of $6,000 (2020 - $6,000) has been included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The interest rate 
on long-term debt is 0.3% per annum.

(a) The City has a revenue anticipation borrowing bylaw, 2020, No 8749 authorized to borrow up to $35M to ensure the City is 
able to continue providing essential services to its citizens. There has been no drawdown on the facility (2020 - $nil)dra

ft
dra

ft
Lonsdale Energy sdalsdalsdal

0 (note 5555)))) (2020(202(202(202 – 26,518,51,51,51
tion ation ation ation arererere receivableceivableceivableceivablessss from LEC from LEfrom LEfrom LE

518,000) consists of the following the following the following the following interest bearing promissory notes:interest bearing promissory notes:interest bearing promissory notes:interest bearing promissory notes:

due from LEC whereby LEC issued a 5 year promissory noteear promissear promissear promiss to the City in thCity inCity inCity in
 August 1, 2023 andddd bearbearbearbearssss interest at 2.65%intereintereintere per annumer annumer annumer annum.... On July 15, 2019

thorized LEC to borrow an additional $1,681,000 and $290,000 respectivelrrow an additional $1,681,000 and $290,000 rrrow an additional $1,681,000 and $290,000 rrrow an additional $1,681,000 and $290,000 r
s. The promissory notetetetes to the City haves to the City haves to the City haves to the City have been partially drawn upon with a babeen partially drawn upon with abeen partially drawn upon with abeen partially drawn upon with a

00 (2020 - $26,518,000000000).).).).

month notice period and bear interest atinteresinteresinteres 2.65555%%%% (2020(202(202(202 – 2.65555%)%)%)%).... IIIInterest reventerest nterest nterest 
d revenue of $33,000000 (2020(2020(2020(2020 - $34444,,,,000000000000)))) has been included in the consolidatebeen included in the consolidatebeen included in the consolidatebeen included in the consolidate

ate of the loan to LECe of the loan to LECe of the loan to LECe of the loan to LEC,,,, the City may, at its discretion, extend the terms of ththe City may, at its discretion, extend the terms ofthe City may, at its discretion, extend the terms ofthe City may, at its discretion, extend the terms of
loan in whole or in part using either internal or external financing.oan in whole or in part using either internal or external financing.oan in whole or in part using either internal or external financing.oan in whole or in part using either internal or external financing.

DEBT

The City has financed anced anced anced the the the the expansion expansion expansion expansion of LEC of of of by assuming debt suming debsuming debsuming deb on beh
accordance with the Community Charter.with the Community Charter.with the Community Charter.with the Community Charter. Debt principal is reporteDebt principal is reporDebt principal is reporDebt principal is repor
arries no other longher lonher lonher lon -term debt. The total debt issuedotal debt isotal debt isotal debt is , including dingdingding

utstanding debtng debng debng deb outstanding as at December 31, 20ecember 31ecember 31ecember 31 21 wa

ense of $6,000 (2020se of $6,0se of $6,0se of $6,0 - $6,000) has been ) has been) has been) has been
bt is 0.3% per annum.bt is 0.3% pbt is 0.3% pbt is 0.3% p

enue anticipation bonue anticipation bonue anticipation bonue anticipation borrrrrrrr
essential servti lti lti l



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

7. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

(a) Sick and Severance

Employees of the City are entitled to payments related to unused sick leave and severance upon retirement or resignation after
ten years of service. The amount recorded for these benefits is based on an actuarial valuation done by an independent firm of 
actuaries using a projected benefit actuarial valuation method pro-rated on services. The most recent actuarial valuation of the 
City’s future benefits was completed as at December 31, 2021.

Information regarding the City’s obligations for these benefits, including 100% of the North Vancouver City Library and its 
proportionate share of the North Vancouver Recreation Commission, and North Vancouver Museum and Archives Commission,
is as follows:

2021 2020

Benefit obligation - beginning of the year $         8,505 $       7,815
Add:    Current service costs 789 793
            Interest on accrued benefit obligation 186 222
Less: Actuarial (gain) loss (778) 598
            Benefits paid (796) (923)

Benefit obligation - end of the year $         7,906 $       8,505
Add:    Unamortized actuarial gain 480 (276)

Accrued benefit liability - end of the year $         8,386 $       8,229

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the City’s accrued benefit liability are as follows:

2021 2020

Discount rates 2.50% 2.10%

Expected future inflation rates 2.00% 2.50%

Expected wage and salary increases 2.58% to 4.63% 2.58% to 4.63%

The unamortized actuarial gain is amortized over a period equal to the employees’ average remaining service lifetime of eleven
years for the City.

(b) Council Retirement Stipend

Starting 2005, Council Members are entitled to a retirement stipend based on 9.98% of the individual’s total indemnity received 
subsequent to 2002. These amounts are accrued as earned and recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.dra

ft
everance upon retiremece upon retiremce upon retiremce upon retirem

ctuarial valuation done by an inctuarial valuation done by anctuarial valuation done by anctuarial valuation done by an
services. The most recent actuarial services. The most recent actservices. The most recent actservices. The most recent act

cluding 100% of the North Vancouver City Library a100% of the North Vancouver City100% of the North Vancouver City100% of the North Vancouver City
ssion, and Nortrtrtrth Vancouver Museum and Archives Commissih Vancouver Museum and Archives h Vancouver Museum and Archives h Vancouver Museum and Archives 

afaf
2021

aftaftaftaft
2020202202202

afafafaf$         8,505$      $      $      aftaftaft$       $       $       $       7,7,7,7,815818181afaftaftaftaftaftafafafaf789aftaft793793793793afafafaf186186186186afaf222222222222afaafa(778)(778)(778)(778)afafafaf598888afaafa(796(796(796(796))))afafafaf(923)rafrafrara$         7,906$       $       $       afafaa$       8,505$       8,$       8,$       8,afaafafafafafafrararara480aaaa(rararararrr $         8,386aaaa$  rarararaaaaararararaaaficant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the City’s accrued benefituarial assumptions adopted in measuring the City’s accrued benefituarial assumptions adopted in measuring the City’s accrued benefituarial assumptions adopted in measuring the City’s accrued benefi

2022022022021111 2020

Discount rates 2.2.2.2.55550%0%0%0%dradraraExpected future inflation ratesure inflatioure inflatioure inflatio 2.2.2.2.00000%0%0%0%

Expected wage and salary increasesage anage anage an 2.58% to 4.63%2.58% to 4.63%2.58% to 4.63%2.58% to 4.63%

rtized actuarial ed actuaed actuaed actua gain is amortized over a perd over a ped over a ped over a pe
ty.y.y.y.

ent Stipendnt Stipendnt Stipendnt Stipend

mbers are ent
mounts



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

8. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

(a)  Work in Progress

Work in progress having a cost of $71,357,000 (2020 - $57,677,000) has not been amortized.  Amortization of these assets will 
commence when the asset is in service.

(b)  Developer Contributed Tangible Capital Assets and Other Transfers

Developer contributed tangible capital assets and other transfers of $737,000 (2020 - $14,499,000) have been recognized during 
the year.

2021 Land Land 
Improvements Parks Buildings Machinery & 

 Equipment Vehicles Infrastructure Library 
Materials

Work
 in Progress Total

Cost
Balance as at December 31, 2020 43,909$    82,357$              55,508$    141,793$     23,382$              11,867$     244,320$                 929$          57,677$            661,742$      
 Additions 1,000         11                        149            7,897            1,134                  1,391          7,990                        236             71,357              91,165           

Disposals -                  -                           -                  -                     498                      673             1,548                        223             57,677              60,619           
Balance as at December 31, 2021 44,909$    82,368$              55,657$    149,690$     24,018$              12,585$     250,762$                 942$          71,357$            692,288$      

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at December 31, 2020 -$                16,655$              17,365$    66,996$        17,091$              6,491$       91,042$                   477$          -$                       216,117$      

Depreciation expense -                  2,428                  1,916         5,479            1,541                  692             4,830                        213             -                         17,099           
Disposals -                  -                           -                  -                     498                      572             722                           223             -                         2,015             

Balance as at December 31, 2021 -$                19,083$              19,281$    72,475$        18,134$              6,611$       95,150$                   467$          -$                       231,201$      

Net Book Value
December 31, 2021 44,909$    63,285$              36,376$    77,215$        5,884$                5,974$       155,612$                 475$          71,357$            461,087$      

2020 Land Land 
Improvements Parks Buildings Machinery & 

 Equipment Vehicles Infrastructure Library 
Materials

Work
 in Progress Total

Cost
Balance as at December 31, 2019 38,909$    76,101$              50,357$    126,685$     21,584$              11,327$     239,874$                 952$          49,339$            615,128$      
 Additions 5,000         6,256                  5,469         15,108          2,007                  810             5,634                        180             57,677              98,141           

Disposals -                  -                           318            -                     209                      270             1,188                        203             49,339              51,527           
Balance as at December 31, 2020 43,909$    82,357$              55,508$    141,793$     23,382$              11,867$     244,320$                 929$          57,677$            661,742$      

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at December 31, 2019 -$                14,322$              15,829$    61,812$        15,771$              6,088$       86,748$                   465$          -$                       201,035        

Depreciation expense -                  2,333                  1,786         5,184            1,529                  620             4,746                        215             -                         16,413           
Disposals -                  -                           250            -                     209                      217             452                           203             -                         1,331             

Balance as at December 31, 2020 -$                16,655$              17,365$    66,996$        17,091$              6,491$       91,042$                   477$          -$                       216,117$      

Net Book Value
December 31, 2020 43,909$    65,702$              38,143$    74,797$        6,291$                5,376$       153,278$                 452$          57,677$            445,625$      

dradra
ork in Progressressressress

Work in progress having a costng a costng a costng a cost of $of $of $of $71,35717171 7,000 (2020202020202020 ---- $$$$57,67757,57,57, ,000) has not
commence when the asset is in service.the asset is in service.the asset is in service.the asset is in service.

(b)  Developer Contributed Tangible Capital Assets and Otheper Contributed Tangible Capital Assets and Othper Contributed Tangible Capital Assets and Othper Contributed Tangible Capital Assets and Oth

per contributed ntributentributentribute tangible capital assetstststs and other and otherand otherand other trandra
f

dra
f

61,861,861,8$       $       $       15,77115,77115,771      $$$ 86,74886,74886,748$                  $                  $                  $$$
333333333                      5,185,185,18                              1,5291,5291,529                        4,7464,7464,746                                                         

---                                                            202020                                                454545                                    
16,65516,65516,655   171717$   $   $   171717$             $             $             $             $             $             

999 65,70265,70265,702$             $             $             6,2916,2916,291$               $               $               5,3765,3765,376$      $      $      $     $     $     afaf141,79141,79141,79$    $    $    11,86711,86711,867$    $    $    $          $          $          292929 $  $  $  aftaftyyy
 Equipment Equipment Equipment uctureuctureucture LiLiLi

MaterMaterMater

6,6856,6856,685 21,58421,58421,584$             $             $             11,3211,3211,32$    $    $    952952952$         $         $         $$$
15,10815,10815,108   777      810810810                                    180180180                                       

---                                                270270270                                                   203203203                         

ttaftaft
555            155,61155,61155,61$                $                $                357357357 461,087461,087461,087$     $     $     fftft18,134$             6,6116,6116,611 $         $         $         ---$                      $                      $                      010101ffftftftft091091091 6,46,46,4$      $      $      91,091,091,0                                          477477477$         $         $         $     $     $     

111 692692692                                                                                             213213213                                           
498                     572572572                                                               232323                                                             ffftft018181818 12,5812,5812,58$    $    $    250,762250,762250,762 $         $         $         tftft

aaa

,8,8,8 244,3244,3244,3                                 929292            
1,3911,3911,391               7,9907,9907,990                                       236236236                                 

673673673                                    1,5481,5481,548                     222222                                    ftftftftftftftftftftftftftftaftaftafafafafafafafafrarararararararadradra



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

9. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
2021 2020

Current Funds – general, water and sewer $           51,719   $           46,081   
Reserve fund            100,376            107,826
Capital fund            481,014            462,418
Accumulated surplus, end of year $         633,109   $         616,325   

(a) Current Funds – general, water and sewer

2021 2020
Appropriated:

General funds $      17,408 $      14,247
General funds – COVID-19 Grant 4,118 5,359
Water fund 2,547 1,975
Sewer fund 11,508 9,825

Unappropriated:
General funds 14,002 13,270
Water funds 1,446 715
Sewer fund 690 690

$     51,719 $ 46,081

dra
ft

dra
ft

20
      46,081444    t          107,826107,82107,82107,82

                       462,418462,418462,418462,418
        $$$$            616,3256,3256,3256,325            ftftffftft2021 2020202202202 fftft$      17,408 $      1$      1$      1$      14,2474,244,244,24

4,118 5,3595,3595,3595,359
2,547 1111,,,,975975975975

11,50811,50811,50811,508 9999,825825825825

14,00214,00214,00214,002 13,270
1,446 715

690 690
$     51,719999 $$$$ 46,081464646afafafafafafafaf



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
9. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (con’t)

(b) Reserve Funds

(c) Capital Fund

2021 2020

Capital fund

Invested in tangible capital assets $              461,087 $              445,625

Appropriated Capital funds                   19,927                   16,793

$              481,014 $              462,418

Balance Contributions Earnings  Less Balance
December 31, 2020 & Transfers Expenditures December 31, 2021

Machinery and Equipment
    Engineering 3,550$                        477$                            266$                            998$                            3,295$                        
    Fire 730                              2,137                           9                                   2,608                           268                              
    General 63                                -                                    8                                   6                                   65                                
    Computer 117                              38                                2                                   50                                107                              
Building 277                              -                                    5                                   46                                236                              
Local Improvements 794                              3                                   19                                36                                780                              
Affordable Housing 6,305                           670                              117                              108                              6,984                           
Tax Sale Lands 35,636                        -                                    649                              1,709                           34,576                        
Waterworks 4,691                           -                                    83                                -                                    4,774                           
Parking -                                    219                              130                              8                                   341                              
Civic Amenity 51,701                        5,281                           2,834                           14,855                        44,961                        
Justice Administration Accommodation 126                              -                                    2                                   48                                80                                
Streets DCC -                                    1,173                           -                                    1,173                           -                                    
Parks DCC -                                    1,569                           -                                    1,569                           -                                    
Lower Lonsdale Amenity 70                                -                                    -                                    62                                8                                   
Lower Lonsdale Legacy 2,662                           -                                    47                                78                                2,631                           
Infrastructure 166                              -                                    755                              652                              269                              
Public Art 504                              85                                10                                -                                    599                              
Marine Drive Community Amenity -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    
Sustainable Transportation 187                              88                                3                                   114                              164                              
Carbon Fund 247                              90                                4                                   103                              238                              
Water DCC -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    
Sanitary DCC -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    
Drainage DCC -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    
Total 107,826$                    11,830$                      4,943$                        24,223$                      100,376$                    

dra
ft

(c) Capital Fundndndnd

2021111

apital fund drred in tangible capital assetsngible cangible cangible ca $              4$        $        $        61

ed Capital fundsCapital fundCapital fundCapital fund                                           

$     dddd aftaftafafdra
f

dra
f

ngngng
ExpendituresExpendituresExpenditures

                                                998998998$                           $                           $                           
999                                                                              2,6082,6082,608                                                                                          
888                                                                  666                                                                                                                                 
222                                                   505050                                           
555                                                      363636                                                            

191919                                                                              780780780                                                                     
117117117                                                   6,9846,9846,984                                          

999                                                       34,57634,57634,576               
                                                         

219219219                                                                                                          
51,701   5,2815,2815,2815,281                                      2,834                                                                                            14,85514,85514,85514,855                                                                   

---                                                                                                                  484848                                 
1,11,11,1                                                                                                1,1731,1731,173             

                                       ---                                                                        ,569,569,569
                                    ---                                                                                 626262      

2,662                          -                                                                          47474747                                                                                                                   78                                                       
                                          755755755                                                                                       

504504504         555                                       101010                                                                                    
enity ---                                             ---                                                                        ---                                                                                                                                                   

n 187187187                                 888888   333                                                                                                         
242424                                    909090      444                                                                                                      

                                                               ---               ---                                                                                                         
                                                                           ---            ---                                                                                                         

C                                                                ---                                                                                             
107,82107,82107,82                              444$                       $                       $                       

ftftftft
dradradradra



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Property Taxes

The City is obliged to levy, collect and remit property taxes on behalf of, and to finance the arrears of property taxes of, other 
bodies as follows:

2021 2020

Total tax collected $    125,024 $     107,308

Less Collections for and remittances to other bodies
Provincial Government - Schools $        41,917 $        28,135
Greater Vancouver Regional District 1,935 1,719
Greater Vancouver Transportation Authority 10,033 9,499
British Columbia Assessment Authority 1,565 1,525
Municipal Finance Authority 7 7
BIA Lower Lonsdale Society 511 495

$        55,968 $        41,380

Property Value Tax $        69,056 $        65,928

(b)  Pension Liability

The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan). The board of trustees, 

representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets and 

administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a 

formula. As at December 31, 2020, the plan has about 220,000 active members and approximately 112,000 retired members. 

Active members include approximately 42,000 contributors from local governments. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan funding. 

The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s 

calculated contribution rate is based on the entry- age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and 

employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted for the 

amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.  

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated a $2,866 million funding

surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

The City paid $4,521,000 (2020 - $4,385,000) for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2021.

dra
ft

dra
ft

to finance the arrears of properto finance the arrears of propto finance the arrears of propto finance the arrears of prop

021 2020020020020

$    125,024 $     107,308$     107,3$     107,3$     107,3 ffffffffftft$        41,917 $        28,135  28,135  28,135  28,135
1,935,935,935,935 1,719,719,719,719

y 10,03310,03310,03310,033 9,499999
1,5651 5651 5651 565 1,525

7 7
511 495444

$        55,968$        55,968$        55,968$        55,968 $        41,380    41,380    41,380    41,380afafafaf$        69696969,,,,050505056666 $        65,928   65,   65,   65,raraaararaaaon Liabilityabilityabilityability

City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointlyyees contribute to the Municipal yees contribute to the Municipal yees contribute to the Municipal 

representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administemembers and employers, is responsiblemembers and employers, is responsiblemembers and employers, is responsible

administration of bf bf bf benefits. The plan is a multienefits. The plan is a menefits. The plan is a menefits. The plan is a m -employer defined benefiyer definedyer definedyer defined

formula. As at December 31, 2020t Decemt Decemt Decem , the plan has about 2, the plan h, the plan h, the plan h 20202020,000 act,000 ac,000 ac,000 ac

tive members include approximers incers incers inc ately 44442222,000 contributors from,000 contributors from,000 contributors from,000 contributors from

e years, an actuarial valuation is performed toears, an actuarial valuation is performed tears, an actuarial valuation is performed tears, an actuarial valuation is performed t

etermines an appropriate combined termines an appropriate combintermines an appropriate combintermines an appropriate combin

ution rate is based on the entrtion rate is based on the enttion rate is based on the enttion rate is based on the ent

s sufficient to provide sufficient to provide sufficient to provide sufficient to provide 

al funding surdididi



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022.

(b)  Pension Liability (con’t)

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the fiscal

year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for 

the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual 

employers participating in the plan.  

(c)  Contingent Liabilities

The City is currently engaged in or party to certain legal actions, assessment appeals and other existing conditions involving 
uncertainty which may result in material loss. A reasonable estimate of these future liabilities has been made where possible 
and is recorded in the financial statements as a liability. Where the outcomes or amounts or losses are uncertain management 
has determined that there are no potential material amounts involved.

(d) E-Comm

The City is a member of Emergency Communications for British Columbia, Incorporated (“E-Comm”), an organization comprised 
predominately of member municipalities, for the purpose of providing emergency dispatch services.  The City is represented on 
the board and as a class “A” shareholder has voting rights should the organization want to incur additional debt.

The E-Comm facility was constructed using debt as a financing mechanism and members are liable for a proportionate share of 
that debt. This debt is repaid by members through annual fees charged by E-Comm.  Should E-Comm dissolve, the members 
would be liable for a proportionate share of any residual debt.  Alternatively, should members choose to opt out of E-Comm they 
would be liable for a proportionate share of debt at the time of withdrawal.  

The City holds 2 class “A” shares and one class “B” share.

(e) Contractual Obligations

As at December 31, 2021 the City had entered into various construction contracts for a total outstanding value of $10.7M.

(f) Construction Loan Guarantee

On February 14, 2017 the City entered an agreement as a loan guarantor for the British Columbia Photography and Media 
Society for a demand construction bridge loan to a maximum of $5M not to exceed five years.dra

ft
dra

ft
f employer contributions memployer contributions memployer contributions memployer contributions m

n records accrued liabilin records accrued liabilin records accrued liabilin records accrued liabilities and acties anties anties an

allocating the obligation, assets and cost ocating the obligation, assets ocating the obligation, assets ocating the obligation, assets 

egal actions, assessment appeals and other existing conditions involving appeals and other existing conditions involving appeals and other existing conditions involving appeals and other existing conditions involving 
easonable estimate of these future liabilitilitilitilities has been made where possibes has been made where possies has been made where possies has been made where possi

a liability. Where the outcomes oe outcomes oe outcomes oe outcomes or amounts or losses are uncertainosses are osses are osses are manage
material amounts involvedvolvedvolvedvolved....

ergency Communications for British Columbia, Incorporated (“ns for British Columbia, Incorporated (“ns for British Columbia, Incorporated (“ns for British Columbia, Incorporated (“EEEE----CommCommCommComm”)))), an o,,,
r municipalities, for the purpose of providing emergency dispatch services.  the purpose of providing emergency dispatch services. the purpose of providing emergency dispatch services. the purpose of providing emergency dispatch services. 

ass “A” shareholder has voting rights should the organization want to incur aas voting rights should the organization want to inas voting rights should the organization want to inas voting rights should the organization want to in

facility was constructed using debt as a financing mechanism and members acility was constructed using debt as a financing mechanism and membersacility was constructed using debt as a financing mechanism and membersacility was constructed using debt as a financing mechanism and members
This debt is rebt is rebt is rebt is repaid by members through annual fees charged by Eepaid by members through annual fees charged by Eepaid by members through annual fees charged by Eepaid by members through annual fees charged by E----Comm.  Comm.  Comm.  Comm.  

be liable for a proportionate share of any residual debt.  Alternatively, should  proportionate share of any residual debt.  Alternatively, should proportionate share of any residual debt.  Alternatively, should proportionate share of any residual debt.  Alternatively, should
uld be liable for a proportionateoportionateoportionateoportionate share of debt at the time of withdrawal.  ebt at the tiebt at the tiebt at the ti

The City holds 2 class “A” shares and one class “B” share.class “A” shares and one class “B” share.class “A” shares and one class “B” share.class “A” shares and one class “B” share.

e) Contractual Obligationstual Obtual Obtual Ob

cember 31, 2021ber 31, ber 31, ber 31, the City had entered into variousered into variered into variered into vari

Loan GuaranteeLoan GuaranteeLoan GuaranteeLoan Guarantee

e City entered ttt
ction br



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

11.  TRUST FUNDS

Certain assets have been conveyed or assigned to the City to be administered as directed by an agreement or statute. The City 
holds the assets for the benefit of, and stands in a fiduciary relationship to, the beneficiary. The Cemetery Trust Fund, totaling 
$3,437,000 (2020 - $3,201,000), which is administered by the City, has not been included with the City’s accounts.

12. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The City is a diversified municipal government entity in the Province of British Columbia that provides a wide range of services 
to its citizens.  Certain functional areas have been combined and separately disclosed in the segmented information.  The 
segments and the services they provide are as follows:

General Government
General Government provides the administrative and legislative services that support the various sectors of the City.  Functions 
include financial planning and reporting, economic development and legislative services.

Transportation and Transit
The Transportation division aims to provide enhanced access to public transit, safe pedestrian and cyclist routes, enable 
accessible transportation for people with limited mobility and maintain existing infrastructure.  These goals are achieved through 
street design, traffic signals and signs, street lighting and road maintenance activities.

Health, Social Services and Housing
Health, Social Services and Housing encompasses a wide variety of City funded initiatives aimed at supporting the social 
structure and sustainability of the community.  Included are cemetery operations, youth and family support services, seniors 
programs and homeless prevention initiatives.

Development Services
Development Services’ focus is community planning, which includes land use guidelines, the management of City owned lands, 
heritage planning and development of the City’s official community plan.

Protective Services
Protective Services is comprised of the North Vancouver RCMP detachment, the North Vancouver City Fire Department and 
bylaw enforcement.  The North Vancouver RCMP detachment plays an integral role in the protection of North Vancouver 
residents and their property through crime prevention and detection, emergency response and victim services.  The North 
Vancouver City Fire Department is responsible to provide fire suppression service, fire prevention services and fire safety 
education.  

Parks, Recreation and Culture
Parks, Recreation and Culture provides access to recreation facilities, the operation and maintenance of the City’s many parks 
and trails, the North Vancouver City Library and the City’s participation in the North Vancouver Museum and Archives and the 
North Vancouver Recreation and Culture Commission.

dra
ft

dra
ft

directed by an agreemendirected by an agreemedirected by an agreemedirected by an agreeme
e beneficiary. e beneficiary. e beneficiary. e beneficiary. The Cemetery TrThe Cemetery The Cemetery The Cemetery 

t been included with the City’s accountsbeen included with the City’sbeen included with the City’sbeen included with the City’s

Province of British Columbia that provides a wide range of serviColumbia that provides a wide range oColumbia that provides a wide range oColumbia that provides a wide range o ceseee
mbined and separately disclosed in the segmented information.  The ly disclosed in the segmented information.  The ly disclosed in the segmented information.  The ly disclosed in the segmented information.  The 

ws:

trative and legislative services ve services ve services ve services that that that that support the various sectors of the City.  Fsupport the various sectors of tsupport the various sectors of tsupport the various sectors of t
g, economic development and legislative services.ment and legislative servicesment and legislative servicesment and legislative services

aims to provide enhanced access to public transit, safe pedestrian andanced access to public transit, safe pedestrian aanced access to public transit, safe pedestrian aanced access to public transit, safe pedestrian a
 for people with limited mobility and maintain existing infrastructure.  These gted mobility and maintain existing infrastructure.  These ted mobility and maintain existing infrastructure.  These ted mobility and maintain existing infrastructure.  These 

signals and signs, street lighting and road maintenance activities.et lighting and road maintenancet lighting and road maintenancet lighting and road maintenanc

l Services and HousingServices and HousingServices and HousingServices and Housing
ocial Services and Housing encompasses a wide variety of City funded inServices and Housing encompasses a wide variety of City funded inServices and Housing encompasses a wide variety of City funded inServices and Housing encompasses a wide variety of City funded in

e and sustaiiiinability of the community.  Included are cemetery operations,nability of the community.  Included are cemetery operationsnability of the community.  Included are cemetery operationsnability of the community.  Included are cemetery operations
grams and homeless prevention initiatives.s prevention initiatives.s prevention initiatives.s prevention initiatives.

Development Serviceserviceserviceservices
Development Services’ focus is community planningServices’ focus is community plServices’ focus is community plServices’ focus is community pl , which includes ich includeich includeich include

eritage planning and development of the City’s official communitning and development of the City’s official communning and development of the City’s official communning and development of the City’s official commun

ve Serviceserviceserviceservices
ervices is comprised of the North Vancouvices is comprised of the North Vancovices is comprised of the North Vancovices is comprised of the North Vanco

ment.  The North Vancouver RCMPent.  The North Vancouver RCent.  The North Vancouver RCent.  The North Vancouver RC
property through crime preveproperty through crime prevproperty through crime prevproperty through crime prev

Department is responepartment is responepartment is responepartment is respon



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

12.  SEGMENTED INFORMATION (con’t)

Water Utilities
The Water Utility, in conjunction with Metro Vancouver, provides safe, clean, reliable water to the residents and businesses of 
the City of North Vancouver.  

Sewer Utilities
The Sewer Utility collects waste water and transports it to trunk water mains and wastewater treatment plants operated by Metro 
Vancouver.  In addition to the collection of wastewater, the Sewer Utility also manages the City’s 150km storm sewerage system 
which diverts rainfall runoff from private property with an emphasis on flood prevention.

Solid Waste
The Solid Waste department provides curbside garbage, recycling and yard trimmings collection to the residents of the City of
North Vancouver.

13.  DEFERRED LEASE REVENUE

In 2020 the City entered into an agreement for the Harry Jerome Neighborhood Lands for a lease term of 99 years and 
included in Deferred Revenue is $49.9M (2020 - $51.9M).

Revenues
Wages & 
Benefits

Goods & 
Supplies Services Depreciation Capitalized Total

Annual 
Surplus(Deficit)

General government 88,129$           16,482$          4,949$            1,123$            5,141$            (4,484)$              23,211$          64,918$              
Transportation and transit 4,401               3,096              1,095              12,831            3,399              (11,555)              8,866              (4,465)                 
Health, social services and housing 662                  420                 118                 2,220              -                  (34)                     2,724              (2,062)                 
Development services 8,978               5,379              36                   2,079              -                  -                     7,494              1,484                  
Protective services 1,590               18,809            3,469              8,127              674                 (2,940)                28,139            (26,549)               
Parks, recreation and culture 9,039               14,632            1,552              18,234            6,239              (9,992)                30,665            (21,626)               
Water utilities 13,579             2,076              8,026              2,343              851                 (2,425)                10,871            2,708                  
Sewer utilities 14,225             1,784              281                 10,228            795                 (1,321)                11,767            2,458                  
Solid waste 3,081               1,478              79                   1,606              -                  -                     3,163              (82)                      
2021 143,684$         64,156$          19,605$          58,791$          17,099$          (32,751)$            126,900$        16,784$              

2020 159,057$         59,158$          16,139$          60,679$          16,413$          (34,303)$            118,086$        40,971$              

Expenses

dra
ft

dra
ft

reliable water to the residents areliable water to the residentsreliable water to the residentsreliable water to the residents

water mains and wastewater treatment plants operated by Meand wastewater treatment plants operaand wastewater treatment plants operaand wastewater treatment plants opera
ewer Utility also manages the City’s nages the Cnages the Cnages the C 150km storm sewerage system rm sewerage systemrm sewerage systemrm sewerage system

emphasis on flood prevention.revention.revention.revention.

e garbage, recycling and yard trimmings collection to the residents of the Cg and yard trimmings collection to the rg and yard trimmings collection to the rg and yard trimmings collection to the r

13.  DEFERRED LEASE REVENUEED LEASE REVENUEED LEASE REVENUEED LEASE REVENUE

020 the City entered into an agreement for the Harry JCity entered into an agreement for the City entered into an agreement for the City entered into an agreement for the erom
ed in Deferred Revenue is $49.9eferredeferredeferred M (2020 2020 2020 2020 ---- $51.9M)$51.9$51.9$51.9 .

afafdddddradraadddrdr
ds & ds & ds & 

ppliesppliespplies DepreciationDepreciationDepreciation CapitalizCapitalizCapitaliz

88,129$          16,482$         4,9494,944,944,94$                                   1,1231,1231,1231,123$           5,141414141$           $   $   $   (4,484)(4,(4,(4,$             $             $             $             $     
4,401              3,0963,093,093,09                   1,0951,0951,0951,095                               12,83112,83112,83112,831              3,399999             (11,555)(11,555)(11,555)(11,555)                                                    

662                 420420420420                                                       118111                            2,2202,2202,2202,220                               -                 (3(((                                                                             
8,978              5,3795,3795,3795,379                                                    36                  2,0792,02,02,0                                        -                                                  
1,590              18,809181818                                            3,469             8,1278,8,8,                                           674747474                                     

turetureture 9,039,039,039,039              14,632                                         1,552             18,23418,218,218,2                                   6,2396,2396,2396,239                   
13,57913,57913,57913,579            2,076                                              8,026             2,3432,3432,3432,343                                     851851851851                                                                
14,225225225225            1,784                                                    281                10,22810,22810,22810,228                 79797979                                                                
3,081              1,4781,471,471,47                                                    79                  1,6061,6061,6061,606                                                 

143,684$        $  $  $  64,15664,15664,15664,156$         $         $         $         19,605$         58,791$         $       

159,057159159159$        $        $        $        59,1589,1589,1589,158$         16,139$         $         $         $         60,679$         

ensesensesensesafafafafdradradradradradradrdrdrdr



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

14.  BUDGET FIGURES

The budget figures presented in these consolidated financial statements include 100% of the North Vancouver City Library and 
its proportionate share of the North Vancouver Recreation Commission, and North Vancouver Museum and Archives 
Commission. The financial plan was approved by Council as the Financial Plan for the Years 2021 to 2030 Bylaw, 2020, No. 
8822 April 12th, 2021. The table below reconciles the approved budget to the budget figures reported.

Financial 
Plan Bylaw

Revenue per Statement of Operations 124,684$      

Less:
Budget Adjustments for Consolidation (2,648)$         
Transfers from Reserve (1,908)            
Interagency Funds (5,451)            (10,007)         

Revenue per financial plan bylaw 8822 114,677        

Expenses per Statement of Operations 125,947        

Add:

Capital Expenditures (5,195)            
Reserves for Non-Capital Projects 1,694             
Transfer to other funds (3,501)           

Less:
Budget Adjustments for consolidation (21)                 
Interagency payments (5,451)            (5,472)           

Expenses per financial plan bylaw 8822 116,974        

Deficit for the year (2,298)           

Reserves and capital:

Capital expenditures (69,827)         
Depreciation 16,800          
Equity (17,407)         
Transfers from reserves 52,281          
External contributions 20,451          

Annual budgeted Surplus per financial plan bylaw -$               dra
ft

dra
ft

% of the North Vathethethe
d North Vancouver Mud North Vancouver Md North Vancouver Md North Vancouver M

an for the Years 20an for the Years 20an for the Years 20an for the Years 2021 to 203021 to 20321 to 20321 to 203
the budget figures reportedhe budget figures reportedhe budget figures reportedhe budget figures reported....

dra
f

dra
f

dddd
(10,007)(10,007)(10,007)   

114114114                     

      

   
s for Non-Capital Projectss for Non-Capital Projectss for Non-Capital Projects

er to other er to other er to other 3,501)3,501)3,501)

stments for consolidationstments for consolidationstments for consolidation                            
ymentsymentsyments (5,(5,(5,                                 

cial plan bylaw 8822cial plan bylaw 8822cial plan bylaw 8822

earearear                         

d capitad capitad capita

tal expental expental expen
ciationciationciation

from reservesfrom reservesfrom reserves
butionsbutionsbutions

er financial plan ber financial plan ber financial plan b

ffaaafafafafafaafadradradradrarrrrrr



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

15.  COVID-19 IMPACT

Subsequent to the previous year end, the impact of COVID-19 in Canada and on the global economy increased significantly.   
As the impacts of COVID-19 continue, there could be specific impact on the City, its citizens, employees, suppliers and other 
third party business associates that could impact the timing and amounts realized on the City’s assets and future ability to deliver 
services and projects. The full potential impact of COVID-19 on the City is unknown and cannot be reasonably estimated at this 
time.

dra
ft

dra
ft

he global economyobaobaoba
y, its citizens, employees its citizens, employee its citizens, employee its citizens, employee

zed on the City’s assets and futurzed on the City’s assets and fuzed on the City’s assets and fuzed on the City’s assets and fu
unknown and cannot be reasonably estunknown and cannot be reasounknown and cannot be reasounknown and cannot be reaso



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Schedule A – Unaudited
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

SCHEDULE A: COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant

General funds – COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant 2021
2020 Grant Funding Balance $       5,359   
Grant Expenditure:

Business Continuity (300)
Community Resiliency & Recovery (226)
City Services (567)
Response & Emerging Issues (148)

2021 Grant Funding Balance $      4,118

dra
ft))))

226666))))
(567777))))
(148)8)8)8)

$      4,118 fff



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Wf
CAODepartment

Manager Director

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PUBLIC SAFETY - BYLAW SERVICES

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Paul Duffy, Manager, Bylaw Services

Subject: 2021 BYLAW SERVICES OVERVIEW

Date: April 27,2022 File No: 01-0550-30-0001/2022

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Bylaw Services, dated April 27, 2022, entitled 
“2021 Bylaw Services Overview”:

THAT the report of the Manager, Bylaw Services, dated April 27, 2022, entitled “2021 
Bylaw Services Overview” be received for information.

SUMMARY

This report provides Council with an overview on Bylaw Enforcement activities in 2021. The 
goal of Bylaw Enforcement is to achieve compliance with municipal bylaws through fair, 
consistent, transparent and measured enforcement practices that support building a healthy, 
safe and prosperous community.

BACKGROUND

The year 2021 provided ongoing challenges and new opportunities as we navigated through 
new variants of COVID-19. Bylaw Services continued to respond to bylaw complaints, educate 
members of the public and gain compliance by assisting residents and businesses to make 
informed decisions based on the evolving Public Health Orders. With more residents working 
from home and the uncertainty caused by the pandemic, an increase in complaints were 
received. In 2021, 3,450 complaints were investigated, compared to 2,887 in 2020. The 
additional workload impacted the City’s proactive parking statistics, as staff normally assigned to 
parking enforcement were redirected to Provincial Health Order education and additional 
parking complaints

Document: 2172431



REPORT: 2021 Bylaw Services Overview
Date: April 27, 2022

DISCUSSION

Bylaw Services consists of four categories of employees; each assigned different functions 
within the department. In addition to the Manager, Bylaw Services, there are nine full-time 
employees, two full-time Bylaw support/screening staff, two full-time parking enforcement staff, 
four full-time Bylaw Enforcement Officers and a Bylaw Supervisor. One temporary full-time 
position and a small pool of auxiliary staff supplement parking enforcement. Staff utilize two 
automatic licence plate reader vehicles that assist with parking enforcement and four additional 
vehicles that support the remaining staff.

Since 2016, Bylaw Enforcement Officers have provided enforcement services seven days per 
week, with extended hours ranging from 6:30am to 9:00pm. Bylaw support staff continue to 
provide services during standard City Hall operating hours, Monday to Friday from 8:30am to 
5:00pm. The expanded coverage has enhanced staff response to a number of investigations, 
such as Sunday and after-hour construction complaints, on-street over-sized vehicle and 
recreational vehicle parking and animal control issues. After-hour complaints are monitored by 
the Manager, Bylaw Services, and addressed on a priority basis.

The City continues to see an increase in competition for curb space. Rapid Bus lanes, mobility 
lanes, ride-sharing, electric charging stations, curbside deliveries, scooters and e-bikes all 
compete for curb space, along with personal vehicles. In the past five years, Bylaw Services 
evolved by taking on additional enforcement roles, including a construction ambassador and a 
property use inspector. These changes impacted pro-active parking enforcement and contribute 
to a reduction in parking enforcement revenue.

Parking enforcement continues to account for a significant portion of the Bylaw Enforcement 
Officers’ regular workload. In addition to routine parking enforcement of time and zone restricted 
areas, response to parking complaints from the public occurs on a daily basis. In 2021, Parking 
Enforcement Officers attended to 1,973 parking complaints; an increase of 33% from 1,476 
parking complaints in 2020.

Table 1 provides data from parking related tickets issued in 2019, 2020 and 2021.

Table 1: Parking Related Ticket Data 2021
Bylaw Tickets Details 2019 2020 2021
Warning Tickets Issued 4,520 3,326 2,739
Total Tickets Issued Under Street and Traffic 
Bylaw 18,300 10,261 12,847

Total Tickets Issued Under Other Bylaws 175 263 220
Total Number of Bylaw Notices Issued 
(Tickets) 18,475 10,524 13,067

Total Bylaw Notices Paid 11,854 5,547 8,564
Total Bylaw Notices Unpaid 4,400 4,074 4,607
Total Tickets Voided (Errors/Lack of 
Evidence) included in unpaid total 2,221 903 1,465

Percentage of Bylaw Notices Paid 64.2% 57.6% 73.8%
Revenue Received from Collections1 $8,738.83 $12,415.62 $65,081.96

1 Any tickets not paid after 34 days are forwarded to the collection agency.

Page 2 of 5



REPORT: 2021 Bylaw Services Overview
Date: April 27, 2022

Bylaw Enforcement Officers enforce several different bylaws, along with the Street and Traffic 
Bylaw. Calls for service relate to any one of the following bylaws:

• Construction Regulation;
• Zoning (use of property, including structures and unapproved suites);
• Nuisance Abatement (unsightly and unsanitary conditions);
• Business Licence (assist Licence Inspector as required);
• Minimum Maintenance Standards (exterior physical condition of private property);
• Rental Premises Standards of Maintenance and Prevention of Nuisances (interior 

condition of residential rental properties and measures to mitigate rental property impacts 
on a neighbourhood);

• Rodent Control;
• Noise Control;
• Parks Regulation (animals at large, camps);
• Solid Waste Management Service (garbage pick-up, bins);
• Environmental Issues regulated through the Sewerage and Drainage Utility and the 

Stream and Drainage System Protection Bylaws (substances poured or draining into the 
City’s catch basins);

• Wharf Regulation (crab traps, other activities);
• Smoking Regulation; and
• Real Property Regulation.

Table 2 provides data on bylaw complaints investigated in 2019, 2020 and 2021.

Table 2: Bylaw Complaint Data
Call-for-Service Description 2019 2020 2021
Minimum Maintenance (ence in disrepair) 4 3 0
Graffiti 18 27 27
Noise (Other than construction) 71 90 130
Construction Noise 121 166 172
Nuisance Abatement (Debris/untidy) 254 254 306
Parks (41 homeless camps in 2020 vs 73 in 
2021) 19 64 110

2nd Cooking Facility/Unapproved Suites 70 58 71
Stream & Drainage 10 18 28
Standard of Maintenance 23 23 24
Sprinkling/Water 21 17 34
Street & City Land (Sidewalk obstructions) 236 224 163
COVID Complaints n/a 183 120
Wharf Bylaw 1 5 2
Zoning Bylaw (Structures/setback) 9 10 13
Business Licences (Operating without a 
licence) 1 15 5

Total 858 1,157 1,205

Page 3 of 5



REPORT: 2021 Bylaw Services Overview
Date: April 27, 2022

Animal Control Services is regulated by the City through several bylaws (i.e. Dog Tax 
Regulation Bylaw, Small Creatures Limitation Bylaw and the Parks Regulation Bylaw). The 
majority of calls for service for animal control infractions relate to contraventions of the Dog Tax 
Regulation Bylaw, which regulates the keeping of dogs within the municipality. Animal Control 
Services deals almost exclusively with dogs.

Table 3 provides data on animal related complaints that were responded to by Bylaw staff in 
2019, 2020 and 2021.

Table 3: Animal Complaint Data
Call-for-Service Description 2019 2020 2021
Stray Dogs Picked Up 12 9 9
Dogs Returned 11 8 7
Adopted Dogs 1 1 2
Dogs Euthanized 0 0 0
Off-Leash Education Interactions 
(City promotional dog leash 
provided)

40 55 48

Written Warning Tickets 3 2 8
Verbal Warnings 185 275 256
Tickets Issued 26 22 41
Dog Attack/Bites 39 37 42
Dogs Declared as Vicious 3 2 1
Noisy Dog Complaints 20 17 18
Dead Animal Picked Up 93 84 99
Chicken Complaints 0 1 0
TOTAL 433 513 531

Animal Control staff have been documenting their attendance at the 50+ parks within the City - 
in 2021, 1,185 patrols were recorded, 1,530 patrols in 2020 and 845 in 2019. Added patrols 
conducted on electric bicycles has extended and increased coverage.

Two Bylaw support/screening staff working at City Hall receive and respond to all email and 
phone calls from the public, create follow-up files for Bylaw Officers and conduct an initial review 
(screening) of any tickets that are in dispute. In 2021, staff worked through 478 ticket 
screenings, compared to 323 in 2020.

The City of North Vancouver utilizes a Bylaw Adjudication System that allows for the resolution 
of minor bylaw disputes at the local level, rather than through the Provincial Court system. 
Previously, anyone wishing to dispute a bylaw ticket had to appear in a BC Provincial Court, 
which can be an expensive, intimidating and time-consuming process. With the Bylaw 
Adjudication System, a provincially appointed adjudicator, centrally located at City Hall, hears all 
disputes. In 2021, the City held three adjudication hearings for 55 ticket disputes. This is an 
increase from 18 ticket disputes in 2020 due to the pandemic.

Page 4 of 5



REPORT: 2021 Bylaw Services Overview
Date: April 27, 2022

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The general goal of bylaw enforcement is compliance; ticket and fine revenue is a by-product of 
bylaw enforcement. Bylaw Services’ role has changed significantly since 2016 when the duties 
were primarily parking enforcement and nuisance related. Bylaw staff, with the additional role of 
acting as construction ambassadors, also investigate zoning complaints. These additional duties 
have impacted ticket revenue and, while ticket revenue is not considered a primary goal, it does 
assist in off-setting enforcement costs.

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

Bylaw Services staff work in collaboration with all of the City’s internal departments and external 
agencies, utilizing a measured approach in addressing any issues that arise. Our partnerships 
include, but are not limited to:

• Building Inspections and Engineering Development Services staff, through the 
Construction Ambassador in a collective team approach, effectively manage the large 
construction sites in the City. This position has been very effective in dealing with the 
impacts of construction activity;

• Environment on initiatives/issues, including responding to dumping complaints near 
drainage systems, catch basins and creek;

• Engineering on traffic control efforts, with street occupancy/use data collection, date 
entry, monitoring of the Resident Exempt parking program and participating in the 
coordinated elementary school traffic safety campaigns;

• Planning Division staff when responding to Land Use or other Zoning Bylaw issues;
• Parks on complaints related to homeless camp clean-ups, off-leash dogs, etc.;
• Support for large festivals/events in the City; and,
• RCMP on homelessness, nuisance properties and COVID-19 Provincial Health Orders.

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS

As the City continues to grow, there is an increased need to keep up with the pace of change 
and provide infrastructure that allows residents to move about as freely and seamlessly as 
possible. Bylaw staff continue to support the following City’s priorities under the current 
Strategic Plan.

• “A Prosperous City” where parking management supports new and existing businesses.
• “A Connected City” where parking management enables a sustainable way for goods

Page 5 of 5



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Department
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Larisa Lensink, Planner 2, Environmental Sustainability

Subject: CLEANBC BETTER HOMES MUNICIPAL REBATE CONTRIBUTION

Date: April 27,2022 File No: 11-5280-14-0001/2022

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, Environmental Sustainability, dated 
April 27, 2022, entitled “CleanBC Better Homes Municipal Rebate Contribution”:

THAT the City renew its commitment for another term to continue providing 
municipal top-up rebates through the CleanBC Better Homes Rebate program;

AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the Municipal 
Contribution Agreement with the Province of BC and BC Hydro.

ATTACHMENTS

1. CleanBC Better Homes Program Municipal Contribution Agreement, April 2022 
(CityDocs #2171817)

SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is to seek direction from Council needed to carry forward a 
commitment of $80,000 into a new Municipal Contribution Agreement with the Province 
and BC Hydro as the previous Agreement has now expired.

Document Number: 2171284 V1



REPORT: CleanBC Better Homes Municipal Rebate Contribution 
Date: April 27, 2022  

BACKGROUND

Since 2018, the City has been providing municipal top-up rebates through the 
Province’s CleanBC Better Homes Rebate Program to support City residents in 
completing low carbon home energy retrofits. The Program offers a range of rebates for 
energy efficiency and fuel-switching upgrades to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
from existing buildings. The City promotes the rebates through the Jump on a New Heat 
Pump program, in partnership with the Districts of North and West Vancouver. The 
rebates and top-up rebates are accessed through the Province’s CleanBC Better 
Homes Rebate Program and administered by BC Hydro, through a Municipal 
Contribution Agreement. The City’s top-up rebates and associated Jump on a New Heat 
Pump promotional campaign has evolved overtime as follows:

• 2018: $20,000 committed from the Capital Plan for initial Agreement
• 2021: Jump on a New Heat Pump campaign launched in partnership with the 

Districts of North and West Vancouver to build more awareness and increase 
rebate uptake

• 2022: New Agreement to reflect federal Greener Homes Program providing free 
energy assessments and to carry forward City commitment of $80,000, reflected 
in the June 2021 amended Agreement (Attachment #1)

The following table outlines the rebates currently available to City residents, including 
the City’s top-up rebates:

Upgrade CleanBC
Rebate

City Top- 
Up Rebate

Combined 
Rebate Value

Heat pump replacing fossil fuel- 
powered space heating system

Up to $6,000 $2,000 Up to $8,000

Heat pump replacing fossil fuel- 
powered water heating system

$1,000 $1,000 $2,000

Electrical service upgrade required 
for installation of electric space or 
water heating system

$500 $500 $1,000

The City coordinates with the Districts of North and West Vancouver to provide heat 
pump top-up rebates that are consistent in value to residents across the North Shore. 
To date, $26,250 in top-up rebates have been accessed by City residents, representing 
thirteen fuel-switching heat pump installations.

DISCUSSION

To continue providing top-up rebates through the Province’s CleanBC Better Homes 
Rebate Program, a new Municipal Contribution Agreement with the Province and BC 
Hydro is needed, as the City’s current Agreement has come to the end of its term. The 
new Agreement maintains the City’s current commitment of $80,000 ($53,750 in 
remaining funds) and has an end date of March 31, 2024.

Page 2 of 3



REPORT: CleanBC Better Homes Municipal Rebate Contribution 
Date: April 27, 2022

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The remaining amount of City’s contribution commitment of $80,000 can be 
accommodated within the existing appropriated funds of the Environment Strategy 
Implementation Project.

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Supporting low carbon retrofits is a quick-win action identified in the Climate and 
Environment Strategy to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from existing buildings, a 
key strategy in achieving the City’s climate targets and in advancing Council’s Livable 
City priority.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

Larisa Lensink
Planner 2, Environmental Sustainability

Page 3 of 3



 
 
 

CLEANBC BETTER HOMES and HOME RENOVATION REBATE PROGRAM 

MUNICIPAL CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT 

 

THIS AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made effective as of the 1st day of April, 2022 (the "Effective 
Date").  

AMONG: 

BRITISH COLUMBIA HYDRO AND POWER AUTHORITY, a British Columbia Crown 
Corporation with its head office at 333 Dunsmuir Street, Vancouver, BC V6B 5R3  

 (hereinafter “BC Hydro”) 

AND: 

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA, 
represented by the Minister of ENERGY, MINES AND LOW CARBON INNOVATION, ENERGY 
EFFICIENCY BRANCH, having an office at 1810 Blanshard Street, Victoria, BC V8T 4J1 

(the “Province”) 

AND: 

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, having an office at 141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC, 
V7M 1H9  

 (hereinafter the “Municipality”) 
 

WHEREAS: 

A. The Province has engaged BC Hydro (the “Program Delivery Provider”) to administer the Province’s 
program currently referred to as CleanBC Better Homes (previously referred to as the CleanBC Better 
Homes Program) (the “Program”), which is integrated with the Program Delivery Provider’s Home 
Renovation Rebate Program (the “Home Renovation Program”). 

B. The goal of the Program is to reduce the energy consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 
of participants by providing them with financial incentives to undertake energy efficiency and 
electrification upgrades.  

C. The Municipality wishes to participate in the Program by providing additional funding to participants that 
reside within the legal boundary of the Municipality and are eligible for the energy efficiency and 
electrification incentives under the Program, as more particularly described in Schedule A (“Municipal 
Offers”).  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual agreements between the parties hereto 
and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1) Program   

a) The Program Delivery Provider shall be responsible for implementing and administering the 
Program, including the Municipal Offers, all in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Program and the Home Renovation Program.  

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 1�



b) The Program Delivery Provider will pay the Municipal Offer to eligible Program participants and 
be entitled to reimbursement from the Municipality in accordance with section 5. 

c) Despite the Municipality providing the Municipal Offers, the parties agree the Program Delivery 
Provider will manage the customer interface and relationship, and despite any consent 
obtained from the customer with respect to the disclosure of their personal information (as that 
term is defined in the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (“FOIPPA”)), the 
Municipality will not receive or have control of, for the purpose of the FOIPPA, the personal 
information held by the Program Delivery Provider. In the event the Municipality receives any 
such personal information, the Municipality will be subject to the privacy obligations set out in 
section 3. 

2) Funding 

The Municipality has or will contribute funding to the Program for measures specified in Schedule 
A that shall not in any circumstances whatsoever exceed $80,000, in accordance with the following 
funding contribution schedule. 

Contribution Date Contribution Amount 
September 28, 2018 $20,000 
May 1, 2021 $60,000 

Total $80,000 

The Program Delivery Provider will manage the funding and when the funding is exhausted, the 
Municipal Offer will no longer be available to participants in the Municipality unless this agreement 
is amended to reflect additional funding. All of the funding will be applied and allocated within the 
Program solely for funding Municipal Offers. Any funding provided for the Program prior to the 
Effective Date will be applied to this Agreement.   

3) Records and Reporting 

a) During the Term (as hereinafter defined), and subject to applicable laws, the Program Delivery 
Provider will provide the Municipality with quarterly written reports, in a form to be determined 
by the Program Delivery Provider, concerning Program participation to the extent that 
participation relates to Municipal Offers within the legal boundaries of the Municipality, including 
a statement verifying participants are within the legal boundary of the municipality; housing 
type, housing age, incentive dollars, measure counts and pre-retrofit fuel source for energy 
efficiency and electrification measures.  

b) Despite the foregoing, the parties acknowledge and agree that the data provided to the 
Municipality will be aggregate and/or anonymized data only. 

c) If the Municipality receives personal information, the Municipality shall only retain and use such 
information for the limited purpose for which it was disclosed to the Municipality and will not 
disclose such information to any third parties without the express written consent of the 
Program Delivery Provider.  Except when otherwise required by applicable laws, including the 
Information Management Act (British Columbia), the Municipality shall return, destroy and/or 
delete all records, in any medium, that contain personal information within thirty (30) days of 
written request from the Program Delivery Provider to do so, or in any event, within one (1) 
year following the end of the Term. The Municipality shall ensure the personal information is 
handled by the Municipality in a manner that complies with this Agreement and all applicable 
laws, and except when otherwise required by applicable laws, the Program Delivery Provider’s 
privacy policies. 

4) Advertising and Promotion 



The Municipality will not use the Province’s and/or Program Delivery Provider’s names, logos, 
marks, or any other intellectual property owned or otherwise held by the Province and/or Program 
Delivery Provider, in order to promote or market the Program unless the Municipality obtains prior 
written approval from the Province and/or Program Delivery Provider and such use by the 
Municipality is in accordance with any terms, conditions and specifications required by the Province 
and/or Program Delivery Provider.  

5) Payment and Invoicing 

Concurrent with a quarterly report provided under section 3, the Program Delivery Provider will 
submit an invoice to the Municipality identifying the Municipal Offers paid to eligible participants by 
the Program Delivery Provider during the reporting period for reimbursement. The Municipality will 
pay each invoice within 30 days of their delivery to the Municipality. The Program Delivery Provider 
will pay their customers directly, within 90 days of receipt of required deliverables from the 
customer, subject to approval, verification and inspection. The Municipality will receive a final 
invoice nine (9) months after the term end date.  

6) Term and Termination 

This Agreement shall commence as of the date first written above and shall automatically terminate 
on March 31, 2024 (the “Term”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any party hereto may terminate 
this Agreement with 90 days prior written notice to the other parties hereto for any reason. If this 
Agreement is terminated prior to the expiry of the Term, the parties will pay all amounts accrued or 
committed to be paid under the Program up to the applicable termination date. At any time prior to 
the end of the Term, the parties may, upon mutual written agreement, renew such Term for further 
successive periods of one year each. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement shall 
automatically terminate upon termination of the Program for any reason whatsoever.     

The Municipality acknowledges that BC Hydro is a “public utility” as defined in the Utilities 
Commission Act (British Columbia), and that this Agreement and the supply of funding to support 
it may be subject to approval by the British Columbia Utilities Commission (the “BCUC”). In the 
event that support for BC Hydro’s funding of the Program, or this Agreement, is challenged, 
withdrawn, or denied by the BCUC, BC Hydro may terminate this Agreement without damages or 
penalty whatsoever by giving the other parties thirty (30) days’ advance written notice. 

7)  Release 

Each party hereto acknowledges and agrees that the other parties, not being the designer, 
manufacturer, builder or installer of any of the energy efficiency or GHG reduction measures 
recommended or incorporated under the Program (including the Municipal Offers), makes no 
representations or warranties, express or implied, of any kind in respect to the energy efficiency or 
GHG reduction impact of any equipment or measures recommended, installed or incorporated 
under the Program, including, without limitation, as to fitness for the purpose or effectiveness of the 
energy efficiency or GHG reduction measures incorporated under the Program and no party hereto 
is responsible to the other parties, and each party hereby releases the other parties, for any claim, 
cause of action, loss and damages arising from the installation, operation or maintenance of such 
measures.   

8) Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy 

The Municipality shall ensure that all personal information that is collected, used, or disclosed by 
the Municipality pursuant to this Agreement is done so in accordance with all applicable privacy 
laws including, the British Columbia Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act and 
Schedule B attached hereto.  

9) Notices 



A notice that any party hereto may be required or may desire to give any other party, including 
invoices, will be in writing and will be given to and received by the addressee on the day when it is 
delivered, by hand, by courier, by registered mail, or by electronic mail at the following addresses: 

  In the case of notices to BC Hydro: 

BC Hydro Conservation and Energy Management 
333 Dunsmuir Street, 5th Floor 
Vancouver, BC V6B 5R3 
 
E-mail: kari.montrichard@bchydro.com  
Attention: Kari Montrichard 

In the case of notices to the Province: 

  BC Ministry of Energy, Mines and Low Carbon Innovation 
  Energy Efficiency Branch,    
  PO Box 9314 Stn Prov Govt 
  Victoria, BC V8W 9N1 
 
  E-mail: katherine.muncaster@gov.bc.ca  
  Attention: Katherine Muncaster 

 
In the case of notices to the Municipality: 
 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 
 
Email: llensink@cnv.org  
Attention: Larisa Lensink 

 
Any party may from time to time change its address for notices or communications under this 
Agreement by giving a notice in writing to the other party. 

10) Dispute Resolution 

a) Except as expressly otherwise provided in this Agreement, all disputes, questions or 
controversies arising out of or connected with this Agreement and the business relationship 
arising from this Agreement (individually, a "Dispute" and collectively, "Disputes") shall be 
resolved as provided in this section. 

b) Where a Dispute arises, each party will within two days after receiving from or delivering to the 
other parties written notice of dispute (a "Dispute Notice") setting out the matters in dispute, 
designate one of its senior management as its representative for the purposes of attempting to 
negotiate a resolution.  The representatives so appointed shall meet and attempt to resolve the 
Dispute. 

c) Any Dispute that has not been resolved within 20 days of the receipt of a Dispute Notice shall 
be referred to and finally determined by arbitration. There shall be a single arbitrator, provided 
that, if the parties cannot agree on a person to be appointed as the single arbitrator within 14 
days prior to the commencement of the arbitration, then the number of arbitrators will be five, 
one appointed by each of BC Hydro, the Province and the Municipality (the “party appointees”) 
no later than 10 days prior to the commencement of the arbitration, and the fifth arbitrator 
appointed by the party appointees. The arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the 
Arbitration Act (British Columbia). The place of arbitration shall be Victoria, British Columbia, 
unless otherwise agreed to by the parties.  Unless the arbitrator(s) decide otherwise, each party 



shall bear its own costs relating to the production of expert evidence and legal representation, 
and all other costs of the arbitration shall be shared equally. An award or determination of the 
arbitrator or arbitrators or any three of the five arbitrators shall be binding upon the parties 
hereto, their successors and assigns. 

11) General Provisions 

a) The following schedules are attached to, and form an integral part of, this Agreement: 

Schedule A –Municipal Offers 

Schedule B – BC Hydro Privacy Protection Schedule 

b) Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed or construed to create a joint venture, partnership, 
employment or agency relationship among the parties hereto. 

c) This Agreement shall operate and take effect for the benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties 
hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. No party hereto may assign this 
Agreement, whether in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the other parties. 

d) This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by an instrument in writing signed by 
all the parties hereto or their successors or permitted assigns. 

e) This Agreement will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province 
of British Columbia and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein.  

f) Notwithstanding any other term or condition of this Agreement to the contrary, sections 7, 8, 9, 
10 and 11 hereof, shall survive the expiry or termination of all or any part of this Agreement 
and the Program. 

g) Time is of the essence in this Agreement. 

h) This Agreement embodies the entire Agreement between the parties with regard to the subject 
matters dealt with herein, and no understanding or agreements, oral or otherwise, exist 
between the parties hereto except as contained in this Agreement.  

i) Each of the parties to this Agreement will execute and deliver all further documents and 
instruments and do all further acts and things as may be reasonably required to evidence, carry 
out and give full effect to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.   

j) If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in whole 
or in part, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will attach only to such provision or part 
thereof and the remaining part of such provision and all other provisions hereof will continue in 
full force and effect. 

k) No delay or failure in exercising any right hereunder and no partial or single exercise thereof 
shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of such right or any other rights hereunder.  No consent 
to a breach of any express or implied term of this Agreement shall constitute a consent to any 
prior or subsequent breach. 

l) The Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as if all 
parties had all signed the same document.  All counterparts will be construed together and will 
constitute one and the same agreement. 

  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties to this Agreement have executed this Agreement by their duly 
authorized representatives effective on the date and year first written above. 

BRITISH COLUMBIA HYDRO AND POWER AUTHORITY

By:

____________________________________
Kari Montrichard 
Sr. Program Manager, Residential Marketing

THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

By:

___________________________________
Katherine Muncaster
Director, Energy Efficiency Branch

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

By: By:

Linda Buchanan
Mayor

Karla Graham
Corporate Officer



 

 

SCHEDULE A 

Municipal Offers 
 

Activities Municipal Offer 
($/participant) 

Offer 
Selection 

Offer Start Date  Offer End Date 

Electrical Service Upgrade $500 x October 1, 2019 March 31, 2024 
Heat Pump Water Heater Fuel 
Switching     

Heat Pump Water Heater Option 1 $350    
Heat Pump Water Heater Option 2 $1,000 x October 1, 2019 March 31, 2024 
Contractor Spiff Fuel Switching 
Heat Pump     

Contractor Spiff Option 1 $50 x September 28, 
2019 (retroactive) March 31, 2024 

Contractor Spiff Option 2 $300    
Heat Pump Fuel Switching     
Heat Pump Option 1 $350    
Heat Pump Option 2 $2,000 x October 1, 2019 March 31, 2024 



 

 

SCHEDULE B 
 

BC HYDRO PRIVACY PROTECTION SCHEDULE 
British Columbia Hydro and Power Authority (“BC Hydro”) is a Crown Corporation owned by the Province 
of British Columbia. As a Crown Corporation, BC Hydro is required by law to strictly adhere to the Freedom 
of Information and Protection of Privacy Act of British Columbia, and this Schedule, sets out the statutory 
requirements that must be met by all Contractors/services as it relates to personal information. This 
Schedule forms part of the Municipal Contribution Agreement (the "Agreement") among BC Hydro, the 
Province of British Columbia and the City of North Vancouver. This Schedule is applicable to BC Hydro and 
the Municipality (the “Contractor”) only. 

Definitions 
1. In this Schedule, 

(a) "Act" means the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act including any regulation 
made under it; 

(b) “Commissioner” means the British Columbia Information and Privacy Commissioner; 
(c) “Personal Information” means recorded information about an identifiable individual, other than 

contact information, collected, created or accessible by the Contractor as a result of the Agreement, 
or any previous agreement between BC Hydro and the Contractor dealing with the same subject 
matter as the Agreement; 

(d) “Privacy Course” means BC Hydro’s training materials; 
(e) “Service Provider” means a person retained under a contract to provide services to a public body 

and includes the Contractor; 
(f)  “Unauthorized Disclosure of Personal Information” means a disclosure of personal information 

that is not authorized under the Act. 

Purpose 
2. The purpose of this Schedule is to: 

(a) enable BC Hydro to comply with its statutory obligations under the Act with respect to personal 
information; and 

(b) ensure that the Contractor is aware of and complies with the Contractor’s statutory obligations 
under the Act with respect to Personal Information. 

Acknowledgements and Compliance with the Act 
3. The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that: 

(a) The Contractor will familiarize itself with, and comply with, those provisions in the Act that apply to 
Service Providers, including without limitation the restrictions on the collection, use, and disclosure 
of personal information; 

(b) It will provide BC Hydro with such information as may be reasonably requested by BC Hydro to 
confirm the Contractor’s compliance with this Schedule; and 

(c) All Personal Information under the control or in the custody of the Contractor remains under the 
control of BC Hydro, unless the Agreement otherwise specifies. 

Collection of Personal Information 
4. The Contractor shall only collect Personal Information that relates directly to and is necessary for the 

performance of the Contractor’s obligations, or for the exercise of the Contractor’s rights under the 
Agreement, unless the Agreement otherwise specifies or BC Hydro otherwise consents in writing.  

5. If the services rendered under the Agreement require collection of Personal Information, the Contractor 
shall collect Personal Information directly from the individual the Personal Information is about unless 
the Agreement otherwise specifies or BC Hydro otherwise consents in writing.  



 

 

6. If the services rendered under the Agreement require collection of Personal Information, the Contractor 
shall tell an individual from whom the Contractor collects Personal Information the reason for collection, 
its legal authority for collection, and the contact information of the BC Hydro Representative that can 
answer inquiries from that individual.  

Privacy Training 
7. The Contractor shall ensure that its personnel providing services under the Agreement involving the 

collection, use or disclosure of Personal Information complete the Privacy Course at the Contractor’s 
expense, prior to providing those services. 

8. Clause 7 only applies to the Contractor’s personnel who have not previously completed the Privacy 
Course. Completion of the Province of British Columbia’s privacy training course or a similar training 
course provided by the Municipality is considered equivalent to completing BC Hydro’s Privacy Course. 

Accuracy of Personal Information 
9. The Contractor shall make every reasonable effort to ensure the accuracy and completeness of any 

Personal Information it collects and uses to make a decision that directly affects the individual whose 
personal information is being collected or used. 

10. The Contractor shall make every reasonable effort to maintain the accuracy and completeness of any 
Personal Information it collects or uses as part of the services rendered under the Agreement. 

Requests for Access to Personal Information 
11. If the Contractor receives a request for access to Personal Information from a person other than BC 

Hydro, the Contractor shall promptly advise the person to make the request to BC Hydro unless the 
Agreement expressly requires the Contractor to provide such access and, if BC Hydro has provided 
the Contractor with the name and contact information of a BC Hydro representative to whom such 
requests are to be made, the Contractor shall also promptly provide that person's name and contact 
information to the person making the request. 

Correction of Personal Information 
12. The Contractor shall annotate or correct Personal Information received from BC Hydro within 5 

Business Days of receiving a written direction from BC Hydro to correct or annotate such Personal 
Information.  

13. BC Hydro shall advise the Contractor of the date of the correction request when issuing a written 
direction under clause 12 so that the Contractor can comply with section 14.  

14. Within 5 Business Days of correcting or annotating such Personal Information as required in clause 12, 
the Contractor shall provide the corrected or annotated Personal Information to any party that received 
the Personal Information from the Contractor in the one year period prior to the date of the correction 
request. 

15. If the Contractor receives a request for correction of Personal Information from a person other than BC 
Hydro, the Contractor shall promptly advise the person to make the request to BC Hydro. If the 
Contractor has the contact information of a BC Hydro representative to whom such requests are to be 
made, the Contractor shall also promptly provide that person’s contact information to the person making 
the request.  

Protection of Personal Information 
16. The Contractor shall ensure that all Personal Information is securely segregated, that the data integrity 

of the Personal Information is preserved, and that all reasonable security arrangements are 
implemented to guard against unauthorized collection, use, disclosure or disposal of Personal 
Information, and in addition shall implement all security arrangements that may be set out in the 
Agreement.  

Storage and Access to Personal Information 
17. The Contractor must obtain written consent from BC Hydro prior to using any service, system or third 

party that stores Personal Information outside of Canada. 



 

 

18. The Contractor must comply with the requirements under the Act concerning storage of Personal 
Information outside of Canada, including, if required by BC Hydro, by supporting BC Hydro with 
completion of such assessments as may be required by law. 

19. The Contractor must not change the location where Personal Information is stored without receiving 
prior written consent from BC Hydro. 

20. Without limiting any other provision of the Agreement, the Contractor will implement and maintain an 
access log documenting all access to Personal Information, including a list of all persons that access 
any Personal Information. The Contractor will provide a copy of the access log to BC Hydro upon 
request. 

Retention of Personal Information 
21. The Contractor shall retain Personal Information for a minimum period of one year if it was used to 

make a decision that directly affects the individual whose Personal Information was used or as specified 
in the Agreement.  

Use of Personal Information 
22. The Contractor shall only use Personal Information for the performance of the Contractor’s obligations, 

or the exercise of the Contractor’s rights under the Agreement, unless BC Hydro otherwise consents in 
writing.  

23. The Contractor shall not anonymize, aggregate or alter Personal Information for any reason unless 
otherwise specified in the Agreement, or unless BC Hydro consents in writing. 

Disclosure of Personal Information 
24.  Subject to clause 17, the Contractor shall only disclose Personal Information for the performance of 

the Contractor’s obligations and rights, under the Agreement, unless BC Hydro otherwise consents or 
directs in writing.  

25. The Contractor shall not provide Personal Information, of any nature or kind in any manner whatsoever, 
to third parties, unless otherwise specified in the Agreement or unless BC Hydro otherwise consents in 
writing.  

Metadata 
26. Where the Contractor has or generates metadata that is Personal Information as a result of services 

provided to BC Hydro, the Contractor will not use the metadata or disclose it to any other party except 
where the Agreement otherwise specifies or BC Hydro otherwise consents or directs in writing, and 
shall remove or destroy all individual identifiers, if practicable. 

Notice of Unauthorized Disclosure 
27. If the Contractor becomes aware of a possible or an actual Unauthorized Disclosure of Personal 

Information, the Contractor will immediately notify BC Hydro and provide all details that BC Hydro may 
request pertinent to the Unauthorized Disclosure of Personal Information. 

Whistle-Blower Protection 
28. The Contractor must not dismiss, suspend, demote, discipline, harass or otherwise disadvantage an 

employee of the Contractor, or deny that employee a benefit because: 
(a) the employee, acting in good faith and on the basis of reasonable belief, has disclosed to the 

Commissioner that the Contractor or any other person has contravened or is about to contravene 
the Act; 

(b) the employee, acting in good faith and on the basis of reasonable belief, has done or stated an 
intention of doing anything that is required to be done in order to have any person contravene the 
Act; 

(c) the employee, acting in good faith and on the basis of reasonable belief, has refused to do or stated 
an intention of refusing to do anything that is in contravention of the Act; and 

(d) the Contractor believes that an employee will do anything described in (a), (b) or (c). 



 

 

Notice of Non-Compliance 
29. If for any reason the Contractor does not comply, or anticipates that it will be unable to comply, with a 

provision in this Schedule in any respect, the Contractor shall promptly notify BC Hydro of the 
particulars of the non-compliance or anticipated non-compliance and what steps it proposes to take to 
address, or prevent recurrence of, the non-compliance or anticipated noncompliance. 

Termination of Agreement 
30. BC Hydro may immediately terminate the Agreement by giving written notice of termination to the 

Contractor, upon any failure of the Contractor to comply with this Schedule in addition to any other 
rights of termination which BC Hydro may have under the Agreement or otherwise at law.  

Interpretation 
31. Any reference to "Contractor" in this Schedule includes any subcontractor or agents retained by the 

Contractor to perform obligations under the Agreement and the Contractor shall ensure that any such 
subcontractors and agents comply with the requirements of the Act applicable to them. 

32. The obligations of the Contractor in this Schedule will survive the termination of the Agreement. 
33. The Act and its regulations take priority over this Schedule, and in the event of any conflict between 

the two, the conflicting provisions in the Schedule will be inoperative to the extent of the conflict.  
34. The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of this Schedule despite any conflicting provision of the 

Agreement or the law of any jurisdiction outside Canada. 
 



tn
Apartment
Manager

Director CAd

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Matthew Menzel, Planner 2

Subject: TERMINATION OF LAND USE CONTRACT & REZONING
APPLICATION: 818-858 WEST 15th  STREET (POLYGON
DEVELOPMENT 237 LTD. I SHIFT ARCHITECTURE, CD-745)

Date: April 20,2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0046/1

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated April 20, 2022, entitled 
“Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th 
Street (Polygon Development 237 Ltd. I Shift Architecture, CD-745):

THAT “Land Use Contract Termination Bylaw, 2022, No. 8925” (Polygon 
Development 237 Ltd. I Shift Architecture, 818-858 West 15th Street) be 
considered;

THAT the application submitted by Polygon Development 237 Ltd. I Shift 
Architecture, to rezone the property at 818-858 West 15th Street from Service 
Commercial (CS-1) Zone to Comprehensive Development (CD-745) Zone, be 
considered and no Public Hearing be held, in accordance with the Local 
Government Act,

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act,

THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” be secured through agreements at the applicant’s expense 
and to the satisfaction of staff;

AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the 
necessary documentation to give effect to this motion.

Document Number: 2134079 V3



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20, 2022

ATTACHMENTS

1. Context Map (CityDocs 2087737)
2. Land Use Contract, dated July 25, 1978 (CityDocs 2159234)
3. Architectural Plans, dated April 4, 2022 (CityDocs 2165782)
4. Landscape Plans, dated March 23, 2022 (CityDocs 2165781)
5. Advisory Design Panel Resolution, dated April 23, 2021 (CityDocs 2126331)
6. Integrated Transportation Committee Resolution, dated October 20, 2021 (CityDocs 

2110729)
7. Developer Information Session Summary (CityDocs 2154543)
8. “Land Use Contract Termination Bylaw 2022, No. 8925,” (CityDocs 2164174)
9. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8896” (CityDocs 

2147558)

SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is to:
• present, for Council consideration, a rezoning application for 818-858 West 15th 

Street (the “subject site”) to permit a six-storey mixed-use commercial and 
residential development; and

• terminate the existing Land Use Contract (LUC) over the subject site that is 
antiquated (Attachment #2).

DISCUSSION

Table 1. Project Information
Applicant: Polygon Development 237 Ltd.
Architect: Shift Architecture
Official Community Plan 
Designation:

Mixed Use Level 2 (MU2)

Existing Zoning: Service Commercial (CS-1) (with land use contract)
Applicable Guidelines: N/A

Site and Surrounding Uses

This 3,021 square metre (32,525.3 square feet) site is located mid-block along the 800 
block of West 15th Street between Fell Avenue and Marine Drive. The subject site has a 
frontage of 76.3 metres (250.3 feet) along West 15th Street. The site is relatively flat 
with a gentle drop of 0.61 metres (2 feet) from northeast to southwest. The proposal 
would replace the existing one-storey commercial building. Surrounding uses are 
provided in table following.

Page 2 of 12



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20,2022   

Table 2. Surrounding Uses
Direction Address Zoning Description OCR

North

809 West
16th
827 West
16th
855 West
16th

CD Zones
3-storey strata
3- storey strata
4- storey strata

Residential Level 5 
(Medium Density)
Max.1.6 FSRwith 1.0 
FSR bonus density

South 
(across
15th)

875 Marine
819-845 W 
15th
1451 Fell Ave

CD Zone
CD Zones 
and CS-1 
CD Zone

4-storey mixed 
use
1-2 storey 
commercial
Salvation 
Army Thrift 
Store

Mixed-Use Level 2 
(Medium Density)
Max. 2.0 FSR with 0.5 
FSR bonus density

East 814 West
15th CD Zone 2-storey

commercial

Mixed-Use Level 2 
(Medium Density)
Max. 2.0 FSRwith 0.5 
FSR bonus density

West 860 West
15th

CS-1 
(Service 
Commercial)

1-storey 
commercial

Mixed-Use Level 2 
(Medium Density)
Max. 2.0 FSR with 0.5 
FSR bonus density

Proposal

The application proposes a six-storey mixed-use building, with one level of commercial 
uses, including retail and services at ground level, and five levels of strata residential 
units within the upper levels. Parking access is provided off the rear lane to the north. 
The following table provides an overview of the proposed development:

Table 3: Development proposal overview
Element Proposal
Density 2.5 FSR

Commercial Retail
Space

Total of 1,020.8 square metres (10,988 square feet) or 0.34 FSR

Unit Mix 90 residential strata units, including:

• 65 one-bed units;

• 15 two-bed units; and

• 10 three-bed units (11 %).

Adaptable Units 25, Level 2 adaptable units (28%)

Page 3 of 12



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20, 2022

Element Proposal
Residential Amenity Indoor - 100.8 square metres (1,084.8 square feet) 

Outdoor - 271.7 square metres (2,924.3 square feet)

Policy Context and Planning Analysis

The subject site is designated Mixed Use Level 2 in the Official Community Plan (OCR). 
This designation allows for a mix of commercial and residential uses with a maximum 
density of 2.5 FSR (including 0.5 bonus FSR). A maximum height of 6 storeys is 
permitted.

Termination of Land Use Contract

The property is subject to a Land Use Contract (LUC), which acts like zoning 
regulations for the subject site and takes precedence over existing zoning. The original 
LUC for the subject site was registered on title to the subject site in 1978 (Attachment 
#2).

The LUC is now obsolete as a land use regulation tool. Municipalities in British 
Columbia have until June 30, 2024 to review all remaining land use contracts and to 
consider or encourage potential termination and replacement efforts. Pursuant to the 
Local Government Act all land use contracts will be automatically terminated on June 
30, 2024 and lands in BC subject to an LUC will revert to the underlying zoning. In 
accordance with Section 546(2)(a) of the Local Government Act, a LUC can be 
terminated by bylaw, with the agreement of the local government and the landowner. 
The owner of the subject site has agreed to the termination and discharge of the LUC.

In general terms, the LUC currently in effect on this site has the effect of waiving and 
varying the City’s Zoning Bylaw No. 3778, which was relevant at the time, specifically to:

• Waive the requirements of the RS zone;
• Permit the land to be developed and used in accordance with the requirements of 

a CS-1 - Service Commercial zone; and
• Allow a maximum lot coverage of 46.5%.

The LUC also outlines development conditions relating to the specific development over 
the subject site. These conditions relate to: size, shape and siting; permitted uses; car 
parking; loading; garbage; landscaping and service connections amongst other matters. 
The current LUC does not allow for residential land uses on the subject site.

The LUC has not been updated since it was created to reflect the current provisions of 
the Zoning Bylaw or OCP. Terminating the the LUC, which will expire in 2024 in any 
case, will allow for the proposed rezoning of the site for a mixed commercial and 
residential development, consistent with the OCP Mixed Use Level 2 land use 
designation, which is applicable to the subject site.

Page 4 of 12



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20, 2022

A bylaw to terminate the LUC with the agreement of the property owner and to repeal 
the bylaw that authorized the LUC (Attachment #6) would need to be adopted by 
Council in order to automatically put into effect the underlying zoning for the property 
(CS-1 Service Commercial). The property would subsequently be rezoned to the new 
Comprehensive Development Zone (CD-745), to facilitate the proposed development as 
outlined in this report.

Rezoning

Land Use

The proposed mix of commercial and residential uses are appropriate within proximity to 
the Marine Drive corridor, which is identified as a Frequent Transit Development Area.

The ground floor retail space is strongly supported as it would contribute to the vibrancy 
of the area, and local retail opportunities.

The proposed strata residential use meets the policy objective of delivering a diverse 
housing stock within the City. The proposed mix of unit types meets directions of the 
Housing Action Plan, including delivery of a minimum of 10% three-bedroom units to 
support families. The proposal also meets the Zoning Bylaw minimum requirement for 
25% of units to meet Level 2 Adaptable Design.

Built Form & Urban Design

The proposed built form is consistent with the character of the neighbourhood. The 
proposed height at 21 metres and 6 storeys complies with the OCR and will ensure the 
building integrates with future developments on adjoining lots. The proposal establishes 
a strong street wall along West 15th Street, with a large setback to the rear laneway to 
increase building separation to the existing residential uses to the north.

Extensive glazing treatments within the design of ground floor retail and commercial 
uses would enliven West 15th Street. The development will also deliver a publicly 
accessible pedestrian plaza area along the West 15th Street frontage, with opportunities 
for outdoor dining associated with the new retail units.

A high level of laneway activation and casual surveillance is also achieved through 
positioning of a secondary pedestrian access point for residents from the laneway and 
orientating the communal outdoor amenity area and upper level private balconies 
towards the laneway.

The faqade of the building has been designed with appropriate articulation through the 
use of steps and recesses along the elevations, which work to break up the form of the 
building and reduce the perceived bulk. The proposed development has also provided 
extensive landscaping treatments throughout the site which will soften the visual 
impacts of the built form.

Page 5 of 12



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20, 2022

Density

The proposed density is 2.5 FSR, which is consistent with the OCR Mixed Use Level 2 
land use designation.

Zoning Variances

The proposed Comprehensive Development Zone will be based off of General 
Commercial C-2 zone, consistent with the proposed use types and recent developments 
within proximity to the site, including at 850-858 Marine Drive. To allow the massing, the 
proposed bylaw would include the following modifications to the C-2 zone base:

Table 4. Summary of Proposed Zoning Changes
BASE C-2 ZONE PROPOSED CD-749 ZONE

Permitted
Principal Uses

Retail-Service Group 1
Accessory Residential and Parking
Uses

Retail-Service Group 1
Accessory Residential Uses 
(permitted on the second storey and 
above)
Accessory Parking Uses

Density
Maximum

2.6 FSR 2.5 FSR (in accordance with OCP)

Lot Coverage
Maximum

70 percent 52.1 percent (no change to C-2 
zone)

Height
Maximum

12.19 metres (40 feet) 6 storeys and 21 metres (in 
accordance with OCP)

Siting 6.096 metres (20 feet) from the 
Rear Lot Line

Rear Lot Line (Laneway): 9.4 
metres (30.8 feet) (no change to C-
2 zone)

Building Width 
& Length

Maximum 30.48 metres (100 feet) 
above second storey

Waived

Building Width and Length
The proposed development will result in a variation to the building width and length 
requirements set for the C-2 zone. The proposed development results in a maximum 
building width of 68.5m (224.6 ft) above the podium level.

Despite not meeting the relevant building width and length requirement, the proposed 
elevations have been designed with appropriate articulation along the length of the 
building, including steps in the building line, and inclusion of recessed balconies. The 
building also adopts a contemporary design, which utilizes a variety of fagade materials 
and strong roof line. These built form elements appropriately break up the form of the 
building, and reduce the perceived building bulk, despite the variance to building length 
and width.

The building width and length standards are regularly varied in individual 
Comprehensive Development Zones to ensure a functional built form outcome is 
established in mixed use areas and similar building widths and lengths have been 
permitting in a number of recent projects in the Marine Drive area.

Page 6 of 12



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20,2022  

Parking, Loading and Transportation

The site is located in the Marine Drive Frequent Transit Development Area, 
approximately 150m from the Frequent Transit Network and 300m to the closest 
RapidBus stop. The development is expected to generate approximately 90 vehicles in 
the peak hour, or around 3 vehicles every 2 minutes. The surrounding road network 
can accommodate this increase in traffic with minimal additional delay.

Vehicle Parking, Bicycle Parking & Loading
Parking and Loading for the site is accessed from the lane. The application includes 129 
vehicle parking spaces, 161 bicycle parking spaces and one off-street loading bay, all 
meeting the minimum requirements of the Zoning Bylaw. There are five residential 
vehicle parking spaces that are over the bylaw minimum. Staff have evaluated this 
provision; on-street parking in the surrounding area has a high level of occupancy, with 
parking on the fronting block at saturation during the weekday day time, and at around 
60% occupancy in the evenings and weekends. Staff support this provision.

Table 5 provides a summary of the vehicle, bicycle parking and loading provided.

Table 5: Proposed Vehicle and Bicycle Parking
Car Parking Total of 129 spaces, comprised of:

• 99 Resident parking spaces (including four (4) disability spaces);

o 1.1 spaces per unit;

• 10 Residential Visitor spaces (including two (2) disability spaces); 
and

• 20 commercial spaces (including four (4) disability spaces).

Bicycle Parking Residential:

• Secure-141 spaces;

• Short Term - 10 spaces.
Note: Nine of the 141 secure spaces have been provided for cargo 
bikes.

Commercial:

• Secure - 4 spaces;

• Short Term - 6 spaces.

Loading Spaces One at-grade loading bays.

Page 7 of 12



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20, 2022

Flood Hazard

The subject site is identified as being affected by the Potential Hazard Lands in the 
OCR. Specifically, a small portion of the site, in the south-east corner, is identified as 
being within a Flood Hazard Area in the City’s mapping.

The applicant has commissioned a qualified professional to prepare a Flood Hazard 
Review and Flood Assurance Statement in support of the application. This report has 
determined that, based on historical flood modelling prepared for the City, the potential 
for flood hazard of the design 1 in 200-year flood event at the site does not exist and 
therefore, no additional flood proofing for the development is considered to be 
necessary.

Relocation of Existing Retail and Service Tenants

To minimize impacts on existing commercial tenants, the applicant has been in regular 
communication and will continue to provide project updates of key milestones to tenants 
as the project progresses in the municipal approval process.

Staff have been advised that some tenants have already relocated. To assist tenants in 
finding new space, the applicant may consider allowing tenants to terminate their leases 
early given they provide sufficient notice, once demolition notice is served. Polygon may 
provide additional notice to tenants in addition to the minimum required in their leases, 
to allow tenants further time to secure a new space.

Density Bonus and Community Benefits

The City’s Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy, in conjunction with the 
Official Community Plan, allows for density bonuses beyond 2.0 FSR in the Mixed Use 
Level land use designation, up to a maximum of 2.5 FSR.

The proposed project would include community benefits valued at approximately $3.7 
million dollars, as outlined in Table 6 below.

Table 6. Estimated Value of Community Benefits through Density Bonusing
Density Value Calculation Value
Density Bonus to 2.0 FSR / OCP Density (@ $25 / sq. ft.) $ 870,052

Density Bonus to 2.5 FSR Max Bonus (@ $175 / sq. ft.) $2,845,955

Total Value of Community Benefits $ 3,716,007

The policy provides a number of community benefits options for projects seeking 
additional density and seeks to ensure the City receives value for additional density 
granted. The specific amenities and benefits included in the proposed project are 
described in Table 7 below and would be secured as conditions of receiving a density 
bonus should Council wish to proceed with the proposed project.

Page 8 of 12



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20, 2022

Table 7. Community Benefits Allocation
Community Benefit Value
A. Cash Contributions

Contribution to Community Amenity Reserve Fund (80%) $2,972,805.60

Contribution to Affordable Housing Reserve Fund (20%) $743,201.40

In addition to a CAC contribution, the following items would be secured as conditions of 
this development:

• Public art with a value of $90,000;
• A financial contribution of $125,000 for the upgrade of sanitary infrastructure 

services within the locality; and
• Reimburse the City for the purchase and installation of a stormwater flow 

monitor at a location identified by the City (approximately $50,000).

Legal Agreements

The following would be secured as conditions of the rezoning:

• Development Covenant;
• Servicing Agreement;
• Shoring, Crane Swing, and Staging License Agreement;
• Flooding Covenant;
• Community Energy Agreement;
• Good neighbour agreement; and
• Off-site Stormwater Management Encroachment Agreement.

ADVISORY BODY INPUT

Advisory Design Panel

The application was reviewed by the Advisory Design Panel (ADP) on June 16, 2021. 
The Panel recommended approval of the proposal subject to addressing the following 
issues to the satisfaction of staff:

• Consider adding an indoor and outdoor residential amenity;
• Improve CPTED issues on the lane setback and frontage; and
• Improve setback landscaping adjacent to the daycare play area on the lane.

Revised designs were subsequently submitted that address the above concerns to the 
satisfaction of staff.

Page 9 of 12



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20, 2022

Integrated Transportation Committee

The application was reviewed by the Integrated Transportation Committee (ITC) on 
October 6, 2021. The Panel unanimously supported the proposal and made the 
following recommendations:

• That Council direct staff to investigate improvements to active transportation in 
the area, including pedestrian and cycling facilities;

• That funds associated with this development be used to improve active 
transportation in the area should the development proceed; and

• That Council direct staff to investigate improvements at the intersections of 
Marine Drive & Hanes Avenue as well as Fell Avenue & West 16th Street.

Revised drawings were not requested, as the recommendations from the ITC were not 
specifically related to the proposed development, but rather the wider transportation 
network as a whole.

Furthermore, although not specifically requested in the recommendations, based on the 
discussions at the ITC meeting, a total of nine cargo bicycle parking spaces have been 
provided within the P1 level for residential use.

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION

A Developer’s Information Session was held on June 23, 2021 and was attended by six 
people. No comment forms were submitted following the DIS, and six emails were 
received. All of the emails received indicated support for the project.

Another email was received outside of the DIS process, which indicated conditional 
support.

The main reasons for support were:
• Increased housing supply;
• New commercial space for business to create a lively and activated street; and
• The well designed building.

The main concerns were:
• Retention of the existing oak trees along the street frontage;
• Desire for heat pumps and solar installations to be incorporated;
• The level of energy efficiency achieved.

A summary of the public consultation, as prepared by the applicant, is available in 
Attachment #7.

Staff response

The proposed development will involve the removal of four large oak trees along the 
frontage of the site, which are within the City owned boulevard. The applicant has

Page 10 of 12



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20, 2022 

commissioned an arborist to undertake an assessment of the existing vegetation on the 
site, which has determined these trees to be of poor health and structure.

The City’s arborist has subsequently undertaken a review of these existing trees, and 
verified the findings of the Arborist Report, and has recommended these be removed on 
this basis. From relevant on-site inspections, it is evident that the existing trees are 
negatively impacting the City’s sidewalk infrastructure and the asphalt surface of the 
parking lot and road. Therefore these trees are not considered to be appropriate for the 
urban context defining the subject site.

On this basis, staff support the removal of the existing oak trees and the replacement of 
six large street trees as part of the required streetscape upgrades. The chosen street 
tree species will be better adapted to the streetscape conditions, and will appropriately 
integrate with the new footpath infrastructure and services along the frontage of the site, 
as well as the proposed development.

The proposed development will also be designed to meet Step Code 3, ensuring a 
suitable level of energy efficiency is met, consistent with the City’s standards. The City 
currently has no policy framework which requires the installation of heat pumps or solar 
connections.

Process When No Public Hearing Held

On November 25, 2021, Bill 26 - Municipal Affairs Statutes Amendment Act (No. 2), 
2021 was given Royal Assent and most of the legislative amendments in the Bill came 
into force. This included a change to the Local Government Act to provide that a local 
government must pass a resolution to decide to hold a public hearing on a proposed 
zoning bylaw if the bylaw (ie. the default condition is that no Public Hearing is required). 
This replaced the former provision that allowed local governments to waive a Public 
Hearing.

Given the proposal’s consistency with the OCP, and feedback from the public during the 
consultation period, staff recommend that no public hearing be held for this application. 
The public would still have an opportunity to make submissions to Council for 
consideration.

Should Council wish to refer the application to a Public Hearing, the first active clause in 
the resolution should be amended to read:

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8896” 
(Polygon Development 237 Ltd. I Shift Architecture, 818-858 West 15th Street, 
CD-745) be considered and referred to a Public Hearing;

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

As discussed under the Density Bonus and Community Benefits section, this 
application, if approved, would generate the following monetary benefits for the City, in 
the form of a cash CAC contribution of approximately $3,716,007.

Page 11 of 12



REPORT: Termination of Land Use Contract & Rezoning Application: 818-858 West 15th Street (Polygon
Development 237 Ltd. I Shift Architecture, CD-745)
Date: April 20, 2022

These financial benefits are in addition to other City requirements such as DCCs, 
infrastructure upgrades and public art.

CONCLUSION

This proposal is in alignment with goals and objectives of the OCP and Council 
Strategic Plan to intensify employment generating uses, and to increase and diversify 
the residential housing stock along the Marine Drive Frequent Transit Development 
Area. The proposal will also contribute funds to support community amenities and 
enhancements through Capital Plan process.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

Matthew Menzel
Planner 2

Page 12 of 12



Fe
ll 

A
ve

Fe
ll 

A
ve

Ha
ne

s 
Av

e

Marine Dr

Marine Dr

Larson Rd

W 14th St

W 15th St

M
os

qu
ito

C
re

ek
La

ne

W 16th St

Tobruck Ave

W 15th St

Context Map: 818-858 W  15th Street
Subject Site

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 1�



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 1 of 24

Attachment 2



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 2 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 3 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 4 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 5 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 6 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 7 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 8 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 9 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 10 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 11 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 12 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 13 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 14 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 15 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 16 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 17 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 18 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 19 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 20 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 21 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 22 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 23 of 24



Status: Registered Doc #: F57202 RCVD: 1978-08-18 RQST: 2017-08-29
09.05.48

Page 24 of 24



jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 3�





















1

A6.01

1

A6.01

1

A2.20

1

A2.20

3

A2.20

3

A2.20

1

A6.04

2

A2.20

2

A2.20

1

A6.02

1

A6.02

2

A6.04

2

A6.03a

1

A2.21

1

A6.03

1

A6.03

4

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

1

A6.00

1

A6.00

2

A6.00

2

A6.00



1

A6.01

1

A6.01

1

A2.20

1

A2.20

3

A2.20

3

A2.20

1

A6.04
2

A2.20

2

A2.20

1

A6.02

1

A6.02

2

A2.21

2

A6.04

2

A6.03a

1

A2.21

1

A6.03

1

A6.03

4

A6.03a

30 SF
LOCKER

S-15

32 SF
LOCKER

S-13

32 SF
LOCKER

S-12

32 SF
LOCKER

S-11

32 SF
LOCKER

S-10

32 SF
LOCKER

S-09

32 SF
LOCKER

S-08

32 SF
LOCKER

S-07

32 SF
LOCKER

S-06

32.1 SF
LOCKER

S-05

34.2 SF
LOCKER

S-04

37.2 SF
LOCKER

S-03

32 SF
LOCKER

S-16

32 SF
LOCKER

S-17

28.1 SF
LOCKER

S-18

26.9 SF
LOCKER

S-19

1

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

1

A6.00

1

A6.00

2

A6.00

2

A6.00

32.6 SF
LOCKER

S-02

33.6 SF
LOCKER

S-01

32 SF
LOCKER

S-14



1

A6.01

1

A6.01

1

A2.20

1

A2.20

3

A2.20

3

A2.20

1

A6.04

2

A2.20

2

A2.20

1

A6.02

1

A6.02

2

A2.21

2

A6.04

2

A6.03a

1

A2.21

1

A6.03

1

A6.03

4

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

1

A6.00

1

A6.00

2

A6.00

2

A6.00



1

A6.01

1

A6.01

1

A6.04

1

A6.04

2

A2.20

2

A2.20

1

A6.02

1

A6.02

2

A6.04

2

A6.04

2

A6.03a

1

A6.03

1

A6.03

4

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

1

A6.00

1

A6.00

2

A6.00

2

A6.00



1

A6.01

1

A6.01

1

A6.02

1

A6.02

2

A6.03a

2

A6.03a

1

A6.03

1

A6.03

4

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

1

A6.00

1

A6.00

2

A6.00

2

A6.00



1

A6.01

1

A6.01

2

A6.03a

2

A6.03a

1

A6.03

1

A6.03

4

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

1

A6.00

1

A6.00



1

A6.01

3

A2.20

1

A6.03

1

A6.00

4

A8.03

1

A2.20

1

A6.04

2

A2.20

1

A6.02

2

A6.04

4

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

2

A6.00

1

A6.01

3

A2.20

1

A6.03

1

A6.00



4

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

4

A8.03

2

A6.00



1

A2.20

2

A2.20

1

A6.02

2

A6.03a

2

A6.00

1

A6.01

3

A2.20

2

A2.21

1

A2.21

1

A6.03

1

A6.00



1

A2.20

2

A2.20

1

A6.02

4

A6.03a
1

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

2

A6.00

1

A6.01

3

A2.20

2

A2.21

1

A2.21

1

A6.03

1

A6.00





1

A2.20

2

A2.20

1

A6.02

4

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

2

A6.00



1

A6.01

3

A2.20

2

A2.21

1

A6.03

1

A6.00



1

A2.20

2

A2.20

1

A6.02
4

A6.03a

1

A6.03a

3

A6.03a

2

A6.00



















REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-719

North Vancouver, BC 

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

820 W 15th St  

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. DOES 

NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES, AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING 

THE APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

NTS

COVER SHEET

L0.0

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-01-221

POLYGON DEVELOPMENT 259 LTD.

CLIENT

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-12-153

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-234

PROJECT INFORMATION

LANDSCAPE DRAWING INDEX
DRAWING INDEX

SHEET No. SHEET NAME

L0.0 COVER SHEET AND DRAWING LIST

INSPIRATION & DESIGN RATIONALEL0.1

L2.0

SITE PLAN

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
CONTACT NAME: KEN LARSSON, MARINA ROMMEL
2305 HEMLOCK STREET
VANCOUVER, BC, V6H 2V1
EMAIL: KEN@CONNECTLA.CA / MARINA@CONNECTLA.CA 
PH: 604 681 3303  EXT 223

L1.0

PLANT MATERIALS AND PLANT LIST

GENERAL NOTES
ALL LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS IN THIS PACKAGE SHALL BE READ IN CONJUNCTION 
WITH ALL OTHER LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS, DETAILS, SPECIFICATIONS, AND OTHER 
CORRESPONDANCE THAT MAY BE ISSUED DURING THE COURSE OF THE CONTRACT.

IF A DISCREPANCY OCCURS BETWEEN THE DRAWINGS AND THE SPECIFICATIONS OR ANY OTHER 
DOCUMENT ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROJECT, THE CONFLICT SHALL BE REPORTED IN WRITING TO THE 
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT TO OBTAIN CLARIFICATION AND APPROVAL BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH 
WORKS.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VISIT THE SITE TO VERIFY THE TRUE EXISTING CONDITIONS. ANY UNCLEAR 
ISSUES SHALL BE CLARIFIED WITH THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT. NO CLAIM SHALL BE ALLOWED FOR 
EXTRAS WHICH MAY ARISE THROUGH NEGLECT OF THIS ADVICE.

ALL EXISTING INFORMATION IS BASED ON AVAILABLE RECORDS AND SHALL NOT BE CONSTRUED TO BE 
COMPLETE OR ACCURATE. 

LAYOUT OF HARDSCAPE, SITE FURNITURE, SOIL, PLANTING, AND ALL OTHER MATERIALS IS TO BE 
STAKED OUT AND APPROVED BY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO INSTALLATION. 

ALL PLANTING SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CANADIAN LANDSCAPE STANDARD, LATEST EDITION.  

ALL LANDSCAPE AREAS TO BE IRRIGATED WITH HIGH EFFICIENCY IRRIGATION SYSTEM.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND ELEVATION OF 
ALL UTILITIES  AND CONCEALED STRUCTURES, AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING THE 
APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 
OPERATIONS. 

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 
ELEVATION OF UTILITIES OR CONCEALED STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT SITE.

FINAL SELECTION AND APPROVAL OF ALL STREET TREES TO BE DONE BY THE CITY OF NORTH 
VANCOUVER.

PLANTING PLAN L2.1

L1.1 LIGHTING PLAN

L4.0 SECTIONS

ARCHITECT:
SHIFT ARCHITECTURE
CONTACT NAME: CAMERON HALKIER
200-1000 WEST 3RD STREET
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C.  V7P 3J6
EMAIL: cam@shiftarchitecture.ca
PH: 604 988 7501

L3.0 PRECEDENTS & MATERIALS

ARTERRA - MARINE & 15th
820 W 15th St North Vancouver BC
LANDSCAPE SET: RE-ISSUED FOR REZONING/ DEVELOPMENT PERMIT
MARCH 23, 2022

L5.1 DETAILS

L5.0 DETAILS

L5.2 DETAILS

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 4�



REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-719

North Vancouver, BC 

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

820 W 15th St  

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. DOES 

NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES, AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING 

THE APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

NTS

INSPIRATION &
DESIGN RATIONALE

L0.1

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-01-221

POLYGON DEVELOPMENT 259 LTD.

CLIENT

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-12-153

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-234

VIBRANT RETAIL EDGE

The indoor amenity space opens up to an outdoor amenity that has a 
generous overhang and allows for activities to spill outdoors.
The fenced and secured sloped woodland native garden frames a terrace that 
features engaging seating areas for socializing, lounging around a fire table, 
and other gatherings.
The materials are: natural basalt stone and river rock, red cedar timber tops 
and furniture, and westcoast planting materials that are inspired by the 
natural materials found on the North Shore.

DESIGN RATIONALE AND PRINCIPLES

WELCOMING ENTRY
The building entries have been designed to provide 
comfortable, sheltered seating areas that activate the 
street level with spaces to relax and welcome social 
interactions. 

ENGAGING AMENITY SPACE WITH WESTCOAST FEEL  

Seating and planting along 15th street create a vibrant, friendly retail frontage 
that activates the street with points of interest. The additional seatings and 
tables add to the social communal program of the outdoor space.  

VIBRANT
RETAIL

WELCOMING
ENTRY

ACTIVATE
THE STREET

LIVELY
STREET

EDGEINVITING
SEATING

ACCESS TO
NATURE

LANDSCAPE

ENGAGING
AMENITY
SPACES

COMFORTABLE
SPACES TO
SOCIALIZE



15TH STREET

EL 14.59m

1+100

2+100

H

H

G G G

G G G G

G

G

G

LEC
LEC

LEC
LEC

200 WAT
200 WAT

150 STM 150 STM

250 STM300 STM

200 SAN200 SAN

T

LANE

EXHAUST 

LINE OF L2 
OVERHANG 
ABOVE

LINE OF L3 
FRAME 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 
BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE INDICATES OUTLINE OF 
PARKING

ELEV
.

ELEV
.

RESIDENTIAL 
EGRESS 

  E
G

R
E

S
S

 F
R

O
M

 
P

2

LINE OF L2 
OVERHANG ABOVE

EXHAUST 

MAIL

PARKADE ENTRY

814 
W. 15TH 
STREET860 

W. 15TH ST

PL 250'-1 7/8"
(76.27m)

PL 250'-3 1/2"
(76.31m)

PL
 1

29
'-1

1 
7/

8"
(3

9.
62

m
)

PL
 1

29
'-1

0 
5/

8"
(3

9.
59

m
)

GARBAGE
STAGING 

OUTLINE OF 
COLUMN 
BELOW - 
TYP.

R
E

S
ID

E
N

TI
A

L 
E

G
R

E
S

S 

LINE OF L2 BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 OVERHANG 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE INDICATES OUTLINE OF 
PARKING

DRIVEWAY MEDIAN ENTERPHONE

VESTIBULE

LOBBY

AMENITY

BG 12.63m BG 12.76m BG 12.90m BG 13.19m BG 13.34m BG 13.51m BG 13.62m BG 13.71m

BG 14.27m BG 14.38m BG 14.55m BG 14.68m BG 14.84m BG 14.99m BG 15.14m BG 15.16m

13.703 m
( 44.96' )

14.173 m
( 46.50' )

5.
0%

 
D

N

44.92'

5.
0%

 
D

N

44.92' 
FLAT

44.00'

14.173 m
( 46.50' )

44.92'

44.92'

44.92'

10.0% 
DN

12.0% 
DN

44.00' 44.00' 44.00' 44.00'

45.00'

45.00'44.00'

45.00'

45.00'

44.00'

44.00'
45.00'

5.0%

45.00'

45.00'44.41'5.0%
5.0% 44.00'

45.00'

45.00'

45.00'

BG 13.06m BG INT 13.10m BG INT 13.16mBG INT 12.99mBG INT 12.80mBG INT 
12.66m

BG INT 12.85m BG INT 13.46mBG INT 13.31m BG INT 13.38m

BG 14.27m BG 14.39m

BG 14.38mBG 14.36m

BG INT 13.66m

2%

2%

1.9%

EL 13.40m
EL 13.40m

TW 13.34mTS 13.34m

BS 12.70m

8.3%

EL 13.71m
EL 13.71m

EL 13.703m

BW 12.92m

TS 13.40m

1.7%

2.9%

TW 15.15m

EL 13.71m

TS 13.34m

2%

EL 13.40m

TS 13.34m

BS 12.80m

2.2%

TW 13.70m

EL 13.71m

EL 14.77m

BS 12.95m

FFE 13.72m

EL 13.72m

EL 13.72m

EL 13.7m

TW 14.15m

FFE 13.41mFFE 13.41m

EL 13.72m

EL 13.69m

TW 14.90m

TW 14.60m

14.5m

14.25m

5%

14.00m

TW 14.30m

FFE 13.71m

BS 13.14m
TS 13.73m

2%
13.71m

 13.47m

5%

TW 13.80m

TR 13.70mBR 13.40m TW 14.05m
BW 13.63m

BW 13.53m

3.5%

2.0%

2%

2%

2%

PROPERTY LINE

SITE PLAN
3/32"=1' (1:128)1

0 5 10 m

LINE OF 
PARKADE 
BELOW

NEW 2m CITY 
SIDEWALK REFER 
TO CIVIL 
DRAWINGS

2 CLASS B BIKE STALLS 
RESIDENTIAL 

6 CLASS B 
BIKE STALLS 
RESIDENTIAL 

2 CLASS B 
BIKE STALLS 
COMMERCIAL

2 CLASS B BIKE STALLS 
COMMERCIAL

2 CLASS B BIKE STALLS 
COMMERCIAL

PROPOSED NEW STREET 
TREES AND PLANTING TO 
CNV STANDARDS

ALL LANE PLANTING TO 
MEET CNV STANDARDS.

OFFSITE BENCH TO 
CNV STANDARD

CURB LET DOWN TO 
CNV STANDARDS

SOIL CELLS UNDER 
SIDEWALK
TO PROVIDE 25m3 SOIL 
VOLUME PER TREE
REFER TO CIVIL 
DRAWINGS

2 CLASS B 
BIKE STALLS 
COMMERCIAL

CURB EXTENSIONS TO 
BE PROVIDED. DETAILS 
TO BE DETERMINED AT 
DETAILED DESIGN 
PHASE

CURB EXTENSIONS TO 
BE PROVIDED. DETAILS 
TO BE DETERMINED AT 
DETAILED DESIGN 
PHASE

PLANTING AREA

LAWN AREA

UNIT PAVING TYPE 2 LINEAR
CHARCOAL

CIP CONCRETE 
PAVING 

ROUND DRAIN ROCK

BIKE RACK

PROPOSED TREES

MATERIALS LEGEND 

PATTERNED 
CONCRETE

CONCRETE SEAT WAL 
W/ BENCH TOP

GAS FIRE TABLE

CONCRETE STAIRS W/ 
HANDRAILS

UNIT PAVING TYPE 1 LINEAR
MIXED LIGHT & MEDIUM GRAY & 
CHARCOAL

CONCRETE WALL/
CURB

MOVABLE FURNISHINGS
BY OWNER

1.5m TIMBER FENCE
AND GATE

LIGHT BOLLARD

METAL PLANTER
WITH FEATURE SHRUBS

DINING TABLE

SEAT WALL WITH 
TIMBER SLATS

BASALT STONE 

TIMBER BLOCK SEATS

TRAFFIC BOLLARD

UNIT BLOCK WALL

OFFSITE BENCH
VICTOR STANLEY- RB -28 
BLACK POWDERCOAT 

REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-719

North Vancouver, BC 

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

820 W 15th St  

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. DOES 

NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES, AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING 

THE APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

3/32"=1' / 1:128

SITE PLAN

L1.0

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-01-221

POLYGON DEVELOPMENT 259 LTD.

CLIENT

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-12-153

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-234

BUILDING 
MAIN ENTRY

INDOOR AMENITY

OUTDOOR AMENITY



15TH STREET
1+100

2+100LANE

EXHAUST 

LINE OF L2 
OVERHANG 
ABOVE

LINE OF L3 
FRAME 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 
BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE INDICATES OUTLINE OF 
PARKING

ELEV
.

ELEV
.

RESIDENTIAL 
EGRESS 

  E
G

R
E

S
S

 F
R

O
M

 
P

2

LINE OF L2 
OVERHANG ABOVE

EXHAUST 

MAIL

PARKADE ENTRY

814 
W. 15TH 
STREET860 

W. 15TH ST

PL 250'-1 7/8"
(76.27m)

PL 250'-3 1/2"
(76.31m)

PL
 1

29
'-1

1 
7/

8"
(3

9.
62

m
)

PL
 1

29
'-1

0 
5/

8"
(3

9.
59

m
)

GARBAGE
STAGING 

OUTLINE OF 
COLUMN 
BELOW - 
TYP.

R
E

S
ID

E
N

TI
A

L 
E

G
R

E
S

S 

LINE OF L2 BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 OVERHANG 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE INDICATES OUTLINE OF 
PARKING

DRIVEWAY MEDIAN ENTERPHONE

VESTIBULE

LOBBY

AMENITY

EL 14.59m

PROPERTY LINE

LIGHTING PLAN
3/32"= 1' (1:128)1

0 5 10 m

CRU CRU CRU CRU CRU CRU CRU CRU CRU

WALL STEP LIGHT

DESCRIPTION SYMBOL

BOLLARD LIGHT

LED LIGHT STRIP
RECESSED UNDER BENCH

LIGHTING LEGEND

STREET LIGHT

BUILDING ENTRY LIGHTING
BY ARCHITECTS

REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-719

North Vancouver, BC 

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

820 W 15th St  

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. DOES 

NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES, AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING 

THE APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

3/32"=1' / 1:128

LIGHTING PLAN

L1.1

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-01-221

POLYGON DEVELOPMENT 259 LTD.

CLIENT

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-12-153

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-234



REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-719

North Vancouver, BC 

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

820 W 15th St  

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. DOES 

NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES, AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING 

THE APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

1:100

PLANT MATERIALS

L2.0

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-01-221

POLYGON DEVELOPMENT 259 LTD.

CLIENT

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-12-153

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-234

 QTY. BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE SPACING COMMENTS

TREES 

5 Acer griseum Paperbark Maple 6cm cal. as shown specimen

4 Acer circinatum 'Pacific Fire' # Pacific Fire Vine Maple 2.5m ht as shown multistem

7 Picea omorika Serbian Spruce 2.5-3m Ht as shown specimen

5 Stewartia pseudocamellia Japanese Stewartia 6cm cal. as shown specimen

6 Street Tree Per CNV 6cm cal. as shown specimen

SHRUBS

105 Buxus microphylla 'Green Beauty' Green Beauty Boxwood No. 5 Pot 450mm O.C. fully established

44 Cornus sericea 'Kelseyi'* # Kelsey Redtwigged Dogwood No. 2 Pot 600mm O.C. fully established

65 Ilex crenata 'Compacta' Compact Japanese Holly No. 3 Pot 600mm O.C. fully established

11 Nandina domestica 'Gulfstream' Gulfstream Nandina No. 2 Pot 600mm O.C. fully established

14 Hydrangea paniculata 'Quick Fire' * Quick Fire Hydrangea No. 2 Pot 900mm O.C. fully established

209 Lavendula angustifolia 'Hidecote' Hidecote Lavender No. 1 Pot 450mm O.C. fully established

3 Polystichum munitum Sword Fern No. 2 Pot 600mm O.C. fully established

109 Rhododendron 'Bloom-A-Thon' * White Bloom-A-Thon Azalea No. 2 Pot 600mm O.C. fully established

73 Rhododendron 'Ken Janek' * Ken Janeck Rhododendron No. 3 Pot 750mm O.C. fully established

84 Rhododendron 'Mardi Gras' * Mardi Gras Rhododendron No. 5 Pot 900mm O.C. fully established

234 Sarcococca hookeriana humilis * Dwarf Sweet box No. 2 Pot 450mm O.C. fully established

128 Sarcococca ruscifolia * Fragrant Sweet box No. 3 Pot 600mm O.C. fully established

58 Skimmia japonica 'Rubella' * Rubella Skimmia No. 2 Pot 600mm O.C. fully established

144 Vaccinium ovatum * # Evergreen Huckleberry No. 3 Pot 750mm O.C. fully established

3 Taxus baccata 'Fasitigiata Robusta' Fastigiate Irish Yew No. 10 Pot as shown fully established

GROUNDCOVERS, PERENNIALS, AND GRASSES

69 Arctostaphylos uva-ursi * Kinnicknick No. 1 Pot 380mm O.C. fully established

101 Carex morrowii 'Ice Dance' Ice Dance Sedge No. 1 Pot 380mm O.C. fully established

69 Liriope muscari 'Big Blue' * Big Blue Lilyturf No. 1 Pot 300mm O.C. fully established

NOTES:
* Indicates pollinator/bird friendly plants

# Indicates native plants

PLANT LIST

1. ALL PLANTING SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH BC LANDSCAPE STANDARD,  AND CANADIAN 
LANDSCAPE STANDARDS LATEST EDITION.  

2. ALL TREE AND SHRUB BEDS ARE TO BE MULCHED WITH 50mm OF 2 MEDIUM FINE MULCH, LESS 
THAN 50mm DIAMETER.

3. All OFFSITE TREES TO HAVE MINIMUM OF 25m3 SOIL VOLUME.

PLANTING NOTES

NORTHSIDE: LAYERED TEXTURE AND NATIVE PLANTING

RETAIL FRONTAGE: 
LAYERED TEXTURED ADAPTIVE PLANTING



REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-719

North Vancouver, BC 

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

820 W 15th St  

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. DOES 

NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES, AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING 

THE APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

1'=10' (1:120)

PLANTING PLAN

L2.1

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-01-221

POLYGON DEVELOPMENT 259 LTD.

CLIENT

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-12-153

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-234

EL 14.59m

2+100LANE

EXHAUST 

LINE OF L2 
OVERHANG 
ABOVE

LINE OF L3 
FRAME 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 
BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE INDICATES OUTLINE OF 
PARKING

ELEV
.

ELEV
.

RESIDENTIAL 
EGRESS 

  E
G

R
E

S
S

 F
R

O
M

 
P2

LINE OF L2 
OVERHANG ABOVE

EXHAUST 

MAIL

PARKADE ENTRY

814 
W. 15TH 
STREET860 

W. 15TH ST

PL 250'-1 7/8"
(76.27m)

PL 250'-3 1/2"
(76.31m)

PL
 1

29
'-1

1 
7/

8"
(3

9.
62

m
)

PL
 1

29
'-1

0 
5/

8"
(3

9.
59

m
)

GARBAGE
STAGING 

OUTLINE OF 
COLUMN 
BELOW - 
TYP.

R
E

S
ID

E
N

TI
A

L 
E

G
R

E
S

S
 

LINE OF L2 BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 OVERHANG 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE INDICATES OUTLINE OF 
PARKING

DRIVEWAY MEDIAN ENTERPHONE

VESTIBULE

LOBBY

AMENITY

PROPERTY LINE

PLANTING PLAN
1'=10' (1:120)1

0 5 10 m

NOTE: REFER TO PLANT LIST ON L2.0



REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-719

North Vancouver, BC 

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

820 W 15th St  

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. DOES 

NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES, AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING 

THE APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

NTS

PRECEDENTS &
MATERIALS

L3.0

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-01-221

POLYGON DEVELOPMENT 259 LTD.

CLIENT

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-12-153

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-234

MATERIALS

REATAIL EDGE

ENTRANCE PLAZA
SEAT WALLS

BENCH LIGHTING



B
G

 1
2.

63
m

B
G

 1
2.

76
m

44
.0

0'

B
G

 IN
T

 1
2.

80
m

B
G

 IN
T

 
12

.6
6mT
S

 1
3.

34
m

B
S

 1
2.

70
m

2%

E
L 

13
.4

0m T
S

 1
3.

34
m

B
S

 1
2.

80
m

2.
2%

F
F

E
 1

3.
41

m

SECTION - LEVEL 1 RETAIL ON 15TH ST
Scale: 1:50B

RETAIL UNIT OUTDOOR PATIO AND WALKWAY STAIR 2m SIDEWALK 15TH STREETWALKWAY 2m BOULEVARD

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

0.6m 

PAVED STRIP

REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-719

North Vancouver, BC 

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

820 W 15th St  

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. DOES 

NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR CONCEALED 

STRUCTURES, AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING 

THE APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

1:50

SECTIONS

L4.0

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-01-221

POLYGON DEVELOPMENT 259 LTD.

CLIENT

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-12-153

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-234

EL 14.59m

1+100

2+100LANE

EXHAUST 

LINE OF L2  
OVERHANG 
ABOVE

LINE OF L3  
FRAME 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2  
BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE INDICATES OUTLINE OF 
PARKING

ELEV
.

ELEV
.

RESIDENTIAL 
EGRESS 

  E
G

R
ES

S 
FR

O
M

 
P2

LINE OF L2 
OVERHANG ABOVE

EXHAUST 

MAIL

PARKADE ENTRY

814 
W. 15TH 
STREET860 

W. 15TH ST

PL 250'-1 7/8"
(76.27m)

PL 250'-3 1/2"
(76.31m)

P
L 

12
9'

-1
1 

7/
8"

(3
9.

62
m

)

P
L 

12
9'

-1
0 

5/
8"

(3
9.

59
m

)

GARBAGE
STAGING 

OUTLINE OF 
COLUMN 
BELOW - 
TYP.

R
ES

ID
EN

TI
AL

 
EG

R
ES

S 

LINE OF L2 BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 OVERHANG 
ABOVE

LINE OF L2 BUILDING 
ABOVE

LINE INDICATES OUTLINE OF 
PARKING

DRIVEWAY MEDIAN ENTERPHONE

VESTIBULE

LOBBY

AMENITY

A

KEY PLAN - LEVEL 1

B

C

15
TH

 S
TR

EE
T

B
G

 1
3.

34
m

45
.0

0'

B
G

 IN
T

 1
3.

31
m

B
G

 IN
T

 1
3.

38
m

2%

E
L 

13
.7

1m

F
F

E
 1

3.
71

m

T
S

 1
3.

73
m

2%
13

.7
1m

5%

T
W

 1
3.

80
m

T
W

 1
4.

05
m

B
W

 1
3.

63
m

2.
0%

SECTION - LEVEL 1 SECTION THROUGH VESTIBULE MAIN ENTRY 
Scale: 1:50A

VESTIBULE & LOBBY MAIN ENTRY WALK 2m SIDEWALK 15TH STREET2m BOULEVARD

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

0.6mSTAIRS

LETDOWNBENCH BEHIND

SECTION - LANE AND AMENITY SPACE
Scale: 1:50C

LANE OUTDOOR AMENITY PATIO INDOOR AMENITYPLANTER AND SEAT WALL

1m

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

PLANT
STRIP



DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING ON SLAB (TYPICAL)1

MIN. 2x ROOT BALL

M
IN

. 9
00

STRUCTURAL SLAB, SEE 
ARCHITECTURAL

FILTER FABRIC

ROOF ASSEMBLY, SEE 
ARCHITECTURAL

TREE ROOTBALL

50mm x 200mm TIMBER OR 
X-POTENTIAL DEADMAN

STAINLESS STEEL WIRE 
AND TURNBUCKLE

GALVANIZED STEEL STRAP 
BOLTED TO WOOD

ADJACENT CONDITIONS 
VARY PER PLANS

INSTALL TOP OF ROOTZONE 150mm 
ABOVE FINISHED GRADE OF 
SPECIFIED GROWING MEDIUM.

SPECIES PER PLANTING PLAN

INSTALL 50mm MULCH 

TIMBER

CONIFEROUS TREE PLANTING ON SLAB (TYPICAL)1

TREE ROOTBALL

50mm x 200mm TIMBER OR 
X-POTENTIAL DEADMAN

STAINLESS STEEL WIRE 
AND TURNBUCKLE

GALVANIZED STEEL STRAP 
BOLTED TO WOOD

MIN. 2x ROOT BALL

M
IN

. 9
00

STRUCTURAL SLAB, SEE 
ARCHITECTURAL

FILTER FABRIC

ROOF ASSEMBLY, SEE 
ARCHITECTURAL

INSTALL TOP OF ROOTZONE 150mm 
ABOVE FINISHED GRADE OF 
SPECIFIED GROWING MEDIUM.

ADJACENT CONDITIONS 
VARY PER PLANS

TIMBER

SPECIES PER PLANTING PLAN

INSTALL 50mm MULCH 

DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING ON SLAB (TYPICAL)
SCALE 1:251 CONIFEROUS TREE PLANTING ON SLAB (TYPICAL)

SCALE 1:253

M
IN

. 9
00

DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING ON GRADE (TYPICAL)1

MIN. 2x ROOT BALL

SPECIES PER PLANTING PLAN

INSTALL TREE STAKE, AS SPECIFIED
KEEP CLEAR OF ROOT BALL

1250mm DIA SAUCER AT EDGE OF TREE PIT 

INSTALL 50mm MULCH

ADJACENT CONDITIONS VARY PER PLANS

150mm MIN. SCARIFIED EXISTING SUBGRADE

EXISTING SUBGRADE

TAMPED GROWING MEDIUM

INSTALL TOP OF ROOTZONE 150mm 
ABOVE FINISHED GRADE OF 
SPECIFIED GROWING MEDIUM

POSITIVE DRAINAGE

SAND BASED GROWING MEDIUM TO 
300mm DEPTH, AS SPECIFIED

EXISTING SUBGRADE

150mm MIN. SCARIFIED EXISTING SUBGRADE

SOD AS PER SPECIFICATIONS

DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING ON GRADE (TYPICAL)
SCALE 1:202

SOD LAWN ON GRADE (TYPICAL)
SCALE 1:105

SHRUB AND GROUNDCOVER PLANTING ON GRADE/SLAB(TYPICAL)
SCALE 1:204

GRAVEL DRAIN STRIP - ON SLAB

MIN. 200mm DEPTH DRAIN ROCK SHALL 
BE 20mm-40mm DIAMETER, ROUND, 
WASHED & FREE OF CONTAMINANTS

VOIDING AS REQUIRED

2x6 x 6' P.T. TIMBER EDGE

P.T. TIMBER SPACER BRACE SET 
AGAINST EXTERIOR WALL & NAILED 
TO TIMBER EDGE

BUILDING EDGE

DRAIN MAT OVER PROTECTION BOARD 
OVER WATERPROOFING SPECIFIED BY 
ARCHITECTURAL

CONTINUOUS FILTER FABRIC STAPLED 
TO BACK OF EDGER

GRAVEL DRAIN STRIP ON SLAB
SCALE 1:106

DISTANCE FROM EDGE IS HALF THE 
SPECIFIED O.C. SPACING ROW

PLANT CENTRE

TRIANGULAR SPACING AT SPECIFIED 
O.C. DISTANCE -SEE PLANT SCHEDULE

OPTIONAL : BULB PLANTING AT CENTRE 
OF ANNUAL "TRIANGLE" EQUIDISTANT 
FROM EACH PLANT O.C.

STRUCTURAL SLAB, SEE ARCHITECTURAL

FILTER FABRIC

ROOF ASSEMBLY, SEE ARCHITECTURAL

INSTALL MULCH TO 50mm DEPTH

INSTALL SPECIFIED GROWING MEDIUM 
TO MINIMUM 450mm DEPTH 

SPECIES PER PLANTING PLAN

OPTIONAL BULB PLANTING
AT CENTRE OF ANNUAL

"TRIANGLE" EQUIDISTANT
FROM EACH PLANT O.C.

150mm MIN. SCARIFIED
EXISTING SUBGRADE

EXISTING SUBGRADE

INSTALL SPECIFIED
GROWING MEDIUM TO

MINIMUM 450mm DEPTH

ON GRADE ON SLAB

REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-705

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 20-10-081

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. 

DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, 

LOCATION, AND ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / 

OR CONCEALED STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT 

SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR 

CONCEALED STRUCTURES, AND IS 

RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING THE 

APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

AS SHOWN

LANDSCAPE DETAILS

L5.0

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

North Vancouver, BC 
820 W 15th St  

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-233

FIRST BRANCH

1
3

REMOVE TOP 1/3 OF WIRE BASKET
AND BURLAP FROM ROOTBALL

UNDISTURBED SUBSOIL

PLACE ROOTBALL ON 85% SPD
COMPACTED PLANTING MEDIUM

2550mmL MIN (76mm DIA)
TREATED POSTS (2) STAKED
OUTSIDE  ROOT BALL

TYPE 2P GROWING MEDIUM AS
PER CANADIAN LANDSCAPE
STANDARD, 900mm MIN. DEPTH

SCARIFY SIDES AND BOTTOM OF
TREE PIT FOR  ROOT/ WATER
PENETRATION

(2) 38mm WIDTH RUBBER
FABRIC BELTING

1.
80

D
E

P
T

H
 O

F

R
O

O
T

 B
A

LL

75mm DEPTH COMPOSTED BARK
MULCH TAPERED TO BASE OF
TREE. MIN. 900mm RING AS PER
CANADIAN LANDSCAPE
STANDARDS. LAWN BEYOND ALL
LIMITS OF MULCH TYP.

FINISHED GRADE

90
0m

m

0.15

ENSURE TRUNK FLARE IS
EXPOSED TO BE FLUSH
WITH FINISHED GRADE

DEEP ROOT UB12-2 ROOT BARRIER
300mm DEPTH UNLESS NOTED
OTHERWISE. 1.5m EACH SIDE OF
TREE TRUNK NEXT TO WALKS.

CONCRETE OR ASPHALT PAVING

STRUCTURAL SOIL, REFER
TO SPEC. LIMIT AS PER
SURFACING PLANS

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER
DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING DETAIL

(N.T.S.)

DRAWN:
CHECKED: APPROVED:

DATE: DWG.No.
 T2S

JN

CB

APRIL, 2019

CB

METRIC

NOTES:
1. EACH TREE REQUIRES 15-20 m^3 MINIMUM OF SOIL  FOR GROWING MEDIUM
2. USE STRUCTURAL SOIL UNDER SIDEWALK TO ACHIEVE SOIL VOLUMES

STREET TREE DETAIL
SCALE 1:107



NOTES:
1. EXPANSION JOINTS 6m O.C. MAX, CONTROL JOINTS @ 1.5m O.C. ADJUST TO SUIT SITE LAYOUT PLAN.
2. ALL SCORELINES TO BE APPROVED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT ON-SITE PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.
3. LIGHT SANDBLAST FINISH

CIP CONCRETE ON GRADE (TYPICAL)1

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

COMPACTED GRANULAR BASE 
19mm MINUS CRUSHED GRAVEL 
OR AS SPECIFIED BY CIVIL

CIP CONCRETE FINISH PER 
SPECIFICATION

THICKEN CONCRETE AT EDGES

15
0

15
0

10
0

 EXPANSION JOINT 25mm WITH 
SEALANT, TYPICAL

SAW CUT JOINT TYP. 6mm WIDE x 
25mm DEEP 1/4 OF SLAB DEPTH; 
PATTERN VARIES, REFER TO PLAN 

CIP CONCRETE FINISH PER SPECIFICATION

REINFORCE WITH 150 x 150 WWM (6Ga) 

COMPACTED GRANULAR BASE, 19mm CLEAR 
CRUSH GRAVEL OR AS SPECIFIED BY CIVIL

SAW CUT JOINT TYP. 6mm WIDE x 25mm 
DEEP; PATTERN VARIES - REFER TO PLAN 

EXPANSION JOINT WITH SEALANT, TYPICAL

THICKEN CONCRETE AT EDGES

STRUCTURAL SLAB, SEE ARCHITECTURAL

CIP CONCRETE ON SLAB (TYPICAL)1

NOTES:
1. EXPANSION JOINTS 6m O.C. MAX, CONTROL JOINTS @ 1.5m O.C. ADJUST TO SUIT SITE LAYOUT PLAN.
2. ALL SCORELINES TO BE APPROVED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT ON-SITE PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.
3. LIGHT SANDBLAST FINISH

15
0 10

0
15

0

ROOF ASSEMBLY, SEE ARCHITECTURAL

CIP CONCRETE ON SLAB (TYPICAL)
SCALE 1:102

CIP CONCRETE ON GRADE (TYPICAL)
SCALE 1:103

STRUCTURAL SLAB, SEE 
ARCHITECTURAL

ROOF ASSEMBLY, SEE ARCHITECTURAL

UNIT PAVING ON GRADE/SLAB
Scale: 1:101

100mm THICKNESS UNIT PAVERS 

20mm CLEAR CRUSH GRAVEL

STRUCTURAL VOIDING IF REQUIRED

APPLY POLYMERIC JOINTING SAND 
PER MANUFACTURER 
INSTRUCTIONS

400

10
0

TYPE: BOARDWALK PLANK 100mm PAVERS
DIMENSION: 400mm x 100mm x 100mm
PATTERN: SEE DETAILS
COLOR: NATURAL, ASH, CHARCOAL MIX
SUPPLIER: BARKMAN CONCRETE
TEL: 778-689-7670

DESIGNED PATTERN  NTS

ON GRADE ON SLAB

25mm (1”) DEEP SAND
BEDDING

COMPACTED 20mm (3/4")
MINUS BASE GRAVEL,

COMPACTED TO 95% MPD

COMPACTED SUBGRADE,
AS SPECIFIED

6mm CLEAR CRUSH GRAVEL50
10

0

15
0

SECTION

15
0

680

ANCHOR THREADED RODS TO 
CONCRETE SLAB; DRILL 
THROUGH PAVERS TO FOOTING

ADJACENT PAVING; DRILL 
THROUGH CENTRAL AREA OF 
PAVER; SAWCUT PAVERS 
BETWEEN FOOTINGS AS 
REQUIRED
REINFORCED CONCRETE 
FOOTING 

BIKE RACK ON GRADE4

BIKE RACK, TYPICAL

TYPE: MAGLIN ICONIC 2300
DIMENSION: L521mm x H673mm x D51mm
COLOR: SILVER POWDERCOAT FINISH
SUPPLIER: MAGLIN 
TEL: JENNIFER FANCY 800-716-5506 X6050
         RHEZIE EMIA 800-716-5506 X1187

BIKE RACK
SCALE 1:204

12

20
3

14
6

IPE WOOD S4S BENCH SLATS; 
SLATS: 1-1/2" X 3-1/2" 
ENDS: 2" X 3-1/2" 
8'0" STANDARD LENGTHS

NEOPRENE SPACERS

GALVANIZED STEEL ROD

GALVANIZED THREADED 
ROD WELDED TO PLATE

DETAIL SECTION

LED LIGHT STRIP INSET IN 
BENCH WITHIN REVEAL

45
0

102

ADJACENT PAVING

372

PLAN

VARIES

457

373 O.C. 542 O.C.

10
2

48
6

SS 316 ANTI-SKATEBOARD DEVICE, AS 
SPECIFIED 

37
2

12

12

12

542 O.C.

1/4" WIDE x 1/2" DEEP REVEAL AT BREAK IN WALL 
(FRONT ONLY)

GALVANIZED ANTI-SKATEBOARD DEVICE, 
AS SPECIFIED 

GALVANIZED THREADED STEEL ROD, 
COMPLETE WITH RUBBER CAP

WOOD BENCH ON CIP REINFORCED 
CONCRETE RETAINING WALL

WOOD BENCH FLUSH 
WITH CONCRETE

102 O.C. TYP542 O.C.

6' MODULE

WOOD BENCH ON CIP REINFORCED 
CONCRETE  WALL

45
7 

- 
50

8

ELEVATION

SEAT WALL WITH BENCH TOP
SCALE 1:105

REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-705

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 20-10-081

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. 

DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, 

LOCATION, AND ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / 

OR CONCEALED STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT 

SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR 

CONCEALED STRUCTURES, AND IS 

RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING THE 

APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

AS SHOWN

LANDSCAPE DETAILS

L5.1

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

North Vancouver, BC 
820 W 15th St  

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-233



REVISIONS

Project No.

Reviewed:

Drawn:

Scale:

06-705

Co
nn

ec
t L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e 
In

c.

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 20-10-081

CONNECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE INC. 

DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE EXISTENCE, 

LOCATION, AND ELEVATION OF UTILITIES AND / 

OR CONCEALED STRUCTURES AT THE PROJECT 

SITE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 

DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE, LOCATION, AND 

ELEVATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND / OR 

CONCEALED STRUCTURES, AND IS 

RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTIFYING THE 

APPROPRIATE COMPANY, DEPARTMENT OR 

PERSON(S) OF ITS INTENTION TO CARRY OUT ITS 

OPERATIONS. 

MR

KL

AS SHOWN

LANDSCAPE DETAILS

L5.2

2305 Hemlock St, Vancouver BC, V6H 2V1
T 604 681 3303  F 604 681 3307
www.connectla.ca

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 21-11-302

Arterra
Marine &15th 
 

North Vancouver, BC 
820 W 15th St  

RE-ISSUED FOR RZ/DP 22-03-233

150mm DEPTH 
GRANULAR BASE 
COMPACTED TO 
95% ON 
COMPACTED 
SUBGRADENOTES:

1. FOR NUMBER OF RISERS SEE GRADING DRAWINGS
2. GRIND ALL WELDS SMOOTH
3. ALL HARDWARE TO BE GALVANIZED UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED
4. REFER TO TYPICAL DETAILS ON STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS
5. EXPANSION JOINT AT ADJACENT CONCRETE WALK
6. RISE OF STAIRS TO BE BETWEEN 125MM AND 180MM MAX. RISE AND RUN 
SHALL NOT ALTER IN ONE STAIR FLIGHT.

305

91
4

15
2

91
4

REINFORCED CIP 
CONCRETE STAIRS 
COMPLETE WITH 
WARNING STRIPS; 

SS 42mm DIAM. 
HANDRAIL

159159

75

10M @ 
300mm

10M @ 300mm
BOTH WAYS

16
5

CONCRETE 
FOOTING

COLD JOINT

ADJACENT 
CONCRETE PAVING

200

NOTES:
1.HANDRAIL TO BRUSHED STAINLESS STEEL
2. SHOP DRAWINGS TO BE PROVIDED BY 
CONTRACTOR
3. RECTANGULAR POST TO BE EMBEDDED IN 
CONCRETE FOOTING MIN 150mm; OR 
EMBEDDED INTO CONCRETE STAIRS.

42mm (1-5/8") STAINLESS 
STEEL HANDRAIL AND 
ATTACHEMENT

64mm x 38mm (2-1/2" x 1-1/2" ) 
BRUSHED STAINLESS STEEL 
STANCHION POST @ 1400mm 
(4' 6") O.C. MAX 

25
0

121

91
4

100mm (4”) SS BASE 
PLATE AND BOLTS

CONCRETE PAVING
THICKEN AT POST 
LOCATION

305

CONCRETE 
LANDING WITH 
TACTILE 
WARNING

91
4

CIP STAIR AND HANDRAIL
Scale: 1:101

15
0[

6"
]

25[1"]

6mm RADIUS

ENLARGEMENT SCALE: 2''=1'-0''

2'' WIDE TOOLED NOSING 1'' BACK 
FROM NOSING TO ENTIRE WIDTH OF 
STAIR TREAD. PROVIDE TO EACH 
STAIR THEAD

10
0 825 O.C

STAIR TREAD

WARNING STRIP

NOTE:
REFER TO STRUCTURAL FOR RE-INFORCING

PLAN

TOOLED WARNING STRIP
Scale: 1:101A

SS HANDRAIL
Scale: 1:102

SECTION 
SECTION 

GAS FIRE PIT
N/A4

QUADRA

COMFORTABLE LIVING

Designed to
enhance outdoor
entertainment
areas, the highly
expressive Quadra
Firetable helps
define the modern
patio.

QUADRA 48”
PACKAGE INCLUDES:

CONCRETE FIREPIT TOP

CONCRETE FIREPIT BASE

MANUAL LIT
NG/LP BURNER

LAVA ROCK

Firepits ship fully sealed
Accessories available

DIMENSIONS

-48in-

Dreamcast
d e s i g n  a n d  p r o d u c t i o n

Please contact us at 1-604-278-4939 with any questions.
Our experienced team can assist you with product information,
installation and design recommendations. 
We also encourage you to explore our website at 
www.dreamcastfirepits.com

DREAMCAST QUADRA 48INCH GAS FIRE TABLE
48" L x 36" W x 15" HT
COLOUR: LONDON FOG
OPTION: NATRUAL GAS
W/ PUSH BUTTON IGNITION
ADD ONS: CERAMIC RIVER STONE
AVAILBALE FROM DREAMCAST ph 604-278-4939

Tables & Seating
Lexicon Collection
LAYT_LXM1500-00077
6 FT Standard Table, Ipe wood
6 FT Backless Benches, Ipe wood

Silver 14 Gloss Powdercoat

Connect Landscape Architecture
Solo Phase 4 - Burnaby, BC

800.716.5506 | maglin.com

MAGLIN SITE FURNITURE
LEXICON COLLECTION TABLE AND SEATING
LAYT_LXM1500-00077
6FT Standard Table, IPE Wood
6FT backless BEnches, IPE Wood
Colour: SIlver 14 Finetex

TABLE AND BENCHES AMENITY SPACE
N/A3



Document Number: 2070333-v1 

June 28, 2021 

Shift Architecture 
Attn: Shadi Jianfar 
200 – 100 West 3rd Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7P 3J6 

Dear Mr. Jianfar: 

Re: 818 West 15th Street (Rezoning Application) 

At their meeting on June 16th, 2021 the Advisory Design Panel reviewed the above 
application and endorsed the following resolution: 

THAT the Advisory Design Panel has reviewed the Rezoning Application for 818 
West 15th Street and recommends approval subject to addressing the following 
issues to the satisfaction of the Development Planner: 

Consider adding an indoor and outdoor residential amenity;
Improve CPTED issues on the lane setback and frontage; and
Improve setback landscaping adjacent to the daycare play area on the
lane.

AND THAT the Panel wishes to thank the applicant for their presentation. 

The recommendations of the Advisory Design Panel pertain only to site-specific design 
and site planning considerations and do not, in any way, represent Council and staff 
approval or rejection of this project. 

Yours truly, 

R. Fish
Committee Clerk

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 5�



 
 
 
 

Document Number: 2105248 v1 

October 27, 2021 
 
Lorne Wolinsky 
Polygon Homes 
1333 West Broadway #900 
Vancouver, BC V6H 4C2 
 
Dear Lorne, 
 
Re:  Rezoning application for 818-858 West 15th Street 
 
At their special committee meeting on October 6, 2021, the Integrated Transportation 
Committee received a presentation from Polygon Homes, SHIFT Architecture, and Great 
Northern Engineering Consultants regarding the above mentioned.  Following review and 
discussion, the following motion was made: 
 

THAT the Integrated Transportation Committee has reviewed the Rezoning application 
for 818-858 West 15th Street and supports the project. 
 
The Committee makes the following recommendations: 
 

 That Council direct staff to investigate improvements to active transportation in 
the area, including pedestrian and cycling facilities; 

 That funds associated with this development be used to improve active 
transportation in the area should the development proceed; and,  

 That Council direct staff to investigate improvements at the intersections of 
Marine Drive & Hanes Avenue as well as Fell Avenue & West 16th Street. 
 

CARRIED  
 
The recommendations of the Integrated Transportation Committee do not, in any way, represent 
Council and/or staff approval or rejection of this proposal. 
 
 
Yours truly, 

Hayley Reiss 
Committee Clerk/Secretary 
 
c. M. Menzel, Planner 2, City of North Vancouver 
 D. Watson, Transportation Planner, City of North Vancouver 
 K. Graham, Corporate Officer, City of North Vancouver 

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 6�



Attachment 7

820 West 15th Street Rezoning Application - Polygon Arterra Homes Ltd. 
Virtual Developer Information Session (DIS) Summary Report 

Event Date: 
Time: 
Location: 

Attendance: 

Wednesday, June 23rd
, 2021 

6:00pm - 7:30 PM 
Online Zoom Webinar 

Six (6) members of the public attended virtually. 
The Polygon project team was in attendance, as were two representatives of 
the City of North Vancouver Planning Department. 

Comments: 

Meeting Purpose: 

Two (2) emails were submitted prior to the DIS. 
Four (4) emails were submitted following the DIS. 
Comment forms were sent t o all those who registered for the DIS. 
No comment forms were submitted following the DIS. 

1) To present development application materials to the community 
2) To provide an opportunity for the community to ask questions about the 
development 
3) To provide an opportunity for the community to comment on the proposal 

Notification: 
In accordance with City of North Vancouver policies: 

Invitation Flyers 
DIS Invitation flyers were delivered to 176 addresses within a 40m radius of the site, provided by the 
City of North Vancouver. Appendix A: Notification includes a copy of this material. 

Newspaper Ad 
A DIS newspaper ad was placed in the North Shore News on June 9t\ 2021 and June 16th, 2021. A copy 
of t he ad is included in Appendix A: Noti fication. 

Notifi cation Sign 
Two DIS notification signs were erected on the sit e on June gt\ 2021. Photos of the installed site signs 
are included in Appendix A: Notification. 

Attendance: 
6 members of the public signed in for the virtual meeting. A copy of t he attendee list is included in 
Appendix B: Attendee List. 

The fo llowing City staff and project team members were in attendance: 

City of North Vancouver: 

• Emily Macdonald, Planner 1 
• Matt Menzel, Planner 1 

Project Team: 

Urban Forum Associates Page 1 



820 West 15th Street Rezoning Application - Polygon - Developer Information Session Summary Report 

• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 

Lorne Wolinksy, Polygon 
Jacqueline Garvin, Polygon 

Cam Halkier, SHIFT Architecture 
Shadi Jianfar, SHIFT Architecture 

Marina Rommel, Connect Landscape Architecture 
Graham Wood, lnterCAD 
Kyle Briggs, Great Northern Engineering Consultants 

Heather Klassen, Polygon 

Facilitators: 

• Lance Berelowitz, Urban Forum Associates 
• Katrina May, Katrina May Consulting 

Overview: 

In accordance with the City of North Vancouver's COVID-19 state of emergency community consultation 
guidelines, the DIS meeting was held in an onl ine Virtual Developer Information Session format. Meeting 
participants watched a PowerPoint presentat ion and a vi rtual 3D "fly-through" video by members of the 
Polygon project team. 

Participants were invited to use the Zoom Webinar Q&A funct ion to ask questions or submit comments 
during the DIS, which were addressed at the end of the presentation during the Question & Answer 
period. The facilitator read al l questions/comments received aloud and directed questions to the 
appropriate project team member to respond verbally for all participants to hear. 

The project present ation and faci litated Question & Answer period took approximately 90 minutes. The 
faci litators received several questions and comments about the project and documented them for 
inclusion in this summary report, attached as a separate Appendix C: Public Dialogue. 

Participants were invited to submit written comments (using the City's standard comment form) to the 
applicant and/or the municipal development planner, following the DIS. No comment forms were 
received after the DIS, however two (2) emails were received by Polygon prior to the DIS and four (4) 
emails were submitted after the DIS. All emails received expressed support for the project. 

The key themes of the questions during the Developer Information Session related to sustainability and 
green building measures, such as whether or not the building would be using low-carbon concrete, solar 
panels, how existing building materials would be recycled, and what other green building measures are 
being proposed. 

Questions were ra ised about whether or not the project would be using heat pumps, solar panels, EV 
charging stations (including for accessible stalls), and low-carbon concrete as a way to create a more 
sustainable green building. 

Questions arose over the mature trees along West 15th Street and whether or not they would be 
reta ined. The applicant stated that both a municipal arborist and an independent arborist had 
determined these trees are in poor health and should be removed, and these will be replaced with 
healthy new trees along West 15th Street. 

Urban Forum Associates Page 2 



820 West 15th Street Rezoning Application - Polygon - Developer Information Session Summary Report 

Questions arose over the length of construction and the building remediation and abatement measures 
being taken. 

Questions arose regarding whether the building would be providing below-market rental or social 
housing for the proposed additional density, or what other community amenities would be provided. 
The applicant confirmed that the residential will be sold as market strata condominiums, ranging from 
one-bedroom to two-bedroom units, for which there is a clear market demand in th is community. The 
applicant also noted the proposed provision of a 16-spot daycare in lieu of a cash contribution t o the 
City of North Vancouver as the community amenity for this strata condo project. 

Comment Form and Email Summary: 

Participants were invited to submit comments using a City-approved Comment Form that was sent by 
the applicant to all DIS attendees, during a $-day response period after the DIS meeting. No comment 
forms were received by Polygon after the DIS. However, two (2) emails were received prior to the DIS, 
and four (4) emails were received following the DIS. All emails received expressed support for the 
project. These emails (redacted) are submitted as a separate Appendix D: Public Comments. 

The key themes of the emails received related to support for the increased housing supply, the daycare 
as a community amenity, new commercial spaces for businesses to create a lively and activated street, 
and the well-designed building. 

Conclusion: 
The purpose of th is online Virtual Developer Information Session was to present to the community the 
proposed rezoning application and the development concept, and to provide attendees with an 
opportunity to ask clarifying questions and comment on the proposal. 176 DIS notification flyers were 
distributed by mail to the surrounding community. Two newspaper ads notified the community of the 
DIS, and two DIS notification signs were posted on the property. Six (6) community members signed in 
to the DIS. A total of t wo (2) emails were submitted prior to the DIS and four (4) e-mails were submitted 
after the DIS to the project Development Manager. No comment forms were received during the 5-day 
response period after the DIS meeting. 

Members of the publ ic could participate in th is consultation process in three ways: 

• Watching a virtual project presentation during the DIS, including a 30 virtual "fly-through" video 

• Asking questions of the project team and/or City Planner during the DIS 
• Submitting completed comment forms and/or emails after the DIS 

The DIS meeting length and format was sufficient to provide al l participants an opportunity to learn 
more about the proposed project, ask questions, and make any comments they wished to provide that 
evening. Participants asked the development team and City Planner a variety of specific questions, 
mostly related to sustainability measures and green building practices being employed by the applicant, 
with suggestions made regarding low carbon concrete, abatement and solar or renewable energy, the 
loss of the trees along West 15th Street, and the provision of community amenities via this strata condo 
proposal. 

Urban Forum Associates Page 3 



820 West 15th Street Rezoning Application - Polygon - Developer Information Session Summary Report 

Appendix B: Attendee List (redacted to preserve privacy) 

Attended First Name Last Email 

Name 

1 Yes -

2 Yes - -

3 Yes - •

4 Yes - -

5 Ye.s - -

6 Yes -

Appendix C: Public Dialogue (see attached) 

Appendix D: Public Comments - Written and Emailed Submissions (see attached) 

Urban Forum Associates 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8925 Document: 2164174-v2 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8925 

A Bylaw to terminate a Land Use Contract for 818-858 West 15th Street 

WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver entered into Land Use Contract in respect of lands now 
having a civic address of 818-858 West 15th Street; 
 
WHEREAS section 546 of the Local Government Act authorizes a local government to discharge 
a Land Use Contract by bylaw with the agreement of the owner of property described in the bylaw; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the City of North Vancouver and the owner of property at 818-
858 West 15th Street wish to terminate and discharge the Land Use Contract for 818-858 West 
15th Street pursuant to section 546 of the Local Government Act; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows:  
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Land Use Contract Termination 

Bylaw, 2022, No. 8925” (Polygon Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, 818-858 
West 15th Street). 

 
2. The Land Use Contract between the City of North Vancouver and Capilano North 

Commercial Centre Ltd., dated for reference July 25, 1978, and titled “Land Use Contract” 
for the properties described therein and registered in the New Westminster Land Title Office 
on August 18, 1978 under Filing Number F57202, is hereby terminated. 

 
3. The Mayor and Corporate Officer are hereby authorized to execute any documents 

necessary to terminate, release and discharge the Land Use Contract. 
 
4. City of North Vancouver “Land Use Contract Bylaw, 1978, No. 5112” and all amendments 

thereto are hereby repealed. 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 8�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8896 Document: 2147558-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8896 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8896” (Polygon Development 237 Ltd. / Shift 
Architecture, 818-858 West 15th Street, CD-745). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-745 (Comprehensive Development 745 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 C 5 265 17693 from CS-1 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-744 
Comprehensive Development 744 Zone”: 

 
“CD-745 Comprehensive Development 745 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-744 Comprehensive 

Development 744 Zone”: 
 

“CD-745 Comprehensive Development 745 Zone” 
 

In the CD-745 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the C-2 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) The permitted Principal Use on the Lot shall be limited to: 
 

(a) Retail Service Group 1 Use; 
(b) Accessory Apartment Use subject to Section 607(1) of this Bylaw; 
(c) Accessory Home Occupation Use, subject to Section 507(6); 
(d) Accessory Home Office Use, subject to Section 507(6); 
(e) Child Care Use, subject to Section 607(9); 
(f) Accessory Off-Street Loading Use; 
(g) Accessory Off-Street Parking Use; 
(h) Off-Site Parking Use.  

 
  

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 9 �



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8896 Document: 2147558-v1 

(2) Gross Floor Area 
 
(a) The maximum Gross Floor Area is 0.93 FSR;  
(b) Not withstanding (2)(a) the Gross Floor Area may be increased as follows: 
 

ADDITIONAL (BONUS) DENSITY 
ADDITIONAL 
DENSTIY 
CATEGORY  

DESCRIPTION ADDITIONAL 
DENSITY 
(BONUS) 

POLICY 
REFERENCE  

Community 
Benefit Cash 
Contribution 

Provision of a 
Community 
Benefit Cash 
Contribution of 
$3,716,007 for 
an increase of 
1.57 FSR to a 
maximum of 2.5 
FSR 

Maximum  
 
1,510.9 sq. m. 
(16,263 sq. ft.)   

As per OCP 
Policy Section 
2.2.1 

 
Such that the total effective on-site Gross Floor Area is not to exceed 2.5 FSR. 

 
(3) A minimum of 10 units shall have 3 bedrooms; 

 
(4) Building Height: 

 
(a) The Principal Building shall not exceed a Building Height of 21 metres (69 

feet) as measured from the average Building Grades; 
 

(b) Elevator and mechanical penthouses may project beyond the defined 
height in (4)(a) by a maximum of 6.1 metres (20 feet) including elevator 
shafts and mechanical rooms; 

 
(5) Section 607 shall be varied to permit an accessory Apartment Use on the second 

Storey and above;  
 

(6) Section 611(6) Building Width and Length shall be waived; 
 

(7) Section 402(6) within Prohibited Uses of Land, Buildings, and Structures shall 
be waived;  

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8896 Document: 2147558-v1 

(8) Section 10A03(1)(b) within short term bicycle parking shall be varied, such that 
only four short-term residential bicycle parking spaces shall be sheltered from 
the elements.   

 
READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8925 Document: 2164174-v2 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8925 

A Bylaw to terminate a Land Use Contract for 818-858 West 15th Street 

WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver entered into Land Use Contract in respect of lands now 
having a civic address of 818-858 West 15th Street; 
 
WHEREAS section 546 of the Local Government Act authorizes a local government to discharge 
a Land Use Contract by bylaw with the agreement of the owner of property described in the bylaw; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the City of North Vancouver and the owner of property at 818-
858 West 15th Street wish to terminate and discharge the Land Use Contract for 818-858 West 
15th Street pursuant to section 546 of the Local Government Act; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows:  
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Land Use Contract Termination 

Bylaw, 2022, No. 8925” (Polygon Development 237 Ltd. / Shift Architecture, 818-858 
West 15th Street). 

 
2. The Land Use Contract between the City of North Vancouver and Capilano North 

Commercial Centre Ltd., dated for reference July 25, 1978, and titled “Land Use Contract” 
for the properties described therein and registered in the New Westminster Land Title Office 
on August 18, 1978 under Filing Number F57202, is hereby terminated. 

 
3. The Mayor and Corporate Officer are hereby authorized to execute any documents 

necessary to terminate, release and discharge the Land Use Contract. 
 
4. City of North Vancouver “Land Use Contract Bylaw, 1978, No. 5112” and all amendments 

thereto are hereby repealed. 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



17 14
Department
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Matthew Menzel, Planner 2

Subject: REZONING APPLICATION: 119-125 EAST 2ND STREET (EAST
SECOND LONSDALE PROJECT LTD / RH ARCHITECTS, CD-753)

Date: April 27,2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0052/1

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated April 27, 2022, entitled 
“Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project 
Ltd. I RH Architects, CD-753):

THAT the application submitted by East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. I RH 
Architects, to rezone the property at 119-125 East 2nd Street from Lower 
Lonsdale Mixed Use 4 (LL-4) Zone to Comprehensive Development (CD-753) 
Zone, be considered and no Public Hearing be held, in accordance with the 
Local Government Act,

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act,

THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” be secured through agreements at the applicant’s expense 
and to the satisfaction of staff;

THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to permit solar shades, which are permanently affixed to the 
proposed building as an encroachment over City property;

AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign any other 
necessary documentation to give effect to this motion.

Document Number: 2157270 V4



REPORT: Introduction of Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. / 
RH Architects, CD-753)
Date: April 27, 2022

ATTACHMENTS

1. Context Map (CityDocs 2162537)
2. Architectural Plans, dated April 12, 2022 (CityDocs 2168442)
3. Landscape Plans, dated April 7, 2022 (CityDocs 2167396)
4. Advisory Design Panel Resolution, dated October 25, 2021 (CityDocs 2111148)
5. Developer Information Session Summary (CityDocs 2072498)
6. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8903” (CityDocs 

215846)

SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is to present, for Council’s consideration, a rezoning 
application for 119-125 East 2nd Street (the “subject site”) to amend the Zoning Bylaw to 
permit a seven-storey mixed-use commercial and residential development.

Table 1. Project Information
Applicant: East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd.
Architect: RH Architects
Official Community Plan 
Designation:

Mixed Use Level 4A (High Density) (MU4A)

Existing Zoning: Lower Lonsdale Mixed Use 4 (LL-4)
Applicable Guidelines: N/A

DISCUSSION

Site and Surrounding Uses

This 1,115 square metre (12,001 square foot) site is located mid-block along the 100 
block of East 2nd Street, between Lonsdale Avenue and St. Georges Avenue, and is 
bounded by laneways to the south and west. It has a frontage of 30.5 metres (99.9 feet) 
to East 2nd Street. The site slopes down from north to south by approximately 3.96 
metres (13 feet).

Currently the site is developed with one one-storey commercial building and one two- 
storey commercial building.

Details of the surrounding uses are provided in table following.

Table 2. Surrounding Uses
Direction Address Zoning Description OCP

North
(across
E. 2nd St.

118 E 2nd St. 
120 E 2nd St.
130 E 2nd St.

CD Zone

5 storey mixed use
5 storey residential 
~15 storey 
residential

Mixed Use - Level 4A (High 
Density)
Max. 2.6 FSR with 1.0 FSR 
bonus density

Page 2 of 11



REPORT: Introduction of Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. I 
RH Architects, CD-753)
Date: April 27,2022  

Direction Address Zoning Description OCR

South 
(across 
lane)

116-124 E 1st
St.

Lower
Lonsdale 3

Public Parking
Park

Mixed Use - Level 4A (High 
Density)
Max. 2.6 FSR with 1.0 FSR 
bonus density

East
131 E 2nd St.
137-143 E 2nd 
St.

Lower
Lonsdale 4

Social facilities
1 -storey 
commercial

Mixed Use - Level 4A (High 
Density)
Max. 2.6 FSR with 1.0 FSR 
bonus density

West 
(across
lane)

128-130
Lonsdale
140-142
Lonsdale
144-146
Lonsdale
150-152
Lonsdale

Lower
Lonsdale 2
CD Zone

1 -2 storey 
commercial

Mixed Use - Level 4A (High 
Density)
Max. 2.6 FSR with 1.0 FSR 
bonus density

Proposal

The application proposes a seven-storey mixed-use building, with one level of 
commercial use, including retail and office tenancies at ground level, and six levels of 
strata residential units within the upper levels. Parking access is provided off the rear 
lane to the south. The following table provides an overview of the proposed 
development:

Table 3: Development proposal overview
Element Proposal
Density 3.6 FSR

Commercial Retail
Space

Total of 653 square metres (7,029 square feet) or 0.58 FSR:

• Office - 322 square metres (3,466 square feet)
• Commercial - 331 square metres (3,563 square feet)

Unit Mix 28 residential strata units, including:

• Five one-bed units;

• 14 two-bed units; and

• Nine three-bed units (32%).

Adaptable Units Eight Level 2 adaptable units (29%)

Residential Amenity Indoor - 99 square metres (1,062 square feet)
Outdoor - approximately 48 square metres (516 square feet)

Page 3 of 11



REPORT: Introduction of Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. / 
RH Architects, CD-753)
Date: April 27, 2022  

Policy Context and Planning Analysis

The subject site is designated Mixed Use Level 4A (High Density) (MU4A) in the Official 
Community Plan (OCP). This designation allows for a mix of commercial and residential 
use with a maximum density of 3.6 FSR (including 1.0 bonus FSR). A maximum height 
of 23 metres (approximately 8 storeys) is permitted.

Land Use

The proposed mix of commercial and residential uses are appropriate along the Central 
Lonsdale corridor, which is envisioned as a key growth corridor in the City.

Four Commercial Retail Units (CRUs) are proposed facing East 2nd Street. These 
ground floor retail spaces are strongly supported as they would contribute to the 
vibrancy of the area, and local retail opportunities. Behind the CRUs that are lining the 
street, at the back of the proposed Level 1 are two office spaces. These office spaces 
are also supported as they provide for local employment and economic benefits in the 
area. To facilitate the above scenario, the zoning bylaw has been written such that the 
retail tenancies fronting East 2nd Street will be restricted to containing Retail Services 
Group 1A, with Retail Services Group 1 being allowed in the rear (southern) tenancies 
only.

The proposed strata residential use, which is located from Level 2 and up, meets the 
policy objective of increasing diverse housing stock within the City. The proposed mix of 
unit types meets with the direction of the Housing Action Plan, including delivery of a 
minimum of 10% three-bedroom units to support families. A number of one-bedroom 
units are also provided which will provide for more affordable housing options.

The proposal also meets the Zoning Bylaw minimum requirement for 25% of units to 
meet Level 2 Adaptable Design.

Built Form & Urban Design

The proposed built form is consistent with the character of the neighbourhood. The 
proposed height at 23 metres (75.5 feet) and seven storeys complies with OCP, and will 
ensure the building integrates with existing development in context to the subject site, 
as well as future developments anticipated on surrounding land.

The mid-rise building above the ground level podium presents as a rectilinear massing 
with a slender width facing East 2nd Street (approximately 21.3 metres by 30.5 metres 
[70 feet by 100 feet]). It is being placed closer to the laneway to the west in order to 
ensure a larger setback (six m/20 ft) to the east lot line. This larger setback will help 
facilitate an appropriate development outcome on the adjoining land to the east.

Along East 2nd Street, the CRUs are set back by two feet from the property line, 
ensuring a wider and engaged pedestrian realm. The upper level residential is further 
setback from the street, for a total of a 5 foot (1.5 metre) front setback. Further 
articulation of the building massing from Level 2 and up offer more visual interests from

Page 4 of 11



REPORT: Introduction of Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. / 
RH Architects, CD-753)
Date: April 27, 2022  

the surrounding public realm. Lastly, the strategy of placing generously sized balconies 
along the lane elevations also contribute to visual interests as well as enhanced 
liveability and neighbourliness.

A high level of laneway activation and casual surveillance is also achieved through: 
extensive glazing treatments provided to the Level 2 office tenancy; and orienting the 
communal outdoor amenity area and upper level private balconies towards the laneway. 
Public art is proposed to be placed by the side of the building adjacent to the north-
south lane, which will further animate the laneway and enhance pedestrian experience.

Overall, the application has incorporated appropriate setbacks, massing strategies and 
building articulation, which will all ensure the development is not overbearing on the 
streetscape, and appropriately integrates with existing and emerging built form and 
character along the street.

Density

The proposed density is 3.6 FSR, which is consistent with the OCR Mixed Use Level 4A 
land use designation.

Zoning Variances

The proposed Comprehensive Development Zone will be based off of Lower Lonsdale 
Mixed Use 4 LL-4 zone, consistent with the proposed use types and recent 
developments within proximity to the site. To allow the massing, the proposed bylaw 
would include the following modifications to the LL-4 zone base: density; lot coverage; 
building height calculation; and siting requirements, as outlined below.

Table 4. Summary of Proposed Zoning Changes
BASE LL-4 ZONE PROPOSED CD-753 ZONE

Permitted
Principal Uses

Retail-Service Group 1
Accessory Residential and Parking
Uses
Tourist Accommodation Use
Civic Use

Retail-Service Group 1A
Retail-Service Group 1 (restricted to 
rear tenancies not fronting East 2nd 
Street)
Accessory Residential Uses 
(permitted on the second storey and 
above)
Accessory Parking Uses

Principal
Buildings

One per lot No change to the current LL-4 base 
zone

Density
Maximum

2.6 FSR

1.0 FSR to be located below the 
third storey

3.6 FSR

Lot Coverage
Maximum

90%, reduced to 35% above the 
second Storey

92 %, reduced to 51% above the 
second storey

Height
Maximum

23.0 metres (75 feet) 23.0 metres (as per the OCP)

Page 5 of 11



REPORT: Introduction of Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. /
RH Architects, CD-753)
Date: April 27,2022 ____ ____________

I BASE LL-4 ZONE PROPOSED CD-753 ZONE
Building height will be calculated 
from the average grade of the 
northern property boundary

Siting 3.0 metres (10 feet) from a rear lot 
line or a flanking lane

Up to Level 1
0.6 metres (2.0 feet) from a rear lot 
line or a flanking lane

Level 2 to Level 7
0.6 metres (2.0 feet) from a flanking 
lane

4.8 metres (15.7 feet) from a rear lot 
line to the principal building

2.0 metres (2.0 feet) from a rear lot 
line to an unenclosed balcony

All portions of Principal Buildings 
exceeding four storeys shall be 
sited at least 24.4 metres (80 feet) 
from all portions of other Principal 
Buildings exceeding four storeys

No change to the current LL-4 base 
zone standards

Building Width 
& Length

Shall not exceed a horizontal width 
or length of 51.8 metres (170 feet) 
above the second storey and 30.5 
metres (100 feet) above third storey

No change to the current LL-4 base 
zone standards

As outlined under the Built Form & Urban Design section, staff support the proposed 
building design strategies which result in a well articulated massing that fits into the 
context and streetscape. A couple of key variances are necessary to enable the 
proposed building, as discussed below.

Lot Coverage
The application seeks a minor variation to the Lot Coverage requirements set for the LL- 
4 zone:

• Instead of ground level coverage of 90%, the application proposes a ground level 
coverage of 92%.

• Instead of an upper level massing of 35% lot coverage, the application proposes 
an upper level massing of 51%.

As stated earlier, the upper stories are contained within a compact floor plate. The 
northern width of the building from Level 2 and up is 27.3 metres (8.3 feet) (inclusive of 
the balconies, and 21.3 metres (6.4 feet) exclusive of the balconies. This is significantly 
less than the 30.5 metre (100 foot) width prescribed by the Zoning Bylaw for the LL-4 
zone.

Furthermore, the 35% lot coverage above the second level is based on the base zone’s 
density of 2.6 FSR. To ensure the full OCR FSR (i.e. 3.6 FSR) is realized within the 
permitted height envelope, there is often a need to vary the lot coverage for the upper 
levels. Nearby examples of such approvals included:

Page 6 of 11



REPORT: Introduction of Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. /
RH Architects, CD-753)
Date: April 27, 2022 

• CD-648 (117-135 West 1st Street);
• CD-716 (309-311 West 1st Street); and
• CD-729 (200 West Esplanade).

Siting Requirement
The application seeks to vary the setbacks to the rear lot line and the flanking lane.

The building has been designed with a commercial podium level, which is appropriate 
given the site’s Mixed Use Level 4A land use designation. Full lot coverage at this 
ground level is required in order to meet operational functions. Therefore, staff support 
the 0.6 metre (1.9 foot) rear and flanking lane setback, noting the upper storey massing 
is significantly pulled back from the rear lot line as well as west lot line.

Transportation, Parking and Loading

The subject site is located within proximity to Lonsdale Avenue, which is identified as a 
Rapid Transit Corridor. It is also located approximately 120 metres (393.7 feet) from the 
closest RapidBus stop, and 450 metres (1,476.4 feet) from the Lonsdale Quay SeaBus 
Terminal.

Vehicle Parking, Bicycle Parking & Loading
Parking and Loading for the site is accessed from the lane, and includes 48 parking 
spaces, and eight residential parking spaces; more than the minimum requirement of 
the Zoning Bylaw. The application also includes 55 bicycle parking spaces, which meets 
the Zoning Bylaw. Table 5 provides a summary of the car parking provided:

Table 5: Proposed Vehicle and Bicycle Parking
Car Parking Total of 48 spaces, comprised of:

• 34 Resident parking spaces (including four (4) disability spaces);

o 1.2 spaces per unit;

• Three Residential Visitor spaces (including one disability space); 
and

• 11 commercial spaces (including one disability space).

Bicycle Parking Residential:

• Secure - 42 spaces;

• Short Term - 6 spaces.
Commercial:

• Secure - 3 spaces;

• Short Term - 4 spaces.

Loading Spaces One at-grade loading bay.

Page 7 of 11



REPORT: Introduction of Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. /
RH Architects, CD-753)
Date: April 27, 2022

Loading and Servicing
The proposal has provided one off-street loading bay, which meets the Zoning Bylaw. 
This arrangement will ensure all loading, including garbage and recycling, will be 
undertaken on-site, and will therefore not impact the functionality of the road network.

Relocation of Existing Retail and Service Tenants

There are four commercial tenancies currently on the property, and all lease 
agreements are very short term or contain the provision for termination with long notice 
periods in the case of demolition for redevelopment. The applicant has advised that of 
these businesses, one is exclusively a basement storage facility for a nearby business 
which can be relocated to any manner of space that does not front the public realm.

Staff have been advised that all of the other business owners acquired their businesses 
recently and with prior notification and agreement of the applicant’s intent to redevelop 
the property. One existing business has negotiated a new lease with termination notice 
and a right to negotiate for premises in the new building. The applicant also advised that 
they have delayed making an application for a number of years out of respect for 
another existing lease, which now contains appropriate rights to redevelop with specific 
advance notice and payment.

Density Bonus and Community Benefits

The City’s Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy, in conjunction with the 
Official Community Plan, allows for density bonuses beyond 2.6 FSR in the Mixed Use 
Level 4A land use designation, up to a maximum of 3.6 FSR.

The proposed project would include community benefits valued at approximately $2.28 
million dollars, as outlined in Table 8 below.

Table 8. Estimated Value of Community Benefits through Density Bonusing
Density Value Calculation Value
Density Bonus to 2.6 FSR / OCR Density (@ $25 / sq. ft.) $ 0
Density Bonus to 3.6 FSR Max Bonus (@ $190 / sq. ft.) $2,280,190
Total Value of Community Benefits $2,280,190

The policy provides a number of community benefits options for projects seeking 
additional density and seeks to ensure the City receives value for additional density 
granted. The specific amenities and benefits included in the proposed project are 
described in Table 9 below and would be secured as conditions should Council wish to 
proceed with the proposed project.

Table 9. Community Benefits Allocation
Community Benefit Value
A. Cash Contributions

Contribution to Community Amenity Reserve Fund (80%) $ 1,824,152
Contribution to Affordable Housing Reserve Fund (20%) $456,038

Page 8 of 11



REPORT: Introduction of Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. /
RH Architects, CD-753)
Date: April 27, 2022

In addition to CAC contributions and density purchase from the City, the following items 
would be secured as conditions of this development:

• Public art with a value of $140,000 (approximately 1 % of the construction costs);
• Work to be undertaken by the applicant to upgrade of sanitary line from the 

manhole on the east side of Lonsdale Avenue to the east edge of the property 
line of the subject site; and

• Contribution towards the purchase and installation of a storm water flow monitor 
at a location identified by the City (approximately $23,500).

Legal Agreements

The following would be secured as conditions of this rezoning:

• Development Covenant;
• Servicing Agreement;
• Shoring and Crane Swing License Agreement;
• Flooding Covenant;
• Community Energy Agreement;
• Good Neighbour Agreement; and
• Off-Site Storm water Management Encroachment Agreement.

ADVISORY BODY INPUT

Advisory Design Panel

The application was reviewed by the Advisory Design Panel (ADP) on October 20, 
2021. The Panel recommended approval of the proposal subject to addressing the 
following issues to the satisfaction of staff:

• Further design development to ensure that the required residential setbacks to the 
adjacent sites to the east, west, and south are met according to City guidelines.

Revised designs were subsequently submitted that address the above concerns to the 
satisfaction of staff.

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION

A Developer’s Information Session was held on June 15, 2021 and was attended by 19 
members of the public.

A total of 29 emails were received prior to the DIS being held, 21 of which were related 
to registration, and eight emails containing questions or comments.

Following the DIS, a total of seven comment forms were submitted and six emails with 
comments were received; three indicated support for the project, one provided 
conditional support, two were opposed, and six did not specify support or opposition.

Page 9 of 11



REPORT: Introduction of Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. /
RH Architects, CD-753)
Date: April 27,2022  

The main reasons for support were:

• The green roof;
• The development revitalizing of the neighbourhood;
• The project being a good fit for the neighbourhood; and
• The large covered balconies.

The main concerns were:

• Building height and view impacts;
• Lack of family-friendly housing;
• Sustainability elements - greenhouse gas production, passive design features 

and solar panels.

A summary of the public consultation, as prepared by the applicant, is available in 
Attachment #5.

Staff response:

Building Height & View impacts
As discussed in detail under the Built Form & Urban Design section, staff support the 
proposed building design with its well considered, compact massing, which will help to 
minimize potential impacts on private views.

Family Friendly Housing
Through working with the applicant, the application has now been amended to provide 9 
units (32%) as three bedrooms units, providing more family friendly housing options.

Process When No Public Hearing Held

The recent amendment to the Local Government Act via Bill 26 has provided for a local 
government to not hold a public hearing on a Zoning Bylaw amendment application if it 
is consistent with the OCP. This replaced the former provision that allowed local 
governments to waive a public hearing. Local governments now have to make a positive 
decision to have a public hearing as opposed to deciding to waive a public hearing.

Given the proposal’s consistency with the OCP, and feedback from the public during the 
consultation period, staff recommend that no public hearing be held for this application.

Should Council wish to refer the application to a Public Hearing, the first active clause in 
the resolution should be amended to read:

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8922” (East 
Second Project Ltd. I RH Architects, 119-125 East 2nd Street, CD-753) be 
considered and referred to a Public Hearing;

Page 10 of 11



REPORT: Introduction of Rezoning Application: 119-125 East 2nd Street (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. /
RH Architects, CD-753)
Date: April 27, 2022 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

As discussed under the Density Bonus and Community Benefits section, this 
application, if approved, would generate the following monetary benefits for the city, in 
the form of a cash CAC contribution of approximately $2.28 million. These financial 
benefits are in addition to other City requirements such as DCCs and public art.

CONCLUSION

This proposal is in alignment with goals and objectives of the OCP and Council 
Strategic Plan to intensify employment generating uses, and to increase and diversify 
the residential housing stock within the Lonsdale Regional City Centre. The proposal 
will also contribute funds to support community amenities and enhancements through 
the Capital Plan process.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

Matthew Menzel
Planner 2

Page 11 of 11



Lo
ns

da
le

 A
ve

W 1st St

W 2nd St E 3rd St

E 1st St

E 2nd St
1

1
6

1
0

0

1
1

0

8 8

1
1

2

1
0

0

1
1

8

1
0

0

1
2

2

1 4 6

1 5 5

1
2

4

1 2 8

1
0

1

1 2 5

1
1

9

1 0 7

1
2

3

1 7 2

1
1

8

1 0 3

1
3

1

2 0 1

1

1
4

6

1
2

0

1
2

8

1
3

4

1 4 5

1
3

7

1 4 0

1
3

2

1
0

6

1
0

6

1
2

6

1 4 4

8 8

1
2

1

8

9 2

1
2

3

1
1

9

1 4 0

1 3 01
0

6

1
1

9

1
0

9

1
3

1

1
0

9

9 3

1
2

3

1
2

5

1
1

9

1 0 0
1 3 5

1
1

1

1
4

8

1
5

4

1
4

2

1
5

6

1
4

6

1
5

2

1
3

6
1

3
8

1
4

4

Context Map: 119-125 East 2nd Street Legal_ParcelsSubject Site

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 1�



jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 2�





































































EX. GASEX. GAS

EX
. G

AS

EX. HYDRO

EX
. H

YD
RO

EX. 300 STM @ 0.60%

EX
. 3

00
 S

TM

EX. 300 STM

EX
. 2

00
 S

AN
 @

 2
2.

17
%

EX
. 2

00
 S

AN
 @

 0
.0

0%

EX.
 200 

SA
N @ 2.43%

EX. 300 
SAN @ 0.72%EX. 300 SAN @ 2.03%

0
100

0
110

0
120

0
130

0
140

0
145

0 100

0 110

0 120

0 130

0 140

0 150

20
0 

ST
M

200 PERF STM200 PERF STM

20
0 

ST
M

0 100

0
11

0

0
12

0

0 130

LOBBY

CRU 4

CRU 2

EXIT

EXIT

VEST.

CO
RE

 +
EX

IT
 =

   
   

   
   

   
##

##
##

##
#

#########

OF
FI

CE
 A

CC
ES

S

#########

##
##

##
##

#

OFFICE 1 OFFICE 2

FFE 89.50'
FFE 89.50' (27.28M)

#########

(27.28M)

FFE 89.50' (27.28M) FFE 89.50' (27.28M)

FFE 89.50' (27.28M)

66.89 m2
42 m2

15
0 m

2

81
 m

2

#########

CRU 3

CRU 1
83.05 m2

#########

87.33 m284.63 m2

A N N U N C I A T O R P A N E L

M
AI

L 
/ 

PA
RC

EL
 B

OX
ES

2 BIKES COMMERCIAL 
USE
4 BIKES RESIDENTIAL 
USE

2 BIKES COMMERCIAL USE
2 BIKES RESIDENTIAL USE

D
N
.

C3 12x24

C1 12x30

C1 12x30

C3 12x24

C3 12x24

of #

Project:

Drawn by:

Checked by:

Date:

Scale:

Drawing Title:

Project No.:

Sheet No.:

Revisions:

no.: date: item:

Ground Level and Level 1 
Grading and Materials 
Plan

21002

RSS

SJV

Sep-10-2021

1/8" = 1' 0"

L-1.1

1 Feb-10-2021 Schematic Design

119-131 EAST 2ND ST,  
NORTH VANCOUVER	

Durante Kreuk Ltd.
102 - 1637 West 5th Avenue 
Vancouver BC V6J 1N5

t: 604 684 4611
f: 604 684 0577
www.dkl.bc.ca

N
orth

2 Oct 20-2021 Advisory Design Panel
3 Oct 22-2021 Re-submission
4 Apr 7-2022 Rezoning Application Final

S5

MATERIALS LEGEND

S1

S2

S3

PROMENADE PLANK PAVER BY UNILOCK. 
Size: 23.625" X 7.875" X 3.875". Color: Steel grey blend 

OFF-SITE. CIP Concrete paving. Natural Colour 
Light Broom Finish to City Standards 

ON-SITE. CIP Concrete paving. Natural Colour 
Light Broom Finish with control joints  

HEDGE PLANTING 
Privacy screening  
 

PLANTING 
 
 

S6
EXTENSIVE GREEN ROOF

S4

JAKOB CABLE TRELLIS BY SUPPLIED BY ARCHITEK. 
4' MODULES ALTERNATING WITH 4' GAP BETWEEN. 

F1

S7
EXTENT OF STRUCTURAL SOIL (1m Depth)

BIKE RACK (4 BIKES) - CNV STANDARD, BLACK F2

BENCH. RB-12 Backless Bench 
Victor Stanley, Steelsites RB Series 
powder coated steel (VS Black), surface mount tabs 
4' LENGTH, BLACK 

F3

F4 TREE GRATE - 1.5M CNV STANDARD 

LIGHTING LEGEND- SEE ELECTRICAL

Wall LED Light - installed in planter walls or 
mounted low on building face 
Supplier: MP Lighting.    Model: L46  

Up-Lights installed flush with grade  
Supplier: MP Lighting.    Model: L 930 BA 
 

Sconce lighting / downlights mounted on 
the building face / overhead canapy

Symbol Description

U

D

BIKE RACK (6 BIKES) - MANUFACTURED BY CORA,  
STAINLESS STEEL (MODEL W7510) 

F5

S7

S8
DRIP STRIP / RIVER ROCK)

S5

F1

S4

S5

F1

S4

S5

F1

S4

S5

F1

S4

S5

F1

S4

S3

S3

S5

S1

S1

S2

S4

F1

S5

S5

S1

S2
F4

F4

F2

F3

S3

New Street Trees with 
grates and Soil Cells 
(15 m3 / tree)

CLIMBING VINES ON GROUND LEVEL PLANTERS	

PARKING ENTRY TRELLIS

GREEN WALL AND BORDER PLANTING AT 
SLOPING LANEWAY.

Existing Street Tree. To 
be protecte during 
construction

Extent of Soil Cells 
(30 m3). See Civil

Street lights

Rain Garden to 
CNV Standard

Curb cuts to 
receive run-off 
from road

F5

Note: Ultimate boulevard and footpath 
design to be determined at the detailed 
design phase

S1

89.34' (27.23M
)

87.63' (26.71M
)

89.21' (27.19M
)

BG

89.63' (27.32M
)

89.50' (27.28M
)

BG

89.37' (27.24M
)

BG

89.47' (27.27M
)

BG

89.37' (27.24M
)

89.24' (27.20M
)

75
.33

' (
22

.96
M

)

75
.20

' (
22

.92
M

)

75
.23

' (
22

.93
M

)

75
.36

' (
22

.97
M

)

75
.49

' (
23

.01
M

)

75
.62

' (
23

.05
M

)

75
.65

' (
23

.08
M

)

75
.33

' (
22

.96
M

)

82
.94

' (
25

.28
M

)

85
.50

' (
26

.06
M

)

BG

89
.60

' (
26

.09
M

)

77
.49

' (
23

.62
M

)

BG BG BG BGIBG
IBG

IBGBG

IB
G

BG BG BGBGIB
G

IB
G

IB
G

IB
G

BG

BG

77.67' (23.67M
)

BG

PLANTING LIST

TREES

SYMBOL QTY Botanical Name Common Name Size/ Comments

11 Magnolia ‘Galaxy’ Hybrid Magnolia 7.60 cm (3”) Cal.

1 Prunus s. ‘Amanagawa’ Columnare  Cherry Tree 7.60 cm (3”) Cal.

2 Liquidambar styraciflua Sweetgum Tree 7.60 cm (3”) Cal.

Street Trees proposed to match the existing tree species on East 2nd Street.
City of North Vancouver to confirm the final species and location. 

SHRUBS / PERENNIALS / GRASSES / GROUNDCOVERS 
 
SYMBOL QTY Botanical Name Common Name Size/ Comments

A 57 Azalea 'Hino White' Hino White Azalea #2 Pot. 24" O.C.
C 43 Clematis armandii Evergreen Clematis #2 pot. staked
Cs 5 Cornus sericea Redtwig Dogwood #2 pot
Je 14 Juncus effusus Common Rush #2 pot
R 40 Rhodo. 'Wojnar's Purple' Dwarf Purple Rhodo #2 Pot. 24" O.C.
Ma 24 Mahonia aquifolium ’ Oregon Grape #2 pot
Sp 14 Salix purpurea ‘Nana’ ’ Purple Willow #2 pot
T 107 Taxus media ‘Hillii’ Hill's Yew (Male Only) 4' Ht. RB to RB

DESIGN RATIONALE

The landscape has been designed to complement the vibrant local lifestyle of Lower Lonsdale, using
high quality pavements, feature walls, site furniture and fixtures. The ground level design incorporates
vertical green by using cable trellis systems and climbing vines, at eastern and southern lane.

New street trees are proposed to match the existing street tree species. Proposed trees will safely
separate the pedestrian and vehicle movement at East 2nd Street while providing a softer streetscape
with seasonal interest. The trees are planted with 15 m3 of growing medium per tree. A rain garden
receives water from the street and is filtered through the planting.

On upper levels attention has been given to keep the waterfront views intact. Intensive and extensive
green roof, evergreen planting with flowering shrubs and opaque glass privacy screens allow for private
and amenity patios with a modern appearance.

A bird friendly plant pallet offers a mix of native, adaptive, and drought tolerant plant material.
Evergreen and deciduous shrubs, perennials, grasses and a range of Sedum species, will comprise the
majority of the plant palette. This will provide seasonal interest and a variety of habitat, and as a result
long-term and short-term ecosystem services for the residents and the community.

DRAWING LIST

L1.1 Ground Level and Level 1 Grading and Materials Plan
L1.2 Ground Level and Level 1 Planting Plan
L1.3 Level 2 Grading, Materials and Planting Plan
L1.4 Ground Level and Roof Top Lighting Plan
L1.5 Rooftop Grading, Materials and Planting Plan
L2.1 Landscape Details
L2.2 Landscape Details

2

4.
06

2.
50

2.
15

1.
80

1.
68

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 3 �



EX. GASEX. GAS

EX
. G

AS

EX. HYDRO

EX
. H

YD
RO

EX. 300 STM @ 0.60%

EX
. 3

00
 S

TM

EX. 300 STM

EX
. 2

00
 S

AN
 @

 2
2.

17
%

EX
. 2

00
 S

AN
 @

 0
.0

0%

EX.
 200 

SA
N @ 2.43%

EX. 300 
SAN @ 0.72%EX. 300 SAN @ 2.03%

0
100

0
110

0
120

0
130

0
140

0
145

0 100

0 110

0 120

0 130

0 140

0 150

20
0 

ST
M

200 PERF STM200 PERF STM

20
0 

ST
M

0 100

0
11

0

0
12

0

0 130

LOBBY

CRU 4

CRU 2

EXIT

EXIT

VEST.

CO
RE

 +
EX

IT
 =

   
   

   
   

   
##

##
##

##
#

#########

OF
FI

CE
 A

CC
ES

S

#########

##
##

##
##

#

OFFICE 1 OFFICE 2

FFE 89.50'
FFE 89.50' (27.28M)

#########

(27.28M)

FFE 89.50' (27.28M) FFE 89.50' (27.28M)

FFE 89.50' (27.28M)

66.89 m2
42 m2

15
0 m

2

81
 m

2

#########

CRU 3

CRU 1
83.05 m2

#########

87.33 m284.63 m2

A N N U N C I A T O R P A N E L

M
AI

L 
/ 

PA
RC

EL
 B

OX
ES

2 BIKES COMMERCIAL 
USE
4 BIKES RESIDENTIAL 
USE

2 BIKES COMMERCIAL USE
2 BIKES RESIDENTIAL USE

D
N
.

C3 12x24

C1 12x30

C1 12x30

C3 12x24

C3 12x24

of #

Project:

Drawn by:

Checked by:

Date:

Scale:

Drawing Title:

Project No.:

Sheet No.:

Revisions:

no.: date: item:

Ground Level and Level 1 
Grading and Materials 
Plan

21002

RSS

SJV

Sep-10-2021

1/8" = 1' 0"

L-1.1

1 Feb-10-2021 Schematic Design

119-131 EAST 2ND ST,  
NORTH VANCOUVER	

Durante Kreuk Ltd.
102 - 1637 West 5th Avenue 
Vancouver BC V6J 1N5

t: 604 684 4611
f: 604 684 0577
www.dkl.bc.ca

N
orth

2 Oct 20-2021 Advisory Design Panel
3 Oct 22-2021 Re-submission
4 Apr 7-2022 Rezoning Application Final

S5

MATERIALS LEGEND

S1

S2

S3

PROMENADE PLANK PAVER BY UNILOCK. 
Size: 23.625" X 7.875" X 3.875". Color: Steel grey blend 

OFF-SITE. CIP Concrete paving. Natural Colour 
Light Broom Finish to City Standards 

ON-SITE. CIP Concrete paving. Natural Colour 
Light Broom Finish with control joints  

HEDGE PLANTING 
Privacy screening  
 

PLANTING 
 
 

S6
EXTENSIVE GREEN ROOF

S4

JAKOB CABLE TRELLIS BY SUPPLIED BY ARCHITEK. 
4' MODULES ALTERNATING WITH 4' GAP BETWEEN. 

F1

S7
EXTENT OF STRUCTURAL SOIL (1m Depth)

BIKE RACK (4 BIKES) - CNV STANDARD, BLACK F2

BENCH. RB-12 Backless Bench 
Victor Stanley, Steelsites RB Series 
powder coated steel (VS Black), surface mount tabs 
4' LENGTH, BLACK 

F3

F4 TREE GRATE - 1.5M CNV STANDARD 

LIGHTING LEGEND- SEE ELECTRICAL

Wall LED Light - installed in planter walls or 
mounted low on building face 
Supplier: MP Lighting.    Model: L46  

Up-Lights installed flush with grade  
Supplier: MP Lighting.    Model: L 930 BA 
 

Sconce lighting / downlights mounted on 
the building face / overhead canapy

Symbol Description

U

D

BIKE RACK (6 BIKES) - MANUFACTURED BY CORA,  
STAINLESS STEEL (MODEL W7510) 

F5

S7

S8
DRIP STRIP / RIVER ROCK)

S5

F1

S4

S5

F1

S4

S5

F1

S4

S5

F1

S4

S5

F1

S4

S3

S3

S5

S1

S1

S2

S4

F1

S5

S5

S1

S2
F4

F4

F2

F3

S3

New Street Trees with 
grates and Soil Cells 
(15 m3 / tree)

CLIMBING VINES ON GROUND LEVEL PLANTERS	

PARKING ENTRY TRELLIS

GREEN WALL AND BORDER PLANTING AT 
SLOPING LANEWAY.

Existing Street Tree. To 
be protecte during 
construction

Extent of Soil Cells 
(30 m3). See Civil

Street lights

Rain Garden to 
CNV Standard

Curb cuts to 
receive run-off 
from road

F5

Note: Ultimate boulevard and footpath 
design to be determined at the detailed 
design phase

S1

89.34' (27.23M
)

87.63' (26.71M
)

89.21' (27.19M
)

BG

89.63' (27.32M
)

89.50' (27.28M
)

BG

89.37' (27.24M
)

BG

89.47' (27.27M
)

BG

89.37' (27.24M
)

89.24' (27.20M
)

75
.33

' (
22

.96
M

)

75
.20

' (
22

.92
M

)

75
.23

' (
22

.93
M

)

75
.36

' (
22

.97
M

)

75
.49

' (
23

.01
M

)

75
.62

' (
23

.05
M

)

75
.65

' (
23

.08
M

)

75
.33

' (
22

.96
M

)

82
.94

' (
25

.28
M

)

85
.50

' (
26

.06
M

)

BG

89
.60

' (
26

.09
M

)

77
.49

' (
23

.62
M

)

BG BG BG BGIBG
IBG

IBGBG

IB
G

BG BG BGBGIB
G

IB
G

IB
G

IB
G

BG

BG

77.67' (23.67M
)

BG

C

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

C
C

Ground Level and Level 1 
Planting Plan 

L-1.2

T
T
T

T
T

C

C
C

C

C
C

C

C
C

C

C
C

C

C
C

C C C C C C C C C C C C C

Sp

je
Ma

Sp Sp Sp

Ma

Ma

Ma
Ma

Ma
Ma Ma Ma Ma

Ma
Ma

Ma
Ma

Ma
Ma

je
je
je
je

je je je

Sp
SpCs

Cs
Cs

Cs
Cs

Sp
Sp

Sp Sp

je je je jeje

Ma Ma
Ma

SpSpSpSp

Ma

Ma

Ma

Ma

Ma

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A



LOBBY

CRU 4

CRU 2

EXIT

EXIT

VEST.

CO
RE

 +
EX

IT
 =

   
   

   
   

   
##

##
##

##
#

#########

OF
FI

CE
 A

CC
ES

S

#########

##
##

##
##

#

OFFICE 1 OFFICE 2

FFE 89.50'
FFE 89.50' (27.28M)

#########

(27.28M)

FFE 89.50' (27.28M) FFE 89.50' (27.28M)

FFE 89.50' (27.28M)

66.89 m2
42 m2

15
0 m

2

81
 m

2

#########

CRU 3

CRU 1
83.05 m2

#########

87.33 m284.63 m2

A N N U N C I A T O R P A N E L

M
AI

L 
/ 

PA
RC

EL
 B

OX
ES

2 BIKES COMMERCIAL 
USE
4 BIKES RESIDENTIAL 
USE

2 BIKES COMMERCIAL USE
2 BIKES RESIDENTIAL USE

D
N
.

C3 12x24

C1 12x30

C1 12x30

C3 12x24

C3 12x24

of #

Project:

Drawn by:

Checked by:

Date:

Scale:

Drawing Title:

Project No.:

Sheet No.:

Revisions:

no.: date: item:

Ground Level and Level 1 
Grading and Materials 
Plan

21002

RSS

SJV

Sep-10-2021

1/8" = 1' 0"

L-1.1

1 Feb-10-2021 Schematic Design

119-131 EAST 2ND ST,  
NORTH VANCOUVER	

Durante Kreuk Ltd.
102 - 1637 West 5th Avenue 
Vancouver BC V6J 1N5

t: 604 684 4611
f: 604 684 0577
www.dkl.bc.ca

N
orth

2 Oct 20-2021 Advisory Design Panel
3 Oct 22-2021 Re-submission
4 Apr 7-2022 Rezoning Application Final

S5

MATERIALS LEGEND

S1

S2

S3

PROMENADE PLANK PAVER BY UNILOCK. 
Size: 23.625" X 7.875" X 3.875". Color: Steel grey blend 

OFF-SITE. CIP Concrete paving. Natural Colour 
Light Broom Finish to City Standards 

ON-SITE. CIP Concrete paving. Natural Colour 
Light Broom Finish with control joints  

HEDGE PLANTING 
Privacy screening  
 

PLANTING 
 
 

S6
EXTENSIVE GREEN ROOF

S4

JAKOB CABLE TRELLIS BY SUPPLIED BY ARCHITEK. 
4' MODULES ALTERNATING WITH 4' GAP BETWEEN. 

F1

S7
EXTENT OF STRUCTURAL SOIL (1m Depth)

BIKE RACK (4 BIKES) - CNV STANDARD, BLACK F2

BENCH. RB-12 Backless Bench 
Victor Stanley, Steelsites RB Series 
powder coated steel (VS Black), surface mount tabs 
4' LENGTH, BLACK 

F3

F4 TREE GRATE - 1.5M CNV STANDARD 

LIGHTING LEGEND- SEE ELECTRICAL

Wall LED Light - installed in planter walls or 
mounted low on building face 
Supplier: MP Lighting.    Model: L46  

Up-Lights installed flush with grade  
Supplier: MP Lighting.    Model: L 930 BA 
 

Sconce lighting / downlights mounted on 
the building face / overhead canapy

Symbol Description

U

D

BIKE RACK (6 BIKES) - MANUFACTURED BY CORA,  
STAINLESS STEEL (MODEL W7510) 

F5

S7

S8
DRIP STRIP / RIVER ROCK)

DN16R

STAIR STAIR

EL
EV

AT
OR

 O
VE

RR
UN

GREEN ROOF
EXTENSIVE GREEN ROOF

S1 S1

S6

S5

S5

S4

U

U

U

U

D
DDD D DDD D

D

D D D

D D D D

Ground Level and Roof 
top Lighting Plan 

L-1.3

D D

D D

D D

D

D



of #

Project:

Drawn by:

Checked by:

Date:

Scale:

Drawing Title:

Project No.:

Sheet No.:

Revisions:

no.: date: item:

Level 2 Grading, Materials 
and Planting Plan

21002

RSS

SJV

Sep-10-2021

1/8" = 1' 0"

L1.4

1 Feb-10-2021 Schematic Design

119-131 EAST 2ND ST,  
NORTH VANCOUVER	

Durante Kreuk Ltd.
102 - 1637 West 5th Avenue 
Vancouver BC V6J 1N5

t: 604 684 4611
f: 604 684 0577
www.dkl.bc.ca

N
orth

2 Oct 20-2021 Advisory Design Panel
3 Oct 22-2021 Re-submission
4 Apr 7-2022 Rezoning Application Final

Lane

K-19029-8 ESCALE LAVATORY VITREOUS CHINA

Q

K-19029-8 ESCALE LAVATORY VITREOUS CHINA

K-19029-8 ESCALE LAVATORY VITREOUS CHINA

K-19029-8 ESCALE LAVATORY VITREOUS CHINA

D

K

D

Q

C3 12x24

C3
 12

x2
4

C2 14x30

K-19029-8 ESCALE LAVATORY VITREOUS CHINA

D

K

C2 14x30

C3 12x24

C1 12x30

C1 12x30

C2 14x30

C6 12x18

C1 12x30

K-19029-8ESCALELAVATORYVITREOUS CHINA

K-19029-8ESCALELAVATORYVITREOUS CHINA

K-19029-8ESCALELAVATORYVITREOUS CHINA

K-19029-8ESCALELAVATORYVITREOUS CHINA

C3 12x24

562.47 SF

A

 C = 1165.81 SF

B2

C3 12x24

719.71 SF

C1 = 1500.30 SF

AMENITY
1068.36 SF

C3 12x24

834.63 SF

OPE
N TO

 BE
LO

W

CORE = 
77.54 m2

AMENITY
205

1068 SF (99.2 M2)

A
203

1 BEDROOM 
563 SF (52.30 M2) 

C1
201

3 BEDROOM 
1501 SF (139.45 M2)

B
204

2 BEDROOM
720 SF (66.89 M2) 

C
202

2 BEDROOM + DEN 
1166 SF (108.32 M2)

PRIVACY SCREEN

PRIVACY SCREEN

PRIVACY SCREEN

UP16R
DN16R

UP16R
DN16R

UP16R

DN16R

DN16RUP16R

UP
16RDN

16R

DN16RUP16R

UP
16RDN

16R

DN16RUP16R

UP
16RDN

16R

DN16RUP16R

UP
16RDN

16R

DN16RUP16R

UP
16RDN

16R

DN16RUP16R

UP
16RDN

16R

DN16R

UP16R

OPEN TO BELOW

SMALL MULTISTEM TREE 
MAGNOLIA GALAXY

EAST 2ND STREET

L A N E 

L 
A

 N
 E

 

METAL PLANTER

MOVEABLE FURNITURE

PRECEDENT IMAGES

METAL PLANTERS

OPAQUE GLASS PRIVACY SCREENS BETWEEN UNIT PATIOS 
 

MAGNOLIA BUTTERFLIES

S1

S1

S1

S1S1

S5 S1

S1

T

A A A A A

A

A

A R

T T T T T

A

A

A

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

T

T TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT



of #

Project:

Drawn by:

Checked by:

Date:

Scale:

Drawing Title:

Project No.:

Sheet No.:

Revisions:

no.: date: item:

Rooftop Landscape 
Plan

21002

RSS

SJV

1/8" = 1' 0"

L-4

1 Feb-10-2021 Schematic Design

119-131 EAST 2ND ST,  
NORTH VANCOUVER	

Durante Kreuk Ltd.
102 - 1637 West 5th Avenue 
Vancouver BC V6J 1N5

t: 604 684 4611
f: 604 684 0577
www.dkl.bc.ca

N
orth

2 Oct 20-2021 Advisory Design Panel

Sep-09-2021

3 Oct 22-2021 Re-submission
4 Apr 7-2022 Rezoning Application Final

PRECEDENT IMAGES

METAL PLANTERS

OPAQUE GLASS PRIVACY SCREENS BETWEEN UNIT PATIOS 

EXTENSIVE GREEN ROOF

MAGNOLIA BUTTERFLIES 

EAST 2ND STREET

L A N E 

L 
A

 N
 E

 

 
Small multistem trees and evergreen shrub planting 

Roof Terrace

BBQ

BBQ

Roof Terrace

Privacy Screen (6' height)

Guardrialing. Refer to 
Architectural drawings

EXTENSIVE GREEN ROOF

Rooftop Rooftop Grading,  
Materials and Planting Plan 

L1.5

TT

T T T T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T T T

T
T
T

T T T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

R

R

R

R

R R

R R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

AA

A

A

A

A

A

AAA

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

R

R

R

R

R

R

AAA
R

S1 S1

S6

S5

S5

S4

S8

D D

D D

D D



of #

Project:

Drawn by:

Checked by:

Date:

Scale:

Drawing Title:

Project No.:

Sheet No.:

Revisions:

no.: date: item:

Landscape Details

21002

RSS

SJV

Sep-10-2021

1/8" = 1' 0"

1 Feb-10-2021 Schematic Design

119-131 EAST 2ND ST,  
NORTH VANCOUVER	

Durante Kreuk Ltd.
102 - 1637 West 5th Avenue 
Vancouver BC V6J 1N5

t: 604 684 4611
f: 604 684 0577
www.dkl.bc.ca

2 Oct 20-2021 Advisory Design Panel
3 Oct 22-2021 Re-submission
4 Apr 7-2022 Rezoning Application Final

2
L1.1

CIP CONCRETE - ON SLAB AND GRADE (PEDESTRIAN AREAS ONLY)

SCALE = 1:12 (1"=1' 0")

   

102mm

CIP Concrete slab with  
25mm (1") deep sawcut control joints (CJ) and  
Stainless steel expansion joints (EJ) on  
Minimum 102mm (4") Compacted Base Material on 
Filter Cloth on 
Drain mat on 
ARCHITECTURAL BUILDUP

Slope to Drain

min  102mm

CJ EJ 10
2m

m

CIP Concrete slab with  
25mm (1") deep sawcut control joints (CJ) and  
Stainless steel expansion joints (EJ) on  
Minimum 102mm (4") Compacted Base Material on 
Filter Cloth on 
Compacted Subgrade to 85% MPD maximum

Slope to Drain

m
in

 1
02

m
m

CJ EJ

All Work Below and  including Rigid Insulation to be
specified by Architect and Envelope Consultants

3
L1.1-4

PROMENADE PLANK PAVER - ON SLAB AND GRADE (PEDESTRIAN AREAS ONLY)

SCALE = 1:12 (1"=1' 0")

M
IN

  2
5m

m

Paving planks on  
Minimum 25mm (1") Sand laying bed on 
Filter Cloth on 
Minimum 76mm (3") Bird's Eye Gravel on 
ARCHITECTURAL BUILDUP

102mm

Slope to Drain

   All Work Below and  including Rigid Insulation to be
specified by Architect and Envelope Consultants

Paving planks on  
Minimum 25mm (1") Sand laying bed on 
Filter Cloth on 
Minimum 76mm (3") Bird's Eye Gravel on 
ARCHITECTURAL BUILDUP

Slope to Drain

M
IN

  2
5m

m
m

in
 1

02
m

m

1
L1.1

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER STANDARD DETAILS

SCALE = 1:12 (1"=1' 0")

��
��
O
�/
+0

#
$
1
8
'
�)
4
#
&
'

D
R

IP
LI

N
E 

=
O

U
TE

R
 E

D
G

E 
O

F 
C

AN
O

PY

DBH (TRUNK DIAMETER TAKEN
1.4m ABOVE EXISTING GRADE)

FINISHED GRADE

EMBED POSTS 450mm MIN INTO
GROUND

TREE PROTECTION SIGN

ORANGE PLASTIC SNOW FENCING
SECURELY FASTENED TO WOODEN FRAME

50mm X 100mm WOODEN FRAME WITH
CROSS BRACES TO DIMENSIONS SHOWN
VERTICLE MEMBERS TO BE MIN 1.0 m O.C.

2416'%6+10�$#44+'4

':+56+0)�64''�%'06'4'&�9+6*+0
$#44+'4

IN BOULEVARD SEE TABLE

FOR STREETSCAPE SETTING
DEPTH = INSIDE OF CURB OR PROPERTY

LINE TO SIDEWALK EDGE

.'0)6*

&
'
2
6
*

64''�2416'%6+10�#4'#

&1�016�4'/18'�14�4'.1%#6'
('0%+0)�&74+0)�%105647%6+10

01�/#6'4+#.�14�'37+2/'06�61�$'
5614'&�9+6*+0�2416'%6'&�#4'#

TITLE: ALL CAPS, ARIAL,
BOLD, 125PT BLACK

BODY: ALL CAPS, ARIAL,
REGULAR, 47 PT, BLACK

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER
TREE PROTECTION DETAIL

(N.T.S.)

DRAWN:
CHECKED: APPROVED:

DATE: DWG.No.
 T1S

JN

CB

APRIL, 2019

CB

METRIC

BARRIER DIMENSIONS
* LENGTH AND DEPTH  = TRUNK FACE TO DRIP

LINE OR DIMENSIONS IN TABLE BELOW -
WHICHEVER IS GREATER

6470-�&+#/'6'4

&$*�

&+56#0%'�(41/
6470-�(#%'�61�+05+&'

1(�$#44+'4�
/+0��

����EO ����O

��Ä���EO ����O

��Ä���EO ����O

��Ä���EO ����O

��Ä���EO ����O

��Ä���EO ����O

��Ä���EO ����O

��Ä���EO ����O

��Ä����EO ����O

016'5�
���64''�61�$'�%'06'4'&�9+6*+0�64''�2416'%6+10�$#44+'4�
�� %.#&&+0)�61�$'�14#0)'�2.#56+%�5019�('0%+0)�/1706'&�61�911&�(4#/'�14�#22418'&�'37#.�
�� ('0%+0)�.#;176�61�$'�#22418'&�$;�.#0&5%#2'�#4%*+6'%6�24+14�61�%105647%6+10�
�� ('0%+0)�61�$'�%105647%6'&�10�#..�5+&'5�1(�2416'%6'&�64''5�
�� %1064#%614�61�%106#%6�%08�#4$14+56�61�2'4(14/�#0;�0'%'55#4;�.+/$�14�4116�2470+0)�PRIOR�61�%1//'0%'/'06�1(

%105647%6+10�
%106#%6�6*4''�
���&#;5�+0�#&8#0%'��
�� &1�016�2#4-�8'*+%.'5��5614'�'37+2/'06�14�/#6'4+#.5�9+6*+0�&4+2.+0'�1(�6*'�64''�14�+05+&'�64''�2416'%6+10�#4'#�
�� /#+06#+0�':+56+0)�)4#&'5�#6�2416'%6+10�$#44+'4��4')4#&+0)�1765+&'�6*'�$#44+'4�5*17.&�016�%1/241/+5'�64''�*'#.6*�
�� %1064#%614�4'52105+$.'�(14�/#+06'0#0%'�1(�64''�2416'%6+10�$#44+'4�706+.�241,'%6�%1/2.'6+10�
�� &#/#)'&�64''5��+0%.7&+0)�6*15'�#&8'45'.;�#(('%6'&�$;�%1/2#%6+10�+0�2416'%6+10�#4'#��61�$'�4'2.#%'&�#6�%1064#%614�5
':2'05'�

4
L1.3&4

TREE AND SHRUB PLANTING  ON SLAB IN METAL PLANTERS

SCALE = 1:12 (1"=1' 0")

Provide drain access with 203mm (8") ø PVC 
Pipe C/W PVC drain cap Set drain pipe 
onto slab drainage and cut grooves into 
bottom of pipe to ensure free flow at 
waterproofing level. Cut down to 51mm (2") 
below mulch. Paint cap black. 

FULLY COMPACT 
BELOW ROOTBALL

Slab Drain. Refer To Mech

51mm (2") Well Composted Mulch on  
Minimum 864mm (18")  
Type III Growing Medium on  
Filter Cloth on 
19mm (3/4") rounded drain rock on 
Metal Planter on 
Levelling shims on pavers buildup 
on architectural buildup on 
Architectural Slab 	

provide levelling shims 
to balance and allow 
for drainage

Extend Filtercloth and root barrier up sides of 
Planter and PVC Access pipes min. 152mm (6") 
past bottom of soil.  Tape in place with Tuck 
Tape.

Ensure mulch and soil level are held 
back to expose root crown

Berm up soil in area of trees.  
ONLY FOR DRAINAGE AND SETTLEMENT

Cut and remove top 1/3rd  of burlap 
and fold wire basket down

M
IN

  8
64

m
m

51
m

m

METAL PLANTER NOTES:

1. Provide Shop Drawings prior to 
manufacturing.
2.  All Welds Continuous And Ground 
Smooth
3.  All Surfaces To Be Powdercoated To 
Match Architectural Trim With All Welded 
Connections Made Prior To Powdercoat 
Application.
4.  Confirm All Dimensions On Site And 
Adjust As Required To Maintain Design 
Intent.
5. (4) 1/2" Drain holes to be provided in 
bottom prior to powdercoat being 
applied. 

GENERAL TREE PLANTING NOTES: 

1. Do not cut Tree Leader.
2. Protect tree from damage during 
planting.  Ensure rootball protected 
from Sun, Frost or Desiccation.
3. Ensure tree location does not 
conflict with Underground Services.  
"Call before digging".

Tamper proof fastening hardware
as suppl ied by manufacturer .
Hardware to be long enough to
securely fasten into concrete base.

Bike Rack Model (CNV 
Standard)

Concrete. Refer to detail 02

5
L1.1

BIKE RACK MOUNTING ON SLAB/GRADE

SCALE = 1:12 (1"=1' 0")

Compacted Subgrade

3/4" Minus Compacted Base

m
in

  4
57

m
m

7
L1.1

SHRUB PLANTING - ON GRADE

SCALE = 1:12 (1"=1' 0")

51mm (2") Well Composted Mulch on  
Minimum 457mm (18") Type III Growing 
Medium on 
Compacted Subgrade to 85% MPD 
maximum

Slope to Drain

 
Ensure Shrubs and Groundcover 
Plants are not burued by Mulch 

51
m

m

8"

19mm clear crush 
(drain rock) 

51mm x 150mm on edge

Pressure treated stake

102mm of 25-51mmØ 
Decorative River Rock

Bu
ild

in
g

 Fa
c

e

6
L1.1

DRAIN STRIP AT BUILDING FACE

SCALE = 1:12 (1"=1' 0")

L-2.1



of #

Project:

Drawn by:

Checked by:

Date:

Scale:

Drawing Title:

Project No.:

Sheet No.:

Revisions:

no.: date: item:

Landscape Details

21002

RSS

SJV

Sep-10-2021

1/8" = 1' 0"

1 Feb-10-2021 Schematic Design

119-131 EAST 2ND ST,  
NORTH VANCOUVER	

Durante Kreuk Ltd.
102 - 1637 West 5th Avenue 
Vancouver BC V6J 1N5

t: 604 684 4611
f: 604 684 0577
www.dkl.bc.ca

2 Oct 20-2021 Advisory Design Panel
3 Oct 22-2021 Re-submission
4 Apr 7-2022 Rezoning Application Final

14
45

m
m

50

200mm

Tree grate by Dobney Foundry 
Ltd. SP-60. see detail Ld-1.

10
0

100mm aggregate sub base, compacted to 95% or by 3 passes with plate 
compactor, whichever is greater. Connect to storm drain for positive drainage

Subgrade below geotextile and aggregate base course, compacted 
to 95% or by 3 passes with plate compactor, whichever is greater 

Planting soil, tamped to max. 85% compaction below root package

Provide inspection riser

100mm concrete, turn down to 
deck around tree opening

Curb and street per project specifications

Tree root package, size varies

Angle of repose, varies per 
project specifications

2 - continuous 10 m rebar 
around grate thickening

10m rebar, 300 o/c around grate openings

Geotextile on compacted subgrade. NOTE that geotextile is not 
required if determined by qualified professional. See specifications.

100mm aggregate base course

5'

8'

DeepRoot UB18-2 Root barrier

Galvanized angle support to support tree grate

25-75mm

14
45

m
m

50
10

0

100mm aggregate sub base, compacted to 95% or by 3 passes with plate 
compactor, whichever is greater. Connect to storm drain for positive drainage

Subgrade below geotextile and aggregate base course, compacted to 95%  
or by 3 passes with plate compactor, whichever is greater 

Planting soil per manufactures specifications, installed in 200mm lifts (2 lifts per cell). 
Minimum of 15 cu.m. per tree

100mm concrete, turn down to deck around tree opening

Curb and street per project specifications

150mm 150mm

Geotextile on compacted subgrade. NOTE that geotextile is not 
required if determined by qualified professional. See specifications.

Base slope to max. 5%

Anchor eachCell to ground with (4) 250mm spike, 
<10mm dia., see Cell base for spike hole

Backfill, installed in 200mm max. lifts (2 lifts per cell), 
compacted to 95%

5mm x 350mm zip ties, attaching Geogrid  
to Cells at each level and at Cell deck

Geogrid. 'J' 150mm minimum below backfill at base.  
Overlap 300mm minimum at top of Cells.

Screw Cell decks to frames after snapping in place (typ.)

100mm aggregate base course

Geotextile, 450mm minimum overlap past excavation

75mm compost between Soil Cell deck and planting 
soil, or 25mm air space

6'

Ld - 01
L-1.1

Soil Cells at tree pit and hardsurface area - Typical Condition. Refer to Civil Drawings
NTS

L-2.2

200mm diameter perforated pipe for SMP. Refer to Civil Drawings
200mm diameter perforated pipe for SMP. Refer to Civil Drawings



 
 
 

Document Number: 2108981-v1 

October 25, 2021 
 
Alex Wren, Development Manager 
Staburn Group 
200-111 Lonsdale Avenue 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 2E7 
 
Dear Mr. Wren: 
 
Re: 119-125 East 2nd Street (Rezoning Application) 
 
This will confirm that at their meeting on October 20, 2021 the Advisory Design Panel 
reviewed the above application and endorsed the following resolution: 

 
“THAT the Advisory Design Panel has reviewed the Rezoning Application for 
119-125 East 2nd Street and recommends approval of the project subject to 
addressing the following issue to the satisfaction of the Development Planner: 
 

 Further design development to ensure that the required residential 
setbacks to the adjacent sites to the east, west, and south are met 
according to City guidelines; 

 
AND THAT the Panel wishes to commend the applicant for their presentation.” 

 
The recommendations of the Advisory Design Panel pertain only to site-specific design 
and site planning considerations and do not, in any way, represent Council and staff 
approval or rejection of this project. 

 
Yours truly, 
 

 
T. Huckell 
Committee Clerk-Secretary 
 
Cc: M. Menzel, Planner 2, Planning and Development 
 K. Graham, Corporate Officer, City Clerk’s Department 
 B. Rositch, Principal, RH Architects 
 S. Vincent, Principal, Durante Kreuk Landscape Architecture 
 

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 4�



 

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 5�



•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•





•
•
•



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8922 Document: 2158846-v2 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8922 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8922” (East Second Lonsdale Project Ltd. / RH 
Architects, 119-125 East 2nd Street, CD-753). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-753 (Comprehensive Development 753 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 6 & 7 155 274 878 from LL-4 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-752 
Comprehensive Development 752 Zone”: 

 
“CD-753 Comprehensive Development 753 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-752 Comprehensive 

Development 752 Zone”: 
 

“CD-753 Comprehensive Development 753 Zone” 
 

In the CD-753 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the LL-4 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) The permitted Principal Use on the Lot shall be limited to: 
 

(a) Retail Service Group 1A Use; 
(b) Retail Service Group 1 Use, restricted to rear tenancies not fronting East 

2nd Street;  
(b) Accessory Apartment Use subject to Section 6A02(1) of this Bylaw, except 

that an Accessory Apartment Use shall be permitted on the second storey 
and above; 

(c) Accessory Home Occupation Use, subject to Section 507(6); 
(d) Accessory Home Office Use, subject to Section 507(6); 
(e) Child Care Use, subject to Section 607(9); 
(f) Accessory Off-Street Loading Use; 
(g) Accessory Off-Street Parking Use; 
(h) Off-Site Parking Use.  

jpeters
FreeText
Attachment 6�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8922 Document: 2158846-v2 

(2) Gross Floor Area 
 
(a) The maximum Gross Floor Area is 2.6 FSR;  
(b) Not withstanding (2)(a) the Gross Floor Area may be increased as follows: 

 
ADDITIONAL (BONUS) DENSITY 

ADDITIONAL 
DENSTIY 
CATEGORY  

DESCRIPTION ADDITIONAL 
DENSITY 
(BONUS) 

POLICY 
REFERENCE  

Community 
Benefit Cash 
Contribution 

Provision of a 
Community 
Benefit Cash 
Contribution of 
$2,280,190 for 
an increase of 
1.0 FSR to a 
maximum of 3.6 
FSR 

Maximum  
 
1,115 sq. m. 
(12,001 sq. ft.)  

As per OCP 
Policy Section 
2.2.1 

 
Such that the total effective on-site Gross Floor Area is not to exceed 3.6 FSR. 

 
(3) A minimum of nine units shall have 3 bedrooms; 
 
(4) Section 6A04(3) shall be varied to permit the maximum Lot Coverage to not 

exceed 92% at the ground level, and 51% at the second floor and above;    
 

(5) Building Height: 
 

(a) The Principal Building shall not exceed a Building Height of 23 metres (75.5 
feet) as measured from the average Building Grade at the North property 
line along East 2nd Street; 
 

(b) Elevator overruns, mechanical penthouses, fire egress stairs, balustrading 
and landscaping may project beyond the defined height in (a) by a 
maximum of 3.2 metres (10.5 feet) including elevator shafts and 
mechanical rooms; 

 
(6) Section 6A04(5) shall be varied to allow the Principal Building to be sited:  
 

(a) Not less than 0.6 meters from a Rear Lot Line or Flanking Lane at the 
ground level;  

 
(b) Not less than 0.6 meters from a Flanking Lane at the second level and 

above;  
 
(c) Not less than 4.8 meters from Rear Lot Line to the wall, at the second level 

and above;  
 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8922 Document: 2158846-v2 

(d) Not less than 1.9 meters from Rear Lot Line to an unenclosed balcony, at 
the second level and above. 

 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICE 


	1 Agenda�
	2 Minutes�
	Proclamations
	Neighbourhood House Week�
	Mental Health Week�

	*3 Bylaw 8748
	*4 Bylaw 8919
	*5 E-Comm Board Appointment
	*5-1 Letter from E-Comm Mar 25 2022
	*5-2 Email from Richard Walton Apr 5 2022

	6 2021 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements�
	6-1 Consolidated Financial Statements Dec 31 2021�

	7 2021 Bylaw Services Overview�
	8 CleanBC Rebate Contribution�
	8-1 Agreement�

	9 818-858 West 15th Street�
	9-1 Map�
	9-2 Land Use Contract July 25 1978�
	9-3 Architectural Plans
	9-4 Landscape Plans
	9-5 ADP Resolution�
	9-6 ITC Resolution�
	9-7 Consultation�
	9-8 Bylaw 8925�
	9-9 Bylaw 8896�

	10 Bylaw 8925�
	11 119-125 East 2nd Street�
	11-1 Map�
	11-2 Architectural Plans
	11-3 Landscape Plans
	11-4 ADP Resolution�
	11-5 Consultation�
	11-6 Bylaw 8922�




